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dissuading a witness or victim from reporting a crime or
commencing prosecution.

I looked into those matters further. Reviewed case
law. I will be candid I also rewviewed anvthing I could
gett my hands on, which was inclusive of some unpublished
decision. Again, we know that counsel is under direction
from our Supreme Court not to ¢ite to or rely on

unpublished degisions. And this court as well takes that

admonishment sericusly.

However, to the extent we can gather some guidance
from review of everything that has gone before on these
matters that could be informative, I'll be candid, I
loocked at everything. |

As far as the issue with regard to the removal of the
life support, I cannot find cases that specifically
address whether that is considered exculpatory evidence
that required disclosure. But I do have cases that
indicate the removal of life support itself does not
relieve the criminal defendant of the causal liability for
the alleged murder.

In these circumstances, 1if that is not going relieve
the Defendant of the causal liability for the murder, even
if it was favorable, I do nct belive that it falls into
the category of the probability -- reasoconable probability

of the results being different if this information had .
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been disclosed. It does not explain away the charges.

And it does appear though -- the fact she was on life
support in order for her organs to be harvested made to
the grand jury, it wouldn't seem to make the difference
that the State did not give the grand jury that
information. Specifically in the language the defense was
asking fof it. So the Court is not persuaded that this is
a basis upon which relief should be granted.

The Court does believe that the Defendant has been on
notice, and that the language was necessary to the State's
case.

And with regard to the vacuum, the circumstances of
the weakness of the chain of custody, again, I do not find
that there is that weakness in the chain of custody.

The only c¢ther argument -- I do find alse that the
State did present at least slight or marginal evidence for
probable cause determination to be made.

I think the only issue where the Court has a concern
was the introduction of the evidence of the alleged prior
bad acts, or what would be constituting prior bad acts.
There is some case law that gives us guidance that in
those circumstances, even if the State had introduced what
could be admissible bad acts evidence, as long as there
was sufficient evidence to support the grand jury's

finding of probable cause, 1t would be likely to still
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have the same outcome. And I believe that that is the
appropriate circumstance to find here. That the slight or
marginal evidence was shown, even without the alleged
improper bad act eVidence, that it's sufficient to gupport
the grand jury's finding of probable cause.

So I'm not persuaded ultimately by the argumaents made
in the original petition that those were sufficient to
warrant relief, and on those bases T am denying the
petition.

Cbvicusly, the much more difficult determination to
make was with regard to the addendun and whether or not
the existence of this Moyamoya disease would explain away
the charges and then ultimately whether the relief was
appropriate to be granted.

I do find that the fact that the victim may have
suffered from the Moyamoya disease would tend to explain
away the charges. And it could account for why the
alleged victim had brain hemorrhaging, that was
essentially reported by the doctors to be apparently 2 to
5 days old when the incident occurred prior to that time
frame. |

However, if you look at the statute, the statute
clearly indicates that the State needed to provide
evidence of which it is aware, that is exculpatory. Aand

they are required to present that to the grand jury.

336



10

11

iz

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

in this particular case the medical records showing
the potential of the suffering of the victim of the
Moyamoya disease, the State has provided what I believe to
be -- and the facts and circumstances of this case 1
believe to be shown that the State did not have knowledge
that the Moyamoya disease existed, or that it withheld
that evidence. 1In fact, the representations made by
counsel were that it did inquire of the doctor and the
doctor believed Moyamoya disease had nothing to do with
the brain hemorrhage.

At the end of the day it is telling te this Court
that it wasn't even necessarily clear to the defense,
until much later in the process, that this is something
that could or would potentially explain away the
circumstances.

S0 based on how I believe the statute is intended to
apply, the State needed to be aware of the exculpatory
evidence and had to have made a determination to not
disclose it. I believe simply in these circumstances that
those facts are not in existence.

1l don't have to make a determination that's heen
pointed out before, that the Moyamoya disease actually
existed, or the victim actually succumbed to it in order
to grant petition. That is true. But I do need to find

that the district attorney was aware of the evidence and
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that it chose to not submit it to the grand Jjury.

The medical records, as I said, indicated that this
may have existed, but it does not appear the district
attorney was aware that there was exculpatory value in
those medical records. They relied on the opinion of the
expert whe had reviewed all the medical records, who had
indicated there was no other explanation for the alleged
victim's death.

The circumstances are such that I believe that
denying the petition is the appropriate course of conduct
here. Certainly the Defendant is going to be able to |
potentially provide this in his defense. But I do not
find that it supports or justifies the dismissal of *he
charges on the statute that is cited.

MR, SILVERSTEIN: May I.

THE COURT: Please, Mr Silversteiq.

MR. SILVERSTEIN: Your Honor, the court's
reading of the statute of NRS 172.145 and the reasons the
Court has just put on the record, quite frankly, is wrong.
It encourages the State to put its head in the sand and
intentionally not look at medical records, intentionally
not look at evidence that could contain exculpatory
evidence.

What this Court's ruling does is it encourages

willful ignorance on the part of the State. The statute
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certainly does not say how the Court has read it. That's
not what the statute says. If there is evidence that the
district attorney is aware of, it must be presented to the
grand jury. The Court has already ruled that the evidence
had exculpatory value. That, quite frankly, at the end of
the analysis.

The fact that Mr. Stephens or his expert didn't read
these records closely enough to understand the value is
not a defense to the statutory obligation.

The fact that the records had this evidence, the fact
that Mr. Stephens had those records prior to the grand
jury presentment, and in fact said they were critical and
necessary to the prosecution, I mean, what -- basically
what the Court's ruling does is it encourages the
prosecutor to come in and say, well, we didn't read our
evidence. We didn't know. And that's somehow a defense
and gets them out of their statutory obligation. TIt's
quite frankly -- it is a ruling that encourages ignorance
on the part of the State. It is a ruling that does not
put forth -- does not support the reasoning behind this
obligation. 1It's a ruling that, quite frankly, really
dces a disservice to the rights of Mr. Mayo and two other
defendants.

THE COURT: And I absolutely appreciate, Mr.

Silverstein, your position on that. Again, I did not take
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this review lightly, and I did not make this decision
lightly.

I will tell you that I've had argued, obviously, in
this case both ways. I've had it argued by the State,
we're walking down a slippery slope here if we do this
thing becausé where do we stop and where do we term that
some condition that a victim may have had is something
that the State is obligated to raise and bring toe the
attention of the grand jury. And I've had sort of --
maybe not the mirror -- but somewhat of the reverse argued
here today that by making this ruling, the Court is now
discouraging the State from actually lcoking at and
understanding this information.

I think what we have to look at -- and T absolutely
will respect it if the Supreme Court agree with you and
doesn't agree with me on how to interpret this. But I
think what we have here is a circumstance where T don't
believe the State ignored the facts that weren't present
before it. I don't believe the fact that it's potentially
an explanation for what occurred to this victim is the end
of the ingquiry.

I think if the requirement is that the inguiry has to
be that the State indicated to us that it absolutely spoke
with the doctor, it spoke with its expert witness and that

expert witness fully assessed the records. aAnd I know
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that the argument was made previously that was kind of
compounding the problem when you have a docter saying to a
grand jury I looked at everything and really this is all
there is.

But the reality is is when you look at the dust
settling on all of that, when you have the State taking
the time prior to grand jury to have a talk with the
doctor, have undertaken the review of those records, and
the doctor says, absolutely an explanation. That is the
one. That is what the cause of death is. And it's not
this other matter.

Again, I am taking into account that both sides had
these medical records prior tc the grand jury and neither
side cotteoned to or glean te the fact that this is
something that could potentially have had this exculpatory
nature and the matter procesded.

I don't perceive that it ends the ingquiry to
determine that this is potentially exculpatory in nature.
I believe the inquiry reguires me to lock further to the
facts and circumstances of what the State did in fact know
and what the totality of the circumstances are.

So, with all due respect, it's possible that the
State could look at this and say, gee, now I never have to
look anymore at whatever else is there and put it up

because this Court found in this case that they were, sort
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of, not -- I'm trying to think of the right word, so I'm
not going to say anything -- the State did something wrong
in this particular case.

But I think the State will continue to look for and
provide whatever exculpatory explanation there is. T
think that this set of facts and circumstances in this
case are unique to this case. And that ultimately both
sides have argued slippery slope, the Court has to come
down on the sides that it feels is warranted.

And while it could be a path to say that anytime
something like this is found to exist, it's somewhere in
the course of examination of the records and to look back

in hindsight and say the 3tate could have and should have

done something, that that is certainly an option. It is a

path the Court could proceed to go down. And maybe in the
abundance of caution it is the way the Court should go.
But I have reviewed the cases. I have reviewed the
circumstances. And 1've reviewed the statute. I very
well may be misinterpreting the statute, but my 7
interpretation of the statute, in all honesty, is what
occurred at the time of the grand jury was appropriate in
these circumstances, based on the State's discussion with
its medical expert, and the facts and circumstances of the
case. I do not have a basis to grant the petition.

I absolutely hear you. I anticipate and would

34z
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include in whatever order is issued any language that
would be necessary to allow the Supreme Court to have a
look at this issue sooner rather then later. I'm open to
that. But T'm making the best judgment call I can make in
the circumstances.

MS, FELICIANO: Your Henor, may 1 just further
question the court.

Regarding the probable cause determination on the
battery DV straﬁqulation, the issue with that was whetherx
the officer could testify as & medical expert when the
actual medical expert found no evidence of strangulation.
and just so that the record is clear, has the court
found -- there is case law directly on point that says the
officer cannot testify as a medical expert.

T just wanted to get the Court's finding so that the
order is clear, that the Court is finding the officer’'s
presentation of his medical opinion regarding
strangulation, which contradicted the medical expert
carried the day.

THE COURT: Does the State want to respond to
that before the Court clarifies. I locked at my notes at
the same time to make sure I did not shortcut any of my
notes. It's very possible. I have a lot of notes here.
It's very difficult to do chapter and verse, issuing a

written decigion, which typically T would put the burden
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of the State to do, as they are the prevailing party here,
I may still do that. But to the extent we need to ensure
that we've provided further clarification, we may end up
directing that order.

' Go ahead. State have anything it wishes to
address.

MR. STEPHENS: I'll be brief on that, your

Honor.

Regarding the strangulaticn, you can give expert
testimony based upon your trzining and/or experience. The
officer that did testify as to strangulation discussed
his -- T believe it was his post-certification training
along with other training he attended. I believe there
were a couple at the attorney general's office that he
attended. Along with the fact he has the experience with
iaw enforcement. I can't recall exactly how long he has
been working as an cfficer at this point. I believe it
was more than 6 years. I think he said 1%t was 7. I'm not
confident off the top of my head.

So with that experience, your Honor, he is allowed to
testify as an expert under the training and experience
that he has. Received both classroom training and also
the experience he's experienced in the field.

TEE COURT: The Court -- I guess, as you said,

Ms. Feliciano, the Court's outcome does certainly indicate
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that it found there was sufficient evidence -- slight ox
marginal evidence that was presented. And then pinpointed
saying that that slight or marginal evidence could have
included, and did in fact include, the testimony from the
officer who was giving his cpinion as to the
circumstances. That is what the Court has found.

T didn't think of it in that terminology. In
fairness, the Court needed and scrt of articulated it that
way. I don't believe that in the circumstances it ig
countervailing to the case law, but I respect that you
believe the case law would point us in a different
direction. But ultimately that is the Court's
determination.

MS. FELICIANO: Thank you.

THE COURT: Any other clarifications,

MR. STEPHENS: Not from the State.

MS. FELICIANG: Not from defense, your Honor,

THE CCURT: TI'll ask the State to prepare the
order. The Court will review it and interlineate anything
that feels necessary to interlineate.

I obviously found persuasive the State's argquments in
these matters, but certainly the Court articulated today
those specific findings that was basing its determination
on in that way. So not necessar%ly looking for your staff

member to go take your entire motion and cut -- or your
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opposition, I should say, and cut and paste it to an
order. I would like the order to track Lo what the Court
indicated today, then those reascnable -- the reasonabkle
connection tc the arguments the State made in support of
those findings, as opposed to chapter and verse, cut and
paste from the opposition.

MR, SILVERSTEIN: Will you also order defense
have a chance to look at the order before it's submitted
to the Court.

THE COURT: Absclutely.

As I indicated, the Court will be cpen to any
language that would enable this matter to be reviewed. I
can't ask my colleagues up at the Supreme Court to just
take a look it. It has to go in through whatever fashion
i5 going to be reguested. But oftentimes, there's an
impediment if we've not already done scmething at this
level to indicate we welcome that review. Sg whatever
language can be provided, I'd be open to that.

MR. STEPHENS: I attempted tc take as good a
notes as possible. Coculd I have the transcript c¢rdered
teoday, and we'll submit an order to you this afterncon.

THE COURT: I don't know how quickly, vou'll get
those.

ME. STEPHENS: As soon as get them -- we'll

prepare the order as soon as possible.
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MS. FELICIANO: Defense would ask that if the
State orders the transcript that they also provide us a
transcript from the hearing.

THE COURT: At the State's expense, we'll order
that a transcript be provided te both parties. Let's then
ensure that the order on the decision on the petition
tracks to what has been stated. Again, those arguments
that were made by the State that would support those
findings may be included. But we don't want the
determination to overreach and we want thé determination
to be sufficiently positioned to be reviewsd.

The moticn for OR release, which was also filed, I
certainly wasn't necessarily and isn't dependant from or
dependant on what the outcome of the determination was,
but in light of the Court's determination and
circumstances, the Court doesn't know -- do you prefer to
have that heard a little down the road or do you want to
have that determination made now.

MS, FELICIANO: 1I'd like to have the
determination made now, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

Do you want to make further argument with regard to
what is before the Court. The Court has reviewed the
metion. CObviously the facts were incorporated by

reference from the petition. There is the connection that
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the Defendant has to the community for -- I believe there
was a reference for a 10 year period. That he had been
working and that he potentially could return to that work.
That he has a strong suppcrt gystem.

The opposition pointed cut, and what the Court does
tend to weigh as heavily as anything, is analyslis of
release are the mysteriousness of the charges and the
history of the Defendant, if anv.

With regard to circumstance of potential flight risk,
there was reference to the Defendant having prigr viclent
history, as well as attempt to flee. I'm not making a
finding in thcose regards. There are ten factors that the
Court reviews when 1t looks at one of these requests, and
I did review all of those and was giving some insights as
to how I'd weigh them,

In light of that, Ms. Feliciano, anything you'd like
to add.

M3, FELICIANO: No, your Honor. 1I'll submit on
the written record. I think we sufficiently outlined our
position.

THE COURT: Mr. Stephens.

MR, STEPHENS: I'd just ask that bail remain at
the $1,050,000.00.

THE CCOURT: At this point, in light of the

Court's determination to deny the petition, the bail will
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not be reduced. And the motion for OR release will be
denied.

Again, the nature of the charges, as well as the
history of the Defendant, he's not a candidate at this
time, I believe, for release from custody.

As there's been a change in the charges, the Court is
disinclined to grant the motion at this time. The motion
s denied.

MS. FELICIANO: Thank vou, your Honor.

Would your Honor like --

THE COURT: I'd ask the State to prepare that as
well. As long as you are giving the defense the
opportunity to see the other order, you can show them hoth
oraers.

MR. STEPHENS: T will.

THE CQURT: Thank you all.

MS. FELICIANO: Thank you.

* * % K %
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A T N TR

Electronically Filed
07/06/2015 03:53:38 PM

ORDR Qi # i
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565

ROBERT STEPHENS

Chief D%)uty District Attorney

Nevada Bar #011286

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, NV 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintift,

V8- CASE NO: C-14-295313-1
ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, DEPT NO: XXV
#2581304,

Defendant,

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

DATE OF HEARING: March 30, 2015
TIME OF HEARING: 10:30 A.M.

THIS MATTER having come on for hearing before the above entitled Court on the
30th day of March, 2015, the Defendant being present, represented by AMY FELICIANO,
Deputy Public Defender, the Plaintiff being represented by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District
Attorney, through ROBERT STEPHENS, Chicf Deputy District Attorney, and thﬁ: Court
having heard the arguments of counsel and good cause appearing therefor,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that both the Defendant’s Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus and the Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Wit of Habeas Corpus shall be and
are DENIED.

THE CVOURT FINDS that Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Hlfabeas

Corpus was not untimely.
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THE COURT FINDS that presenting evidence that Beverly McFarlane (Victim) was
removed‘ from life support would not have changed the determination of the Grand Jury,
Medical personnel removing Beverly McFarlane from life support does not relieve Defendant
of the causal liability for murder.

} THE COURT FINDS that the word “vacuum” is properly in the Indictment to provide
Defendant notice. _
. THE COURT FINDS that the chain of custody of the brain was not broken. The State
presented a sufficient chain of custody of the brain.

THE COURT FINDS that even if the bad acts were inappropriately admitted before
the grand jury, there is still sufficient evidence to support the Grand Jury’s finding of probable
cause. Slight or marginal evidence was presented even without the alleged bad acts being
presented.

THE COURT FINDS that the officer’s training and experience qualified him to testify
as an expert in strangulation.

THE COURT FINDS that the State presented slight or marginal evidence to support
all the charges alleged against Defendant in the Indictment.

THE COURT FINDS that pursuant to NRS 172,145, the State has a duty when
appearing before the Grand Jury to present all evidence of which the State is aware of at that
time that would explain away the charge. '

THE COURT FINDS that evidence that Beverly McFarlane possibly had moya moya
disease was contained in the medical records which the State obtained prior to the Grand Jury
hearing. |

THE COURT FINDS that if Beverly McFarlax_le suffered from moya moya disease it
could explain away the count of murder. Furthermore, there is a possibility that moya moya
may have caused the brain hemorrhaging.

HOWEVER, THE COURT FINDS that the State is only required to present to the
Grand Jury exculpatory evidence of which the State is aware of at that time. At the

presentation of the Grand Jury, although the State had possession of documents that contained

Wi2012FINT7A3N2FN1733-0RDR-(MAYO _ ANTHONY)-004.DOCX
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reference to the possible existence of moya moya disease, the State was not aware of the
exculpatory value of such evidence. In fact, prior to the Grand Jury presentation the State
spoke with medical experts who reviewed the medical records. The mediéal experts believed
there was no other explanation for Beverly McFarlane’s death other than blunt force trauma,

MOREOVER, THE COURT FINDS that the exculpatory value of the possible
existence of moya moya disease did not become apparent to the defense or the State until
much later after the Grand Jury presentation. The Court also finds that the State did not
purposefully choose to not disclose the possible existence of moya moya disease, but instead
the State was simply unaware of the potential of moya moya disease or its exculpatory value,
Because the State was unaware of the possible exculpatory value of the reference in the
medical records to moya moya discase the State was not required to present such evidence to

the Grand Jury. _
THE COURT made no determination that Beverly McFarlane actually had moya moya

o ]E
DATED this _{ — dayo 2015.

disease or that Beverly McFarlane surﬁrcumbed to moya moya disease.

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Baf)#00

BY

B
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that service of the above and foregoing Order Denying Defendant’s Petition

for Writ of Habeas Corpus was made this 29th day of June, 2015, to:

td/dvu

AMY FELICIANO, Deputy Public Defender
iohnsoaafclarkcountynv.gov

DAN SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender
SilverDA@clarkcountynv.gov

A
BY: ;\‘xﬁﬁ@& éﬂ % .

Theresa Dodson
Secretary for the District Attorney’s Office
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MOT Electronically Filed
PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER 06/29/2015 10:43:43 AM

NEVADA BAR NO. 0556

DAN A. SILVERSTEIN .
Deputy Public Defender :

Nevada Bac No, 7518 m i‘égg“‘”‘“’
309 South Third Street, Suite 226

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 455-4685
Aﬂomey for Defendant

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff, % CASE NO. C-14-295313-1
)
V. ) DEPT. NO. XXV
' )
ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, } DATE: July 13, 2015
) TIME: 9:00 a.m.
Defendant. )
)

DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO RECONSIDER DENIAL OF
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, the Defendant, ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, by and through DAN
A. SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, and hereby requests that this Court reconsider its
prior denial of the Defendant’s Petiﬁon for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
Tl;his Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein and
oral argument at the time set for hearing this Motion.
DATED this 29" day of June, 2015.
PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: Dan A. Silverstein
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Pablic Defender

264




=] ~1 ()% “h N (]

D

“If evidence highly probative of innocence is in [the prosecutor’s] file, he should
be presumed to recognize its significance even if he has actually overlooked it.”

United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 110 (1976)

STATEMENT OF FACTS
On September 24, 2013, Justice of the Peace Chris Lee signed an order submitted by the
Clark County District Attorney’s Office releasing the medical records of the alleged victim m this
case, Beverly McFarlane. These medical records were received by the District Attorney’s Office

on October 7, 2013; over three months prior to the grand jury presentment in this case.

In those medical records, a report from radiologist Rajneesh Agrawal, M.D,, dated August
17, 2012, makes clear that the findings in McFarlane’s CT scans “...are suggestive of a slow,
progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with moyamoya disease.” A physician’s order sheet
from the same date also suggests a diagnosis of moyamoya discase.

Moyamoya disease is a rare condition that causes progressive occlusion of the carotid
arteries in the brain, consistent with the findings of Clark County Coroner Alane Olson that the
alleged victim suffercd “complete occlusion of the left internal carotid artery and narrowing of the
right internal carotid artery.” Sufferers of moyamoya disease tend to experience 4 gradual
deterioration of cognitive function, and if left untreated, the steady occlusion of the arteries in the
brain can be fatal. Death from moyamoya disease is typically caused by brain hemorrhage. This
1s consistent with the findings of Clark County Coroner Alane Olson that the alleged victim died as
a result of brain hemorrhage. It is also consistent with the findings of the State’s
neuropathological expert, Dr. Claudia M, Greco, M.D., who concluded that the hemorrhages found
in McFarlane’s brain were between two and five days old. The injuries which Anthony Mayo is
alleged to have inflicted on McFarlane occurred on August 10, 2012, fifteen days prior to her
death,

| On February 2, 2015, the Defendant filed an addendum to a previously filed Petition for

Writ of Habeas Corpus, arguing that the State had violated NRS 172.145(2) by withholding

evidence of this alternate theory of McFarlane’s death from the grand jury’s consideration. The
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State filed an dpposition on March 5, 2015, Oral argument comnienced on March 23, 2015, The
Court issued its decision on March 30, 2015. The Court agreed that the evidence of moyamoya
disease tended to explain away the charges against the Defendant, and as such, constituted
exculpatory evidence that the State was obligated to present to the grand jury. The Court denied
the petition, however, concluding tllajf: NRS 172.145(2) did not apply because even though this

evidence was in the State’s file, the prosecutor was not personally aware of its significance.
This motion to reconsider the Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) follows.

ARGUMENT

This Court has interpreted NRS 172.145(2) t¢ absolve the prosecutor of its duty to present
evidence of obvious exculpatory value, unquestionablyl in the prosecutor’s actual possession prior
to the grand jury hearing, where the prosecutor claims to have been unaware of the significance of
the evidence. Because this interpretation violates the purpose and spirit of the enactment, leads to
absurd and unreasonable results, and renders the obligation conferred by the statute meaningless, it
is respectfully requested that this interpretation be reconsidered.

1. The Court’s interpretation of NRS 172,143(2) violates the policy and spirit of the law.

“A statute should be construed in light of the policy and the spirit of the law.” Huat v.
Warden, 111 Nev. 1284, 1285 (1995). The policy and spirit of the statutery obligation to present
exculpatory evidence fo the grand jury are utterly subverted where the Court requires some
showing more than the State’s actual possession of exculpatory evidence in order to occasion
relief.

The grand jury’s mission “...is to clear the innocent, no less than to bring o trial those who

may be guilty.” Sheriff v. Frank, 103 Nev. 160, 165 (1987), quoting United States v. Dionisio,

410 U.S. 1, 16-17 (1973). Where “...a prosscutor refuses to present exculpatory evidence, he, in

effect, destroys the existence of an independent and informed grand jury.” Sheriff v. Frank, 103

Nev. 160, 165 (1987), quoting United States v. Gold, 470 F.Supp. 1336, 1353 (N.D.IIL. 1979). The

[13

withholding of exculpatory evidence “...casts the prosecutor in the role of an architect of a

proceeding that does not comport with standards of justice.” Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 88
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(1963). Clearly, the policy and spirit of NRS 172.145(2) is to ensure that the factfinder in the
criminal justice process be informed of any evidence that has a tendency (o show that the accused
is innocent,

In this sense, fhe policy of NRS 172.145(2) can be compared with the policy of the United
States Supreme Court’s landmark decision in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S.83 (1963), imposing a

constitutional obligation on the government to disclose exculpatory evidence to the defense.
Importantly, Brady imposes a constitutional obligation on the prosecution to disclose exculpatory
evidence “...regardless whether the prosecutor was personally aware of the existence of the
evidence.” People v. Whalen, 294 P.3d 915, 966 (Cal. 2013); Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419,
437 (1995).

The obligation io present éxculpatory evidence derives from the character of the evidence,
not the character of the prosecutor. The purpose of the rule mandating disclosure of exculpatory
evidence is to protect the fairness of the proceedings, not to punish an individual prosecutor for
misdeeds. As a result, “/i]f evidence highly probative of innocence is in his file, he should be

presumed 1o recognize its significance even if he has actually overlooked it” United States v.

Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 110 (1976) (emphasis added). “It is now axiomatic that the prosecutor has an
affirmative duty to volunteer evidence that arguably falls within the scope of Brady, and, in fact, ié
presumed to have knowledge of the contents of his files, such that claims that exculpatory

evidence was overlooked will not be tolerated.” United States v. Kipp, 990 F.Supp. 102

(N.DN.Y. 1998).

Because the purpose of NRS 172.145(2) is to ensure that evidence tending to demonstrate
the defendant’s innocence is considered by the grand jury, it is irrelevant whether the prosecutor
withholds the evidence through inadvertence or intent. The damage to the rights of the accused is
the same. This Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) deprives the defendant of a remedy,
despite the existence of material exculpatory evidence in the prosecutor’s file, as long as the
prosecutor makes the claim that he failed to read it. This interpretation thwarts the policy and

spirit of the statute.
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In United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976), the United States Supreme Court concluded .

that the State’s obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence was not contingent on the prosecutor’s
attention to detail. Agurs stands for the proposition that exculpatory evidence is just as important
to the factfinder’s judgment whether the prosecution has overlooked it or not. If the evidence
exists in the State’s file, the prosecutor is presumed to have knowledge of it. The rule cannot
reasonably be interpreted any other way, The prosecutor’s duty would be effectively nullified if it
could be evaded merely by claiming ignorance. The Agurs reasoning applies with equal force to
the obligation to present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury set forth in NRS 172.145(2). Any
unfaimess the Court attributes to presuming the prosecutor has knowledge of the contents of his
own file 1s substantially outweighed by the unfairness of visiting the consequences of the State’s
lack of diligence upon the accused. The prosecutor “...is presumed to have knowledge of the
contents of his files, such that claims that exculpatory evidence was overlooked will not be

tolerated.” United States v. Kipp, 990 F.Supp. 102 (N.D.N.Y. 1998).

Courts have routinely held that a prosecutor is presumed to possess knowledge of the
exculpatory information in his files. “Brady does require that the information requested be known
to the prosecution. That knowledge may be presumed, as when the information is in the

prosecutor’s files.” Parker v. State, 587 So.2d 1072, 1086 (Ala.Cr.App. 1991). Where

exculpatory evidence is in the State’s file, “...knowledge of the existence of evidence will be
imputed to the prosecution even when the prosecution is without actual knowledge of the existence
of the evidence.” Hill v. State, 651 So.2d 1128, 1132 (Ala.Cr.App. 1994). This rationale makes
perfect sense. After all, a prosecutor willing to withhold exculpatory evidence from the grand jury
would likely have no compunction about disclaiming knowledge of the existence of the evidence
to uphold the indictm.ent. This Court’s interpretation of the rule binds only the angelic prosecutor,

and any rule that only applies to those who are most likely to follow it is ne rule at all,
It is neither unfair nor unreasonable o presume thal & prosecuior has knowledge of the

contents of his file, and in fact, the United States Supreme Court has done so for almost forty

years. United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976). There is no reason why knowledge of the

contents ol the file should be presumed in the Brady context, but not in the context of grand jury.

5
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proceedings. The policy behind the requirement that exculpatory cvidence be presented to the

grand jury is ill-served by an interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) that allows prosecutors to avoid it
by not reading their own file. This Court’s interpretation contradicts the spirit of the law, and

should be reconsidered.

2. The Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) creates absurd and unreasonable resulis.
- “Statutory language should be construed to avoid absurd or unreasonable results.” Speer v.
State, 116 Nev. 677, 679 (2000); Wilson v. State, 121 Nev. 345, 357 (2005). “When interpreting

a statute, we resolve any doubt as to legislative intent in favor of what is reasonable, as against

what is unreasonable.” Qakley v. State, 105 Nev. 700, 702 (1989); Desert Valley Water Co. v.

State Engineer, 104 Nev. 718, 720 (1988), citing Cragun v. Nevada Pub. Employegs’ Ret. Bd,, 92
Nev. 202 (1976).

In reading NRS 172.145(2) to exéuse the State from responsibility for presenting
exculpatory evidence clearly present in the State’s file at the time of the grand jury hearing, this
Court encourages prosecutors to read and comprehend the minimum possible amount of evidence
prior to the grand jury presentment. In fact, in light of the Court’s ruling, it would make more
sense for the prosecutor to read nothing but the police report summarizing probable cause and
ignore every other document or report in its file, assuring that the State knew sufficient facts to
obtain an indictment without needing to worry about being held accountable later for withholding
anything exculpatory. As a result of the Court’s interpretation, the prosecutor is encouraged to
remain ignorant; he has a greater incentive to keep himself in the dark than to carefully review all
aspects of the case against the acéuscd. The Court’s reading puts the enliphtened prosecutor at a
disadvantage as opposed to the willfully ignorant one; the enlightened prosecutor must similarly
enlighten the grand jury, risking an adverse result, while the ignorant one can keep the grand jury
ignorant as well, and suffer no consequence. By the Court’s logic, the é;rand jury is only entitled
to learn the exculpatory evidence that the prosecutor has taken the time to learn himself; the clever
prosecutor would do everything possible to avoid reading too deep into the case file, for fear of

accidentally learning the evidence that would nnravel his case.

6
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To truly understand the depth of the absurdity, imagine the situation were reversed, and the
defense attorney could keep inculpatory evidence away from the grand jury by simply ignoring its
existence. Not only would the defense lawyer have no incentive to read the file, arguably, he
would be providing ineffective assistance to his client if he were to do so. Yet this is the very sort
of regime created by this Court’s reading of NRS 172.145(2). By determining that the State is
only responsible for presenting unfavqrable evidence to the grand jury if the prosecutor personally
comprehends its significance, the Court has created a system that rewards prosecutors for not

reading their files, and imposes more onerous obligations on those that do.

It is patently absurd and unreasonable for the State’s obligation to present exculpatory
evidence to the grand jury to be nullified by the prosecutor’s ignorance of the facts contained in his
own file. The State must be charged with presumptive knowledge of the information in its actnal

possession, otherwise the accused pays the price for the prosecutor’s lack of diligence.
3. The Court’s interpretation of NRS 172. 145 (2) renders its existence nugatory.

“Statutes should be given their plain meaning and ‘must be construed as a whole and not be
read in a way that would render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory.’”

Mangarella v, State, 117 Nev. 130, 133 (2001), quoting Charlie Brown Constr, Co. v. Boulder

City, 106. Nev. 497, 502 (1990). This Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2), that the
unquestioned existence of exculpatory evidence in the State’s file prior to the grand jury hearing
does not confer “knowledge” upon the prosecutor, renders the obligation inherent in the statute a
nullity. Because this interpretation of the statute essentially invalidates the entire provision, this

interpretation ought to be reconsidered.

The Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) enables the State to disregard its obligation
to present exculpatory evidence by sumply refusing to study its own file. According to this Court’s
ruling, exculpatory evidence need not be presented to the grand jury until the prosecutor personally
reads it. So, for example, the State would not be compelled to presenf a DNA report exonerating
the defendant in a sexual assault case, even if the DNA report was sitting in the State’s file, as long
as the prosecutor thumbed past it while reviewing the case. Given this interpretation of the statute,

for what possible reason would a prosecutor ever thoroughly investigate his own file before a
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grand jury hearing? Since the Court’s reading of the State’s obligation is essentially “out of sight,
out of mind,” the prosecutor would be better served ignoring any evidence in the file beyond the
absolute minimum necessary to establish probable cause for indictment. Where the State can
control the introduction of exculpatory evidence by simply turning a blind eye to it, there is no
obligation to introduce exculpatory evidence at all, This Cowt’s interpretation of NRS 172,145(2)
negates the very obligation the statute intends to confer, and abridges the rights of the accused to

an informed, independent grand jury. This interpretation ought fo be reconsidered.

CONCLUSION

This Court hag determined that evidence of moyamoya disease, a reasonable alternale
explanation for the death of Beverly McFarlane, constituted exculpatory evidence. As such, NRS
172.145(2) requires that the State present this evidence to the grand jury. It is also undisputed that
this evidence was in the State’s actual possession prior to the grand jury hearing; in fact, the State
obtained this evidence through a court order with the célltelltion that the medical records were
essential to the prosecution of this case.

Yet the Court denied the petition anyway, ruling that even though the exculpatory evidence
was in the State’s file, the prosecutor was excused from his obligation to present it because he had
overlooked its true significance. The Court’s interpretation of NRS 172.145(2) dismantles
important protections for the rights of the accused. With respect to the production of excnlpatory

evidence, the State is presumed to have knowledge of the content of its files, United States v.

Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976), and this Cowrt’s adoption of the contrary position should be
reconsidered.

DATED this 29" day of June, 2015,

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: /s/ Dan A. Silverstein
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender
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TO:

NOTICE OF MOTION

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Astomey for Plaintiff:
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Public Defender’s Office will bring the

above and foregoing Motion on for hearing before the Court on the 13™ day of July, 2015, at 9:00

a.m., in Distljict Court, Department XXV.

DATED this 29™ day of June, 2015.

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: /5/ Dan A. Silverstein
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE
I hereby certify that service of DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER

DENIAL OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, was made this 29TH day of June,

2015, by Electronic Filing to:

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE

Motions@clarkcountyda.com

ROBERT STEPHENS, Deputy District Attormney
E-Mail: RobertStephens@eclarkecountvda.com

By: /s/ Sara Ruano
Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office
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OPPS .
STEVEN B. WOLFSON Electronically Filed
Clark County District Attorney 07/10/2015 08:15:17 AM
SR, ‘
Deputy District Attorney % » éﬂ\m—-

Nevada Bar #011286

200 Lewis Avenue CLERK OF THE COURT
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
%702) 671-2500
tate of Nevada
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
~V8- CASENO: (C-14-295313-1
- ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, .
4581304, DEPTNO: XXV
Defendant.

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO RECONSIDER DENIAL
OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
DATE OF HEARING: July 13, 2015
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 AM.

COMES NOW, DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada,
Respondent, through his counsel, STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Attorney, through
R.OBERT'STE'P.HENS, Chief Deputy District Attorney, files this Opposition to Defendant’s
Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, currently set for hearing
on July 13,2015 at 9:00 A.M. | '

This Opposition is made based upon all papers and pleadings filed herein and oral
arguments at the time set for hearing these matters.

"
"
/i

wi2012FIN1 7A33\12FN 1 733-0OPPS-(Mayo__Anthony}-002.docx
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Wherefore, Respondent prays that the Writ of Habeas Corpus, along with the
Addendum to the Writ, be discharged and the Petition be dismissed.

DATED this 9th day of July, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,
STEVEN B, WOLFSON
Clark County District Aftorney
Nevada Bar #00156

BY

Chief Deputy District Attorney

F(OBER}STEPENS
Nevada Bar #0011286

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
PROCEDURAL SUMMARY

On January 17, 2014, an Indictment was filed against Anthony Mayo (Defendant)
charging him with Murder, Battery Constituting Domestic Violence — Strangulation, Coercion
and Dissuading a Witness. The Grand Jury Transcripts were prepared on January 30, 2014.
Defendant requested more time to file the writ beyond the 21 days. Both parties requested
additional time to file the Return and Reply. On February 28, 2014, Defendant filed a Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State’s Return was ﬁ}ed on April 4,2014. On April 18,2014,
Defendant filed his Reply. The Court heard arguments on April 21, 2014, The Court passed
the case to May 7, 2014 for decision. On said date, no decision was made.

At calendar call on February 2, 2015, the Court indicated that it needed to decide the

- writ. Before allowing the Court to decide the writ, Defendant filed an Addendum to the

pending writ more than one year after the Grand Jury transcripts were prepared and nearl& ten
months since arguments on the Writ occurred. The State filed a Return to Defendant’s
Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On April 20, 2015, this Court Denied
Defendant’s Initial Petition and Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpﬁs.
As of the writing of this Opposition, the Order Denying Defendant’s Petition has not yet been
filed. On June 29, 2015, Defendant filed the instant Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition

2
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for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State’s Opposition follows.
FACTUAL SUMMARY
On or about August &, 2012, Beverly McFarlane (Beverly) was living with her husband,
Anthony Mayo (Defendant) and their two children, Ashanti and Ashley. Grand Jury

Transcript (GJT) 41. Defendant became upset when Beverly accidentally called Defendant
while at work., GJT 54. Defendant was irritated and annoyed by the phone call. GIT 54.
When Beverly arrived home from work, Defendant was playing with a beach ball with the
kids. GJT 56. Beverly asked that they stop playing while she began cooking-dinner. GJT 36.
This caused a verbal argument between Beverly and Defeﬁdant. GJT 56. Once dinner was
finished they all went upstairs to the master bedroom. GJT 58,

Another argument arose about the cooking. GJT 59, Defendant ordered Ashanti and
Ashley to their room. GJT 59. Defendant was so mad that his eyes were “popping out of his
head” and his vein was popping out of his forehead, GJT 66. Beverly tried to call 911 but
Defendant slapped the phone out of Beverly’s hand. GJT 59. The phone slid under the fridge
in the room. GJT 72. Ashanti tried to retrieve the phone, but Defendant stopped her. GIT 72.

Defendant then mounted Beverly and began choking her. GIT 59. Out of fear, Ashanti
and Ashley went to their room which is directly across from the master bedroom. GIT 60.
Defendant punched Beverly numerous times in the face and body. GJT 63. Beverly kept
screaming for help. GJT 63. Defendant then began to choke her. GJT 63, Ashanti saw
Defendant pushing Beverly down into the bed. GJT 63. She knew Beverly was being choked
because she could hear it in Beverly’s voice. GIT 64. Beverly would scream and then she
would just stop. GJT 64,

Ashanti eventually turned away from the beating in an attempt to find her mom’s phone
in her purse. GJT 60. Ashanti was unable to find the phone in the purse. GIT 61. Defendant
observed Ashanti searching for the phone. GJT 72. He told Ashanti that if she called the
police, he would knock Beverly out. GIT 73. He also threatened to “whoop” Ashanti. GJT
73. Ashanti then hid behind the door so she could not see what Defendant was doing to her
mother. GJT 61.

wA2012FN1733\ 2FN1733-0PPS-(Mayo__Anthoay)-002 docx
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At some point, Defendant rhetorically asked where his bat was. GJT 61. Defendant
then went into the garage to look for his bat. GJT 61, Knowing where the bat was located,
Ashanti rushed downstairs and hid the metal bat from Defendant. GJT 61. Ashanti then
returned to her room. GIT 62. Unable to find the bat, Defendant returned to the master
bedroom this time grabbing a vacuum. GIT 62. Defendant closed the door behind him. GIT
64. Ashanti could hear her mother screaming to “stop” and “not to do that.” GJT 64. She
then heard a loud bang. GJT 65.

- Some time passed and Beverly exited the bedroom with a limp. GJT 65. She was
severeiy beaten, with scratches on her face. GIT 70. Dust was in her hair and on her person.
GIT 65. There was also dust on one side of the bed. GJT 65. The vacuum was broken. GJIT
68. Beverly was having a hard time speaking, GJT 71. Beverly took a bath and then tried to
sleep in Ashanti’s room, however, Defendant demanded that she sleep in the master bedroom
with him. GJT 71.

The next morning, August 9, 2012, Ashanti heard Defendant apologizing to Beverly,
GJT 74. Beverly slept almost all day, GIT 74. Beverly woke up at around dinner time, GJT
74. She could only whisper. GJIT 75. Ashanti brought some food to Beverly. GIT 75. It
appeared to Ashanti that her mom was “very sick.” GIT 76. Beverly’s eyes were red and her
skin was peeled off on one side of her face, GJT 76-77.

On August 10, 2012, Ashanti was woken up by Defendant yeiling and cursing at
Beverly to go to work, GIT 44, 46, After Beverly informed Defendant that she would not be -
going to work, the Defendant left the residence. GJT 44. At this time, Beverly got out of bed
and tried to call the police. GIT 42-44. Beverly limped to the stairs. GJ T'47 . Beverly could
only whisper, even though she was trying to talk louder. GJT 48, Initially Beverly called 411,
GIT 49. Then she called 311. GJT 44-45. Because Beverly was having 5 difficult time
talking, Ashanti eventually took over the 911 call. GJT 43, 45,

Officer Vital and other police officers eventually arrived at the residence and tried to
speak to Beverly; however, again Beverly had difficuity communicating with them. GIT 43,
86. Initially Officer Vital spoke to Ashanti who pointed him towards Beverly. GIT 87,

4
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Officer Vital described Beverly as “a little lethargic, disoriented, kind of displaying sort of
intoxicated type of person clues, but I could not smell any odor of alcohol coming from her,”
GJT 87. She had slurred speech and muffled sénfences. GJT 87. She would get lost in the
conversation, GJT 87, Beverly was unable to give her date of birth, name the President or
ide;atify the day of the week. GIT 87-88. Officer Vital also noticed that she had abrasions on
the side of her face and her face was swollen. GIT 88-89. Beverly had pettechia and
scraiching onher neck. GJT 89. Ashanti testified that Beverly did not have a lim'p or difficulty
communicating until after Defendant beat Beverly. GIT 52, Beverly was taken to the hospital.
GITII. |

Officer Aker followed Beverly to the hospital. GJT 93. Officer Aker has taken almost
240 hours in domestic violence training courses and is permitted to teach other cadets about
domestic violence and strangulation. GJT 94. Specific to strangulation, Officer Aker attended
a course on strangulation. GJT 94. This training has assisted other officers in the field on
numerous occasions. GJIT 95,

Officer Aker testified that Beverly was very scared and upset. GJT 97. He noticed a
black eye and an abrasion and bruising to her face. GJT 97. Beverly hesitated to move her
neck. GJT 97. She continued to sooth her neck. GIT 97, Her voice was very hoarse. GJT
97. At the hospital, Officer Aker noticed petechial hemorrhaging under her eyelids. GIT 98.
Beverly still had great difficulty in communicating due to her cognitive abilities being
diminished. GIT 102-03. ,

On August 11,2012, Officer Aker again returned to the hospital to check up on Beverly,
GJT 106. His interaction with Beverly was somewhat limited due to the several medical
procedures that were being performed. GIT 106. However, Officer Aker noticed that her
cognitive abilities had worsened. GJT 107. Beverly had virtually no ability to communicate.
GJT 107. Her answers were just gibBerish. GIT 107.

While in the hospital, many exams were performed on Beverly. Radiologist Dr.
Rajneesh Agrawal noted the following impression: “Findings are suggestive of a slow
progressive vasculopathy that can be seen With moyamoya disease.  Although the
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hypertrophied vessels are not well developed. Other etiologies such as sickie cel] disease or
other chronic vasculopathies would have to be also considered.” Defendant’s Exhibit C
attached to Addendum. Further a physician notated, “possible moya moya.” Defendant’s
Exhibit D attached to Addendum.

While at the hospital, Beverly eventually died and her body was examined by Dr.
Olson. GJT 125. Dr. Olson assigned the autopsy case a unique case number. GJT 125-26.
An external review of her body showed that Beverly had intravenous lines on her body, GIT
128. Prior to the autopsy, Dr. Olson noted that Beverly’s organs were donated. GJT 128. In
fact, there was a significant cut down the middle of her body which Dr. Olson said was from
the organ procurement procedure. GJT 129, Dr. Olson also identified other “small injuries”
on the surface. GJT 128,

The internal examination showed that Beverly sustained “considerable amount of
swelling in her brain.” GIT 129, Dr. Olson preserved the brain and sent it to Dr. Greco, GIT
129, 133. She testified that the bleeding on the brain would be indicative of trauma to the
head. GIT 130. Dr. Olson noticed the stark contrast in the coloration of the brain, which is
indicative of one side sustaining more injury than the other. GJT 131. She concluded that her
brain suffered trauma which “ultimately” led to her death. GJT 133-34. Other contributing
factors included the blockage of arteries which interfered with the blood flow to the brain.
GJT 134. This case was determined to be a2 homicide. GIT 15,

Dr. Claudia Greco has examined 400-500 brains for various reasons in her medical
practice. Grand Jury Transcripts (GIT) 12. The Clark County Coroner’s Officer contacted
her to examine Beverly’s brain. GJT 13. In December 2012, Dr. Greco received the brain
from FedEx and kept it in a locked area. GJT 13. From that point forward she was the only
person who handled the brain, GJT 13. She personally assigned a number to the brain which
correlated with the unique number assigned by the Clark County Coroner’s Office. GIT 14,
In her review of the brain, she noted significant injuries to the left side of the brain, GJT 18.
Specifically she noted a hemorrhage on the underside of the brain. GJT 18, There was massive
swelling on the brain which would have “gotten to the point where her life was irretrievable.”

6
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GJT 18. The brain began to herniate or go down the spinal cord. GJT 22. Dr. Greco explained
that this injury is fatal because it will pinch the spinal cord and “destroy the cardiac breathing
mechanisms,” GJT 23. She testified that the brain tissue toward the spinal cord is “very
swollen.” GJT 25. In fact it was so swollen that there was no opening for the cerebrospinal
fluid to transmit to the brain, GJT 26-27. This fluid is important because it brings nutrients
and oxygen to the brain. GIT 27-28. The swelling was so severe that Beverly’s brain would
not have allowed for cerebrospinal fluid to transmit. GJT 28. Additionally, the swelling
prevented blood from transmitting to the brain. GIT 32. The left side of the brain was
noticeably more swollen. GJT 21. She also noted other hemorrhages in the brain. GJT 24.

Dr. Greco testified that the types of injuries Beverly sustained wcré absolutely the result
of trauma. GJT 28, The hemorrhage was large and caused the death of Beverly. GJT 29. Dr.
Greco concluded Beverly “suffered cerebral trauma, brain trauma, and it was aggravated by
the fact that she already had high blood pressure and it was very, very hard to control.” GJT
29. Beverly’s brain was so significantly damaged that medical intervention could not have
saved her life. GJT 30.

Dr. Greco believed these injuries were _three to four days old. GJT 31. She further
explained that three to four days after Beverly sustained this trauma to the head, the brain had
swelled to the point where the necessary nutrients, including oxygen and blood would not have
been transmitting to the brain, GJT 33,

Since Defendant filed the instant Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Dr.
Greco has re;cxamined the brain. It is her conclusion and opinion that Beverly did not suffer
from moya moya. “There is no pathology present that would lead to a diagnosis of Moyamoya
disease.” State’s Exhibit 1 attached. “No evidence of Moyamoya disease.” State’s Exhibit
1.

Detectives Owens and Bodnar investigated the case once it was determined that
Beverly died. GJT 111. In March 2013, Detectives Owens and Bodnar met with Defendant
in Los Angeles, California. GJT 111-12. After reading Defendant his Miranda rights,
Defendant admitted that a verbal argument escalated into a physical altercation. GJT 113. He

7
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admitted to shoving her with both hands, slapping her in the face, punching her repeatedly,
and striking her with a vacuum. GJT 113. Initially Defendant said that he swung the vacuum
at her, but missed. GJT 117. When he missed the vacuum struck the bedpost and the vacuum
broke. GJT 117. Later, Defendant said that the vacuum hit Beverly in the hand as she tried
to block the vacuum from hitting her. GIT 114. Defendant claimed that Beverly pushed and
slapped him as he was trying to leave the residence. GJT 115-16. Defendant said he and
Beverly had intercourse and then the next morning he left the residence. GIT 114. When he
left he told Beverly that he was going to Los Angeles. GIT 117,

Defendant said he gave her some treatment for her black eye to make it appear that she
was not beat up. GJT 118, Defendant asserted that he asked Beverly if she wanted to go to
the hospital, but she refused and just asked for a Tylenol. GIT 119. h

ARGUMENT
Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus should

be denied for three of reasons.
L A MOTION TO RECONSIDER IS NOT RECOGNIZED
First, Defendant fails to cite any authority permitting Defendant to file a motion to
reconsider a denial of a petition. In reviewing the Eighth Judicial District Court Rules
(EJDCR), the State noted that Rule 2.24 permits parties in a civil action to file a motion to
reconsider within ten days afier the filing of the court’s order. However, Part 3 of the EIDCR,
governing procedure in criminal cases, is silent about motions to reconsider. Obviously those
who drafted and ratified these rules could have included a provision for motions to reconsider
in criminal cases had they so desired.
It should further be noted that NRS 34, governing petitibns, mentions nothing about
reconsideration of petitions. NRS 34 does discuss when it is appropriate to appeal a decision
on a writ or file an extraordinary writ. Criminal courts could come to a grinding halt if parties

in a criminal case could file motions to reconsider every time a court ruled against them, Thus,
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,
motions to reconsider within the Eighth Judicial District are not'permitted in criminal cases.’
I DEFENDANT FAILS TO PRESENT ANY NEW EVIDENCE

Second, Defendant has not presented any additional evidence that was not presented
before this court at the time of the hearing of the Petitions. There are no new facts for this
court to reconsider. Defendant’s desire to persuade the court to rule in its favor is not a basis
for a motion to reconsider. Because nothing new is presented in this motion to reconsider, the
State requests that Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider be denied.

The first and second points made herein are sufficient to deny Defendant’s instant
Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. However, to be thorough
the State will also address Defendant’s motion on the merits,

HL.  DEFENDANT’S MOTION HAS NO MERIT

The merits of the instant motion were previously considered by this court when it
denied Defendant’s multiple petitions for writ of habeas corpus. The State incorporates all of
its prior Responses herein. With that, the State will address a few points raised by Defendant.

A. The Court’s Interpretation of 174.145(2) Comports with the Plain Meaning of

the Statute

NRS 174.145(2) reads, “If the distriét attorney is aware of any evidence which will

explain away the charge, the district attorney shall submit it to the grand jury,” (Emphasis

added). “When interpreting a statute, legislative intent ‘is the controlling factor.” The starting
point for determining legislative intent is the statute's plain meaning; when a statute ‘is clear
on its face, a court can not go beyond the statute in determining legislative intent.’
State v, Lucero, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (Nev. 2011) (citing Robert B, v. Justice Court, 99 Nev.
443, 445, 664 P.2d 957, 959 (1983)). The clear meaning of NRS 174.145(2) is plain on its

face. The plain language requires the State to present exculpatory evidence of which it is

aware to the grand jury. That is precisely what this Court found when deciding this issue,

! The State notes that the Order Denying Defendant’s Petitions for Writ of Habeas Corpus has not yet been filed and thus
the Motion to reconsider is technicaily premature. However, the State understands that the instant motion filed by
Defendant, even if dismissed now, will eventually be filed once the Order is filed. Thus, the State does not request that
Defendant’s Motion be dismissed as being premature,

9
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Defendant asserts that this Court’s interpretation of NRS 174.145(2) deprives
defendants of a remedy because the State can hide behind a shield by saying they were unaware
of the exculpatory nature of the evidence, That is not true and is an overly broad statement.
In the vast majority of cases, the éxculpatory nature-of evidence is clear, (i.e. an alternative
suspect admitting to the crime, a witness asserting that they lied, an alibi, etc.)

This is one of maybe only a few cases where the potentially exculpatory nature of the
evidence is not readily apparent. Very few attorneys are trained in the medica] field. Hence,
attorneys rely upon experts to explain medical records and injuries in cases, In this specific
case, the State relied upon experts to assist in understanding the medical records. Two medical
experts, after having reviewed the medical reports, explained that the only cause of death was
blunt force trauma. The State relied upon those representations.

It must further be noted that moya moya is a rare disease. This is not a common disease
and there is still absolutely no evidence that Beverly actually suffered from this disease, Thus,
the exculpatory nature of the evidence is even less apparent. In fact, there is no exculpatory

vaiue to this evidence without some evidence that she had moya moya. No such evidence has
been presented to the State.

As discussed above, many times the exculpatory nature of the evidence will be clear.
Thus the State will be aware of such and be required to present such evidence to the grand
jury.

1. Brady does not apply to grand jury proceedings

Defendant cites numerous cases referencing Brady and its progeny, especially Agurs v,
State, 427 U.S. 97 (1976). However, Brady is actually a post-conviction trial remedy. It has
no application to the grand jury process in the federal system. See Willlams v. State, 504 U.S.
36, 49-55, 112 S.Ct. 1735, 1743-46 (1992). “Given the grand jury's operational separateness

from its constituting court, it should come as no surprise that we have been reluctant to invoke
the judicial supervisory power as a basis for prescribing modes of grand j Jury procedure. Over
the years, we have received many requests to exercise supervision over the grand jury's
evidence-taking process, but we have refused them all, including some more appealing than
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the one presented today,” Id. at 49-50, * [Rlequiring the prosecutor to present exculpatory

as well as inculpatory evidence would alter the grand jury's historical role, transforming

it from an accusatory to an adjudicatory body. It is axiomatic that the  grand jury sits

not to determine guilt or innocence, but to_assess whether there is adequate basis for

bringing a criminal charge.” Id. at 51 (Emphasis added). “[T]hree years before the Fifth

Amendment was ratified, it is the grand jury's function not ‘to enquire . . . upon what
foundation [the charge may be] denied,” or otherwise to try the suspect's defenses, but only to
exantine ‘upon what foundation [the charge] is made’ by the prosecutor. As a consequence,
neither in this country nor in England has the suspect under investigation by the grand jury
ever been thought to have a right to testify or to have exculpatory evidence presented.
Imposing upon the prosecutor a legal obligation to present exculpatory evidence in his
possession would be incompatible with this system.” Id. at 52 (citing Respublica v. Shaffer,
1U.S. 236 (1788).

The Williams Court continued to discuss whether a prosecutor should be required to

present exculpatory evidence before the grand jury. It held, that requiring the “modern
prosecutor to alert the grand jury to the nature and extent of the available exculpatory
evidence” is not necessary. Id. at 53. “A complaint about the quality or adequacy of the
evidence can always be recast as a complaint that the prosecutor's presentation was

‘incomplete’ or ‘misleading.” Our words in Costello bear repeating: ‘Review of facially valid

indictments on such grounds "would run counter to the whole history of the grand jury
institution[,] [and] neither justice nor the concept of a fair trial requires [it].” > ” Id. at 54-55

(citing Costello_v. United States, 350 U.S. 359, 76 S.Ct. 406 (1956)). This Court can see that

in the federal system, there is no obligation to present exculpatory evidence except which the
defendant supplies to the prosecution. Thus, Brady and Agurs has no application to grand
jury,

The State understands that 174.145(2) requires the State to present exculpatory
evidence of which it is aware. However, Defendant’s instant motion cites so many cases
referencing Brady and its progeny that the State wants to clarify that Brady and its progeny

11
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does not apply to the grand jury. That is true for several reasons, but primatily because the
function of a trial is different than the function of a grand jury. “A grand jury proceeding is
not an adversary hearing in which the guilt or innocence of the accused is adjudicated. Rather,
it is an ex parte investigation to determine whether a crime has been committed and whether
criminal proceedings should be instituted against any person.” United States v. Calandra, 414

U.8. 338, 343-44, 94 S.Ct. 613, 618 (1974). The Brady doctrine is meant to protect criminal

defendants from unreliable convictions arising from unfair trials (or plea proceedings), and
not from any other type of harm. Ambrose v, City of N.Y., 623 F. Supp. 2d 454, 471-72
(S.D.N.Y. 2009)

Defendant seeks to expand the obligation of the State proscribed by NRS 174, 145(2)

than what the Legislature intended by the clear and plain meaning of the statute itself,
Defendant’s attempts to expand Brady and its progeny to grand jury proceedings is unfounded
and unnecessary given its distinct purpose from trial. A defendant is never convicted based
upon an Indictment alone. At trial, when a defendant’s guilt will be determined, the defendant
will be able to present the relevant evidence on his behalf. For the purposes of grand jury the
State is only obligated to present exculpatory evidence of which it is aware.

Here, Defendant is unhappy with the court’s interpretation. Defendant believes that
this court’s interpretation will allow the State to hide behind the statute to assert that he was
not aware of the exculpatory nature of the evidence. While the State disagrees with
Defendant’s position due to reasons previously addressed, the Sfate can similarly State that
defendants will unnecessarily benefit from a decision that would require the State to present.
any possible explanation of death. For example, in every murder case where the State obtains
medical records, Defendant could scour the medical records for nearly a year to find some
miniscule possibility other than the Defendant’s action that caused her death, They would be
able to argue that a victim who was shot in the head died of high blood pressure, old age, heart
attack, diabetes, the flu or internal bleeding. The possibilities are endless. If any of those
symptoms exist in arI1y of the records the State obtains, the defendant could argue that such
evidence should have been presented to the grand jury. This would defeat the purpose of a

12
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probable cause determination. The grand jury is not a determination to prove guilt, but a
determination of whether the defendant should stand trial for the alleged criminal acts. As an
investigative body, the grand jury need not hear every piece of evidence that may be presented
at trial.
2. Moya moya was not apparent and the State exercised due diligence

In this case, the allegedly exculpatory evidence is not even slightly apparent on its face.
Moya moya is a rare disease. There is no evidence that Beverly actually had moya moya let
alone that she died from it. Defendant is speculating that she had moya moya. This is not a
smoking gun in the State’s file, but a theory of defense that Defendant discovered a year after
the grand jury indicted Defendant. Defendant may present such a defense at trial if deemed
appropriate. The State was unaware of the possibly exculpafory nature of the evidence and
thus there was no obligation to present it. Defendant may present such evidence to the trial
Jury. |

Moreover, in this case the State exercised due diligence by asking the doctors, who
reviewed the mediéal records, if there was any other possible cause of death besides blunt
force trauma. The doctors said the only cause of death was blunt force trauma. Defendant is
upset with their opinion. That is something to flesh out at trial as to what the various doctors
believe is the cause of death. However, at the time, the State was unaware of any other possible
cause of death. Thus, there was no obligation to present it

B. THE COURT PROPERLY INTERPRETTED NRS 172.045(2)

Defendant is attempting to expand Brady into the realm of grand juries. However, such
a push would venture beyond the plain meaning of NRS 172.045(2). The State cannot
overemphasize the distinct differences between trial and the grand jury. Brady has obvious
and inherent value as it relates to trials to ensure that the innocent are not convicted. However,
the purpose of the grand jury is to present probable cause. Should this court expand the |
purpose of NRS 172.045(2) beyond the plain meaning of the statute, it would give Defendants
virtually an unfettered ability to challenge probable cause and find fault with every
presentation to the gréndjury. Defendant wants the State to investigate and understand-every
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iota of medical records before presenting to the grand jury. This could grind the wheels of
justice to a virtual halt.

In this case alone, prior to presenting to the grand jury, the State received several
hundreds of pages of medical records. It also received a report from the State’s brain expert.
Virtually every page in those reports have medical terminology that is unfamiliar to the
prosecutor. Many murder cases have even more medical records. If this Court were to adopt
Defendant’s interpretation of NRS 172.045(2), the State would be obligated to go through
each page with a medical expert to learn whether it is exculpatory evidence. The State would
be required to ask the expert about all the unfamiliar words, then understand how those words
relate to the body’s functions, and then understand whether that word could cause or lead to
death based upon the facts of this case. Even after that, after the State understood sufficiently
how the numerous medical terms are relevant, if at all, the State would be obligated to educate
the grand jurors on these numerous medical terms so they could properly deliberate. This
would take numerous hours, if not days or even weeks for the more complicated cases. This
is the purpose of trial not a grand jury. Essentially Defendant is asking the State to present the
entire trial to the grand jury. That defeats the purpose and intent of the grand jury system,

Moreover, a Defendant could argue that the medical experts misinterpreted data or
symptoms that led them to the improper conclusion. Defendant could then argue that the State
had evidence in their file that disease X caused the death of the victim because al} of the
symptoms in the medical records are consistent with disease X even though the term “disease
X’ never actually appears in the reports.

The Court’s ruling is not encouraging prosecutors to be ignorant of the facts of the case.
The vast majority .of the times the exculpatory nature of the evidence is apparent. It will be
rare, as it is in this case, where the State is simply unaware of the possibly exculpatory nature
of the disputed evidence. In this case, the Statc was unaware of moya moya and its possible
relevance to the case. The State exercised due diligence in determining whether anything other
than blunt force trauma could have caused death in this case by asking its experts if there was
any other possible cause of death. The experts, who reviewed the records, indicated that there
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was no other possibility. Should the Court adopt Defendant’s interpretation, this would not
be enough. Defendant wants the State prosecutor, trained in the law and not in medicine and
anatomy, to understand the significance of a possible moya moya diagnosis even though the
doctors themselves did not find any evidence that it caused death. This is preposterous and
defeats the purpose of a grand jury. |

C. The Court’s Interpretation of NRS 174.045(2) Does Not Invalidate the Statute

Defendant argues that the Court’s interpretation of NRS 174.045(2), puts the State in a
better position to present a case to the grand jury without ever having read the file because the
State could then assert that he was unaware of exculpatory evidence in his file. This is again
a very extreme example. The State is unaware of any such cases being treated as described
above. In the vast majority of cases being presented to the grand jury, the defendant is aware
of the grand jury presentation. Often times, as in this case, the defense attorney will present a
list of evidence and witnesses to call before the grand jury in defense of the defendant, Thus,
the State will be aware of such exculpatory evidence.

Moreover, the State only has a limited amount of time to present a case to the grand
jury. It behooves the State to be as prepared as possible. It serves no purpose for the State to
wander through a presentation of the grand jury without knowing anything about the case. It
will confuse the grand jurors and could result in charges missing from the Indictment. The

benefit of reading and preparing the file greatly outweighs the minimal benefit of being able

_to inform the Court that he was unaware of certain exculpatory evidence.

Lastly, the State is not asserting that it should receive any benefit by not preparing the
file and presentation to the grand jury. The State is asserting that the Court’s interpretation,
as it relates to this case, is accurate, Inherent with the Legislature’s purpose in enacting this
statute is that the State will exercise due diligence by investigating, preparing for and
presenting to the grand jury. As discussed above, in the vast maj ority of cases presented to
the gfénd Jjury, the exculpatory nature of the evidence is obvious and it gets presented.
However, in this case, the State was unaware of the exculpatofy nature of the disputed
evidence, even after discussing the case with medical experts for several hours, Even after
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that, the prosecutor was unaware of the possibly exculpatory nature of the victim possibly
having moya moya.2 The Court’s decision comports with the plain meaning of the statute.
The Court should not reconsider its decision in this case.
CONCLUSION
Wherefore, based upon the foregoing, this Honorable Court should DENY Defendant’s

Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
DATED this 9th day of July, 20135,

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attomey
Nevada Bar #00156

n

BY 4;/

ROBERTRTEFHENS
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286

% Since Defendant filed the instant Addendum claiming that Beverly died of moya moya disease, Dr. Greco has conducted
additional analysis on the brain. She has concluded that there is no pathology present leading to a diagnosis of moya moya
disease. Beverly did not have moya moya disease. Thus, the evidence Defendant claims to be exculpatory, was in fact
not exculpatory. There was no violation of the State’s duty to present the possibility of Beverly dying from moya moya
disease because she did not have moya moya.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
Ihereby certify that service of State's Opposition to Defendant's Motion to Reconsider
Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, was made this gO&M day of July, 2015, by

facsimile transmission to:

DAN SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender
SilverDA@clarkcountynv.gov

Theresa Dodson
Secretary for the District Attorney's Office

BY:

RS/td/dvu
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P)i| mencrad TalitudE atforded defendants 1o fike prt=l'u.11 dions.

12 ’1”%‘;@:‘; "éé:}tamf alsa theorizey in o fotaote that :.ihis‘- sntion is prediatare becausethe final vrder

et had not yet beer filed, State’s Opposition, p9 .l I

13 denying the Ih[eniianl

B Rabioek, 97 Nev, 369 (198 1), the distiet court granted a pridrial petition Torwrit of hebeas dotpoy

“argaddag this State-does bére, Gal

il and the State sough relicaring: The provailing pary i

Fo i Nevada low doos /ot sz reheiring i;';n;s-hé}béﬂi&4:'&:'1';;}1}3:_‘;irtiégéﬂing; Thi 1’3-5:;%\-“;1'%:1&.-Siiitiﬁ:i?zfﬁ;ﬁ;

18 'ﬁiin“ﬁ-fa:a £ weitten drder -ef:s@l:a'r-gmg-the-i#ahem- p@'i‘!-?liii’ie~ h:nc At 37, Vhus, not vﬁh’ 1% the

o

21 *E

s 1L DEFENDANT 18 NOTREQUIRED TO PRESENT NEW RVIBENCE,

23 As esplained above, “fa] distict cont may reconsidor v previonsly slecided s if

tee iy subseguently inroduesd b the deeision ¥ elearh poiedus

eret-evidinioe
T Masonry & Tile Contmetons Assaof 8 Nev; v, Jolley, U & Win, LI, 103 ey 737, 3

26§ substaitial by

bitntially different vvidence i ane aeecpiable wiy b teger

A8 PO While inprodueing
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Anferiyation cootained Withis its fles, buf fgdred o m,

- Consequently, the Staewas nuade avars of “this uﬂcm}iaiwﬁ upost teceipt of Mol ‘tﬁ&]“& R

¥

FEUSO, jjh-é--{?{)Zit_i'i"ai“r{iii‘ng s vipe for :;:eifi%i’iitsitiiéfaiirﬁ_ﬁ;.. There s simply g0 requirenintthat o
defendint present new evidonce fo obiiin. reconsideation whed the. undertying: busis for the.

decision i based on a clearly ertorgons Titer pretution of the ralevant law,

UL -DEFENDANT'S MOTION SHOULD BE-GRANTED,
A The Cowt's reading of NES 172 04302) confliers sith-the purpose and spivit of the ko,

The State 3 ddansant - dhat, #shoold vol by pmmmr} i bhove knowledge ol eseulpatdny

is oot t'tml NRS l'?'i?i‘lf;%‘iﬁ{_ﬁ.-?ﬁ} ﬁéquires{ the p&séﬁmti{)ﬂ: éf"éﬁrﬁn}_;‘azﬁm‘y evidence 6f which the

distriet; amnnw, B pware; Slate's {)pp ;‘s 9 11721, he pmiﬁtfc:ulur i his case was-wiare of the:

potential altemate explanstions for- Beverly MeFilanes-deailr i-ev ery mesningfal sense of the

word faware™ As_pointed out iy the Deferndant’s arighl ‘petition, noles suspecting ORIy

dise sase were-& pad of the medical :z_'&smr_gfs_t’_}m- State m';ii;amd._ pior to ;!Em:-*s;zcm_mi j;i;gw p:msanfnmnrt_

T Starg does not dispure that this infoemation was Jreesent da ifs file ot the time of e prm,udmg

dical

regords on Qttolier 7. 2013, vsote than. three months hefore the grand juey was'convened. The

Statet

elatang innobétice becatse he did ot ko b eondodt wes Hegal, i

the requirentent that the Stake present exsulpatory svidsing o i‘l}:fiz--;gmﬁﬁ j‘ié;_;}g

A plaivied ont i the Dfendant’s Motion to Reconisider, “(1)F evidente highly probati

nbeetiee s ki file prosecutors) fite, e should be presumed o' reebgnize s Saniflcshee even it

heéHas aitiatly overlooked #7 Unied Sttes v Abors, 43708 97, FIO{1976), ‘The logie behing

A

Tected by the petsecator. Wil thi Srafe
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- contonts of the e froerder

evidenee s Yeléar” it would be B o chargs the St with proguied kaowledid of e Vidence,

required to present such

this presumpition iy abindantly ¢lear. The mile requiiring the presomnation of éxculpatony evidenge

wopld be répdirsda ool

vead fo e ¥ hgowielite: Agurs etcooriges the Sty

wiisting & prosecition. by sisiring that the Sate, mot the Difeadant, wiil b8 held atcomialils

when importanl. exeulpatory evidendcs 35 kepl fivin the Factlinder. The Defiiidand seod only

demonstrate- hat fhe evidense was in the State’s. file.al the time of e proceeding. To require the.

Frefendant - shoulder the barden of ‘proving. that the proseeutor aciually read-and wnderstond the:

1

ish s vitation of Nith

"

§0-estab TEMS

| bigden that no prorconrt has ever-imposed: wpon s areused seeking to invoke this statutory:

provision, The State has it pointed th 1w single towt opinfos thet suggests the Defondant has any

greater Buieden than estahl

State™s e Dnce 1 hiak been shova ot the evidence wis in the Stte™s possession, a8 wiis shown

overlooked I - Apurs st 110, This e the Rirdud correct reading of the statuie,

e downplays (he- funidamentad miscrrrage of justice. ereatod by tilg ©

V'-I‘rh;'t :

| ervonprs inteepretation of NRS F72. L45(2) by-suggesting Ut “[tihis s one o mgybe only a tow
|| cased whete the petentally xthipatry autiod of the evidencs is hil readily nppinint.™  State’s

Opp., 1 1 HE-7, The:State claims that “H]N the vastmsfacity of cises, the giculpatory mataes of

evidende i3 ofdar (L ol alteriative suspbel admiling . Ge offnie, a Wikaess Asserting that ‘thisy

fied,aivalibi, eted, Ste’s Opp., p 00 A5, The State fnphies tat when hesdalpi

but because the-excalpatory vadue. of an alterate explatation. for MeFadane’s death was ‘ol
“readily apparent,” it is perfectly sppropriate tretieve the State.of s obligation 10 present it,

Yet the distinetion drawn-by the State Hlustates exantly why. e Court’s interps

Foter Slaiay
e with an exculpatory vilue that Iy sadily appariit, My ks e

excnlpatery natwe of the-evidenee will by tlear. Thus the Sato will by abvine of suehi and Be

idence 10 i geand juey.” S8ty Opp:, 50 ILETA9. But it the Stale

4

fartog operows, ond fisa

sty thot the exculpatory Svidensé in: question was present T the

sy valme ol
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] 'ﬁu*ii{,i:n:a_i :‘ﬂfiqtim-u o Reconsider, courts have refused o entertain the 8%

ex iy

aware of the oo 1can b presumid io b

wet iatended todmply thit Beady v Maryland

o e

of ﬁu:;&:i; *‘Efus'_ the fite thay he nugligently averlooked Hlvgtrates why this Cowrd's intrpretation.of NRY.

eiee eed not be praseted because ity Wgnifieance was overlooked. Thereds no

| Jogieatteason why' the enuomie of this mation should b payedifferent § [’ittf{r;ﬁ_-‘“i;%};_t;'{::f p‘s;;;fnjy,_g-_m_ffgngg;;

ot fEsue was wralibl s opposed o an alteriay eause of death. T the State onn he presumed to be-

aware of the Jadter.

1. Brady is hot impliated by this mation,

Hs hoporkant G0 note that, Ag

thar the Stale eaviotaviid s obligatiu 10 produce ekedipatvey

thescpntens of ity own ke The paranselers of that obligitdos extend fo exeulparory evidence 1y

the State’s file; wnd the ebligatiofn i3 ha wo-way dhwiitidied by the State's Sl thar it did not

wagp the signifivance of the evidened: Thie S’y obli pation. To present el ity geidence:
BFsy & PGS

e,

- dentves: not from Brady x. T‘smwhmj but from NRY - i?’;‘l»ﬁ(‘?} Srady has m‘z!mm to-do-with this

i‘s LlC :

The Sate oités o’ W

AR ARG IR

as incorreet and whiy recoisiteration iy appropriate. As set fathiin the Difendunt’s

atgeients it

gl the rélated cases dited by the Didendant’s molion ¢
governs Wity sl Agnnls clted for the profiosition

Videiee Ty clalnsing igndrance of -




i however, the State was. eequired o ﬂ; :

ndHi (hey gy Rl anishs

| ordmbetis. Fere, howeve,

b persuasive fo the Nevads logisiafore ‘Guring. s next sesson,  Usider eurvdnt Novada b,

MeFirlane s medical- recbrds To the grand jury, .

ity will e

Ihe Kot sories thal ™, .dg

| requdng iht: State To prosent any. s ihe upia;mimn of d::mh,” State's Opp.., 112 2 1

1 i‘*‘a;z‘;ri:?cas;f&:z;._t;ﬂ;g:,ha«;f;;g&ﬁ.t‘-’{ thee f-:ﬂlﬁm, :iﬁgﬁ'llﬁiﬁgzs:ii':fg“-mi.. therent fatare of a-ordmingd fuestics systet that

honiors the preswsplion ol Snnogence and s po

nigy 10 go fredthan G dne innocent man 16 be wronghilly eprisoned, 1033 tie that whote the

el jury is Rlly nforined,.

speusad, This
fatlure 1o grasp the \lgml’ eance of the faets in ity owa {Tle, this s nod ihe system envisioned by

NRS 172.145(2),

| evicheries of “high Momd preasmu old age, beast attack, diabeles, the B of intasal biwtimk S

', i;h&;*-gfiji ag_‘fﬁ_qs,i;iit}:i" mayaraoya discase provides an explanalion for every

ateries iy ihe hrad, :mzﬁ;wmild :_mixi_s_e:';ﬁe‘!aji‘zfégé’ﬁlm miriored abiisive hoad vatimz, M }?&11’3(?3?’&

disiEase 1% ol judt & tonitributing S b the victins Joath B s case, iU would explam ;m;w

every otie of the cordage’s Badingy aad dhedlnely negate the conchusion i MeFarkne diod s

result of homivide. Mayamoya diseate tius exphiing wway the ehardes inaovay thor dishietex, (e

flu, or high blotd pressore wankd rot v oy where death was secastined h} & g,mtx%mt Wk iy

- siubthing. The State. tried this same argaiment o1 oppesition 10 e Defendant's Petition Toe Wit

6

deent the oveulpiony evidende vontaingd in Bevery

iy heselit from a.devision that' a.»mah;f

22, This
miised o the notion et i 15 helter Tor tengutity.
and” provided allof thie evience (i points o idcenee gy wiell ay
toatly retorryan fndictment. Fhisis not ag “mnertisay berd ™ o the.

his is the exnct marner in whidh ogi sysiem s supposed to work, While the State,

clearly prefers-a:system it wonld force the deferdant to sulfer the conseguences of the Stite’s.

b reduired to ’;'?1‘{7-5@}{%1; ,i"a;lr(t‘:-:};si?f—i‘a;f}iifg -
cuse Wwhort the' victiny wak shot.in the fiesd,  State's Upn;s 2 426 This' ‘E]ﬁ*;ﬁi}fﬁhﬁtlﬁﬂ&i ‘parade

Obwvicusly, thete iy vo coitdectivn hotweeh 3 guishot "!%\:"mmﬁ b i_ii,;?*:-.heﬂéidﬁ;fmti:,ﬂ:‘t!-isig;*‘ﬁ{i':‘{i# of the e
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- Thie State w;wmih Apues o this Coarthat 4 78

fiiia, ;;s;;;zw;s.:a:i;:ig@ 313 LS9, fid

-

¢

g Sate di_-;arim:.;sugh‘»J:;h.:i-ng, iif’iﬂ{}-’:i‘af,cf‘in :_E.t.‘xs{‘zjztifﬁ t,mmiuu f;ﬁ-%ﬁii‘;ihﬁ fﬁmi&s‘--:glié\.smf;ﬁiismf -f.ii:aii_ih_a%’}f:ims ChEDE

9§ ever botherdd 1o roview Beverly Melaitine’s madical recopts atalk,

10 l. The - State wiifes ‘that .. the State exersised e difigenes by wsking the doctors, whie

&

M
g

the State, it relivd upon Th assessments of Hsexports, a Clak County medipal em{mm raid o

B

—
L2

indepandent UME smployess. This is not duediligmce; :‘fifkag:r-&imte ii&im-ixcmt'riv-ezi- any i d’i‘caﬁ{m

3y [ thal the prosecrions personatly anslyzed the medicnl rocords for exelpatory evidéncs, insiead

i shifting that responsibility to ilsexpeds:

ate would arghina ek of wwarcness of an, Al

s gmite’ siispiions that  th

o ek et MoFarki

I desdi Uy e belors the wnd jhy proveediig ‘B u,rs,amh' penry that ths Rtate hotar Teass
27 | some uiiderstanding thar the medical reconls eould expose in alenmtive disgnosis, Hosny event;

28 || by redsing the possibiliy ofon Allernate covse of donth with its experts; bt refising o prosent the

i

ciged due dibigenee™ H reviewing it

reviewed the medfcal records, i there was any ofher possble vause ﬁi deall bvsmu blum Jum_
B2 tomma State’s Oppe, p 3 IE14:060 Noticeably absent from:the $tafe ‘saccount i the wlaim it

{ the prosecuior himself examingd the medical m‘md@ prmr i the gr'md ;m'v hegving: Acenrding to
private mumgm!miﬁw.t W tiutﬂmmm whetherany mcu{pﬁim‘_}i_i!gni'ﬁrme‘itimz; c:%xisﬁgv&i-, i-i'qw cait thie:

s ;)lmnh‘ s h‘;rih af muihp!n”’

Corevords. Had tlw State neraandig Tey m\gd fhese pe m‘(ig‘ i umhl?

aednsl that ¥ postid ‘Guestions: 3bout a alicrmale. catise of
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| State’s fsglipeacs s discoirmps pros

| everyiling i iy pogs

| negd bt swarty ahoat the g

-sare s 16 thes grand Jury, the Staie vielated its-slataiory obligation [ introihice exeulpatory

i;i,‘v“: i i‘}\}ﬂe q‘? o

B THE COURT'S INFERPRETATION OF NRS F2145(2) 18 CLEARLY
ERRONEOLS,

The State incorectly asserts that “Defindiot i sttempting fo expand Brady i, the. fealar

of grand juries.” S5 theegsey

citid byt Destondant inhis Motion 16 Rectnsider ate not ntended o suggest et Brady v,

1

b

{hat fhe Stateis presuned 1 be aware of Méﬂiimﬁwgﬁ’.fii‘ié_‘{.‘ﬂ:ﬂ e its ks, ThiS [wesumption firsy

arone i (h Tiaily eontext, But it equally applicable:1o Nevad

kculpatory ey wehisid this propesilion is clear; the Stk

wannot eseaps itsobligatiens By ignoting documenty in By possossion.  Ciafling an “ignorince™

exveption fo- fhe obligativn to présent xeulpatory gvideste would punish the accused Tor fiie:

sinek thede would B i refiatide way iy deformine whether the proseontor fiuly averdosked te

stanifigance. of e pvidencé inits own Bleor whether e simply eleimed o have done go in.aidey

1 winid the adveite consoquences oF iz préteial writ petition, touns heve omis o the toh

that thie faliest way & handie the:Issue i 1 charge the prosécutor with presumptive swanthessof

sion. Proving it the profectior Wit aware of-gxculpatory evidence

| Geford hie withliold it 08 just we impossible as. proving thit a defendin was awarke 604 statutory

Em“hmnbc i hevinlaied St As ;’m_@gmakmeiﬁ‘dh ;gnuta,m{,{‘ Fnot o defoss fo ["m@iacmg

exculpatory Svidines any toed than it sondd béva defense (o the sommission of & orime.

The St fears that vequiving itto setually redd its file before prosenting & case o the granid

Jary ™ could grind she wheels of justicy. o il Telt™ Suie’s Opp. pild 1112, The State.

it}

iyl of e wheels of justiv in iy purticider proces

ding, however,

WY siatuitory ohligation tw present’

fors Trony (Rly reviewiing thelr ovn Sl Fuitheitnnig

s
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-'i'is.‘es@_ta‘fiﬁg_ﬂ_m wase o rand jury, To'ttie

wyidends fiy the oug

tndictmients miy be Seopeed midte ¢ilic ety withiont the n

equired that e prand jury be Titfermedt i Be
‘other than blunt foree Hravina,

The Biate expresses copsern that “Defendant:

vy ot of medieat reeo

t the Btale to Investigats and underst

present exenlpatony eviderice; Novatla Iaw doey ¢ axpect

with (he. Rrgianeit ihat the Fegids are nv.,ﬁsan for ihz: pmmmwn, T v they Sitats

sigruled he rmpmt‘:m‘e i these records, and adw i f‘!t Efaﬁe conisnds g it is peifectly fiir to
s}ﬁa\mc‘: anndictinent by biding dn innosent explanation for McPailane’s death Sonr the factfinder.
The Stafe must be. ]ul\m;ﬂ when it fets. that reconsiderstiing will gimd e whisels of lw«ﬂu, o
hatt. When LTS ;‘m-‘ii.i;gi-sn;g_as&:;; the State fatiened thir gires ow the wheeks of § Jmstice _E::mg AQ.

The Stite than has e vixdacity suggest thal ¥ s simply (oo buidenseing far the -Sidte fo-

understamt snd-convey @ the brand 4 Anroes the Signifitanee of the é&f,’-lﬁpmﬁﬁ-‘ medical Suklence W

Fhid case, State's (};m pel 4 316, The State vomplaing: it wonkd have bt 1o -ask theexpiil.

ahout all this wifamiligs words™ i the: meddival retords add “edieate the grand fuos ol these

mimarons hedital feims so ey ol properly deliberite™ Stae Opps p g L6130 Thisse

contiplaingy abnt the brrdons 0f sisuring fatracss n the gland ; Jury proceedings e

| eNoyses or Vickiting the plain vandake cfNRE FR245(0), The: State chnnot hide exeilpatory

| evidence fibin the grand faky because Fresontiog it would he fdo iié};ﬁéﬁ;(gitﬁii'tia.iﬁg or 1 i el

'Sily' ol greseifing &

dedensd “stomey fom _:.;iis.!_;.iﬁg—z‘?:‘:g}]_giéstzgm... At fury d‘?fiﬁiﬂmili‘\iﬁs}wﬂu}'ﬂ_ wwhpmmd jﬁ{_ﬁf@

quiekly i that contriversil *Net Gty ption wete waoved fiony (i verdict S Oy

stem - Frequintly Sucrifices sfficieacy in’ favorad fainess o ihe dcptisid,

erinuigl justee

’a “ .' -'i:.'

Wty the hiat{a o investigate :md um“hmmnd

':isz-:.iiﬁiiire'}"era;’s'unt??nq to the grand, i%\i—’f}fj’a" Stafe’s {)pp',,"p I3 ’I“’ ----- pdd
INE ":i_"hrr;;_&t iite magmmua iimt it wonld E:\& wreng to espect the prosecutor seeking to. m:pmc:m !
i for e test off Em life o “ipnestiig twam;!- m;d@mta.[;t%“-i.E;-fe;i.;zg;;; oal eords of th vietio lbﬁ?ﬂ}i"é;'-f-;
et that NRS 1721452 o ‘shﬁ,d%ﬁ*% the prosestirar o

it the

spectadly whard the State Shlains the niodic Al mdords prioe fo ke THearing

o sifficent,

"c.ml}ﬁat‘gy_lf}f‘-

398

wER



“hokling that the State n eed o present

y s b as At does ot understingd the:

4§ signihieance of theey isfencer 1§ clearly-eronvous aind ouglt tivbe recansidered. This fiterprofation

i exculjtory:

Hing Blow io te

T | pupose-and spirit of e statutory obligation, This intsepretation-should’ Be rocansicered, and ihe

£ §f Trefendant's Petition fuy Wit ol Habeas Qo showll b graied.

9

i DATED fhis 21 day of July, 2015,

SOUNTY PUBLIC DEFE

6 ARLENEHESHMATL, $11076
' Breputy Priblie Defonder

1
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ROBERT STEPHENS, Deputy District Altomney
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1 LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 1 preciudes a reconsideration motion and there have been
2 Nevada Supreme Court cases where they have cousidered
G WEDNESDAY, JULY 29, 2015, 9:00 A.M. 3 motions to reconsider as valid motions in the State of
3 PROCEEDINGS 4 Nevada. _
5 MR. STEPHENS: Your Honor, on that point, I'm
4 * ok % 6  just going to submit it to your discretion,
7 THE COURT: And as I said, T don't perceive
5 THE COURT: State of Nevada versus Anthony Mayo. | g there to be a procedural bar, T appreciate you
6 MR. STEPHENS: Rob Stephens for the State. 8 addressing that. And certainly there are circutnstances
7 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Dan Sl}vel'stelll aInd Arlene 10 in which the supremne court has made it clear that simply
8 Heslmati on behalf of Mr. Mayo who is present in custody, . . . -
9 THE COURT: Yes. Ido see Mr. Mayo presentwith |11 ruling in court and having minutes does not in itself
10 us in custody. This is on for Defendant's Motion to 12 turn it into a final order, and absent that final order
11 Reconsider Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 13 it can be subject to review and changed.
12 There has been extensive briefing here, but with 14 Of course, there still has to be & standard met
13 any matter where -- I don't know that I would necessarily 15 to warant that review and change and fypically what
14 call it unique because there are some very special 16 you're looking for in those circumstances would be that
15 aspects I'think to this argument and this cu‘cumstan'ce 17 there has either been 2 misapplication of 1 i i
16 and I do want to make sure that not only for our written ) . PP . O,n obie law ora
17 record but for our oral record that we have full 18 misapprehension of the facts pertaining to the case,
18 argument, 19 I think in this particular cireumstance your
19 So, Mr, Silverstein, is there anything you want 20 arguments arz more focused on that the law has been
20 to highlight or add? { do want to point out that there 21 misapplied. But I'm open to hearing, again, any
21 was an issue raisccll about is there even a mechanism to 22 arguments that you want to highlight. T have of course
22 reconsider something in eriminal cases. 23 reviewed the briefings but [ want to make sure our record
23 I cerlainly fael that especially in cru_mnal 24 is complete
24 cases that whether there’s a rule that would give you _ plete. . ,
25  parameters for how to reconsider that anything that might 25 MR. SILVERSTEIN + And the Court ig COIT@CESIT'S
3
1 be subject to review that could create a manifest 1 misapplication of the law that [ am focused on. I don't
2 injustice is not addressed, et cetera, should be the 2 think that there is really any dispute as to the major
3 subject of the ability for counsel to come to court. So 3 relevant facts to this issue. T mean the Coyrt has found
4 Tdon't have any heartbwn over the procedwal issue, 4 that the evidence we are speaking of is the reference to
5 Dut o the extent that that becomes an issue anywhere § Moyamoya disease in the medical records, The Cowrt hag
6 along the way or could become an issue then T would want 6 found that that evidence was exculpatory. That's part of
7 tosee if you had any opinion on that, otherwise, of 7 the order that that evidence is exculpatory.
8 cowse, the substantive issues are what we are looking 8 So I don't think that there is any dispute at
9 fortoday. 9 this point as to whether or not that evidence i
10 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Well, with tespect to the 10 exculpatory within the meaning of the statute. The
11 first issue as to whether or not 2 motion to reconsider 11 dispute is whether or not the State can be considered
12 is a proper motion to be heard there are cases from the 12 aware of that evidence within the meaning of that
13 Nevada Supreme Court, as cited in my reply, that suggest 13 statute.
14 that unless the written order has been filed until that 14 And as 1 have laid out in the motions and asl
15 wrillen order is signed and filed by the Court that the 15 will lay out here again orally, Your Honor, I believe
16  Cowrt is free to reconsider its ruling. And this motion 16 that the Court's interpretation of this statute that
17 was filed about a week before the written order was filad 17 obligates the State to present excuipatory evidence, it's
18  in court, 18 NRS 172.145(2), and T believe that the Court's
19 THE COURT: Was actually entered, yes, 19 interpretation of that statute wag clearly erroneous, I
20 MR. SILVERSTEIN: So I don't believe that there 20  think the Court's reading of that statute negates the
21 is any procedural bar to reconsideration, I believe the 21 obligation that is in the statute itsel?
22 Court agrees with that, that there is no procedutal bar 22 If the Cowrt's ruling were to be applied
23 here that while there is no specific ruls, there's no 23 generally in the Regional Justice Center it would
24 specific Eighth Judicial District Court rule that allows 24 prejudice not just Mr. Mayo it would prejudice anyone who
25  for a reconsideration motion. There is also no mle that 25 comes before the court, this court or any other court,
4 6
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1 with an argument that there was exculpatory evidence that 1 would like to go back and revisit just the case law

2 should have been presented to the grand Jury. 2 holdings themselves. And Agurs is one, obviously, that

3 Here's the problem in the case. We all agree 3 you focused on and the Court looked at a5 well.

4 that the evidence was exculpatory. That's part of the 4 I guess [ want to have a little discussion here

5 Courf's order. We all agree that that evidence was in 5 because a couple things that haven't been discussed yet

6 the State’s file at the time that he went to the grand 6 in this oral argument is I don't think it's disputed that

7 jury. It was there about 2 month prior to going to the 7 not only did the State have this information but so did

8 grand jury, 8 the defense. And ifthat is in dispute prior to the

9 He had subpoenacd these medical records with the 9  grand jury that the defendant and the State both had the
10 argument that the evidence in the medical records was 10 evidence let me know,
11 important and necessary to the prosecution, so 1 But, regardless, just focusing on the State
12 Mr. Stephens definitely had these records in his 12 having it when you look at Agurs and these other cases
13  possession. 13 these holdings are in the context of a bigger picture.
14 And the question is whether or not it's fair to 14 And the context of the bigger picture is Agurs and these
15 Mr. Mayo to exonerate Mr. Stephens from the necessity of 15 other cases is these were cases, as I read them, where
16  presenting that evidence because he claims to the Court 16 because of the alleged or even if it was determined to be
17 that he was not aware of what it meant. 17 actual Brady violation, failure to disclose evidence, is
18 And I'm going to cite several cases. The most 18  because this was prior to trial and the defendant then
19 important is United States v. Agurs. And this is from 19 was unable to get a fair trial becausc they didn't have
20 the U.S. Supreme Court 1976, 20 the mformation.
21 "If evidence highly probative of 21 And the statute requires awareness and requires
22 innocence is in the State's file he -- meaning the 22 that this information be given so that the defense has
23 prosecutor -- should be presumed to recognize its 23 the opportunity to know what is there and to present it
24 significance even if he has actually overlooked 24  to him to work with it. And I think the missing piece of
25 it." 25  this argument here, and it is something that is

7 9

1 "It 1s now axiomatic that the prosecutor 1 persuasive to this Court is that this information was

2 has an affirmative duty to volunteer evidence and 2 available to both sides and that this information, not

3 in fact has presumed to have knowledge of the 3 the fact that I - sorry, I'm being long-winded here --

4 contents of his files such that claims that 4 but I am trying to avoid the we're still looking at a

5 exculpatory evidence was overlooked will not be 5 certain result that we say that the State doesn't have to

6 tolsrated." 6 look at something just because the defense happens to

7 That is United States v. Kipp, 990 F. Supp. 102. 7 come info possession of it. That's not what I'm getting

8 From f1ill v. State, this is an Alabama case, 651 8 at

9 - South Southern 2nd 1128, 9 What I'm getting at is the application of the
10 "Knowledge of the existence of evidence 10 Agurs case where something never came to the defense's
11 will be imputed to the prosecution even when the 11 attention, the State had it or knew they had it or should
12 prosecution is without actual acknowledge of the 12 have known they had it and didn't get it over and we had
13 existence of the evidence.” 13 anunfair trial. We just simply don't have those facts
14 Parker v. State, another Alabama case. 14  here.
15 "Knowledge of exculpatory evidence may 15 And the circumstance that concerns me is at the
16 be presumed as when the information is in the 16 same time the State has this the defense has it, And at
17 prosecutor's files." 17 some point awareness is an issue and so [ want to bring
18 Mr. Stephens in his opposition to the Court 18 it back to your specific argument and the concerns you
19 tried to draw a distinction between the medical evidence 19 have about the specific issues in this case. But I do
20 that we are talking about here and, for example, an alibi 20 need to address the distinction that I see from Agurs and
21 witness or a statement from someone else confessing to 21 Kipp versus this case.
22 the crime. 22 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Certainly, Your Honor. And I
23 THE COURT: Mr. Silverstein, before we move over |23  agree with the Court that [ cannot make a claim here that
24 to sort of perhaps examples or hypotheticals of how this 24 Mr. Mayo received an unfair trial. I just can't make
25 might play out in this circumstance, how that fits in, I 25 thatclaim. T can make the claim that Mr, Mayo received

8 10
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1 anunfair grand jury proceeding. He absolutely reccived 1 what it is you just said a minute ago.

2 anunfair grand jury, 2 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Sure.

3 And the way that the law is written, because 3 THE COURT: Well, I have no disagreement with

4 Mr. Mayo has just as much right for his grand jurors to 4 you that the Court has detenmined that this information

5 hear the exculpatory evidence as he has a right for his 5 could have been exculpatory or would be exculpatory, [

6 trial jury to hear that evidence. 6 don't recall making a finding and tying it into that, I

7 And the State has the same obligation to present 7 want to make sure I understood what vou just said about

8 that evidence to the grand jury prior to that proceeding 8 cause of death,

9 as they do to provide it to me prior to the trial. 9 MR. SILVERSTEIN: The reason that this evidence
10 Had they taken this case to the preliminary 1@ i3 exculpatory is because it would provide an altemate
11 hearing as opposed to the grand jury where I am not 11 explanation for the death,
12 allowced to be present at the grand jury, I'm not there, [ 12 THE COURT: T just wanted to make sure I didn't
13 don't have the capability to explain to the grand jury 13 miss something,
14 what this Moyamoya disease nieans and the significance of |14 Go ahead,
15 why this is important and why this is an alternate 15 MR. SILVERSTEIN: It is not whether or not it
16 explanation to this woman's death. [-wasn't there, 16  would be proven before the grand jury that this man is
17 Had they gone to the preliminary hearing then I 17 innocent of the crime but the grand jury had the right to
18  could understand the argument that, Well, the defense had 18 consider that information in deciding whether or not he
19 ittoo. They could have cross-examined, they could have 19 should be indicted on a count of murder,
20 Drought this up and that's why that argument wouldn't fly 20 The grand jury had the right and Mr. Stephens
21 at preliminary but the grand jury is very different. 21 had the obligation to inform them that, Hey, there may be
22 M. Stephens is the only representative there. He is the 22 another explanation here. There may be another reason
23  only one making the argument to the grand jury as to why 23  that this woman died as opposed to what the expeit
24 Mr. Mayo should be indicted and that's why he has this 24 testified to which ts, O, the only possible explanation
25 obligation. 25 here is Mr. Mayo's conduct. And that is simply not the

11 13

1 Whether or not the defense had the information, 1 case and the medical records bear that out.

2 with all due respect, T do not believe that that's 2 That testimony from that expert was at best

3 relevant to this issue as to whether or not -- 3 highly misleading to the grand jury. At worst it

4 THE COURT: Of course the grand jury's purpose 4 destroyed the grand jury's function in this case to clear

5 s to simply determine probable cause from the totality 5 the innocent no less than bring the trial to those who

6 of the circumstances, so there is a different analysis 6 may be guilty. '

7 would you agree based on information that could have or 7 Where a prosecutor refuses to present

& would have been provided to determine whether the grand 8 exculpatory evidence he in effect destroys the existence

9 jury would have met the much lower standard of probable 8 of an independent and informed grand jury. That's also
10  cause versus ultimately guiilt beyond a reasonable doubt. 10 from Sheriffv. Frank.
11 MR. SILVERSTEIN: But, Your Honor, the mission | 11 The problem here, Your Honor, is that the grand
12 of the grand jury -- this is from Sheriff v. Frank -- the 12 jury was not told about critically important information
13 mission of the grand jury is to clear the innocent no 13 that may have influenced their judgment that may have
14 less than to bring the trial to those who may be guilty. 14 avoided an indictment on a murder charge from Mr. Mayo.
15 There was evidence that was withheld from the 15 Now, [ want to talk about the distinction that
16  grand jury that would suggest not just that Mr. Mayo 16 M. Stephens attempts to draw between this medical
17 wasn't there at the tine that this happened, bui that no 17 evidence here and, for example, an alibi witness or some
18 crime was commtitted, that this woman's death was the 18  other type of evidence that in Mr, Stephen's view where
18 result of a preexisting medical condition. That is 19 the exculpatery value would be clear, And the argument
20 . absolutely exculpatory evidence. 20 being that here it wasn't clear,
21 And the courts agreed with the fact that that 21 There is nothing to prevent a prosecutor in the
22 evidence is exculpatory. Now we are just arguing about 22 next case down the line when, let's say, that there's a
23 whether or not Ms. Stephens should have been obligated to |23 statement from an alibi witness. What would prevent the
24 provide it. I think that these cases; Agurs, Kipp -- 24 prosecutor from coming before this court and saying,
25 THE COURT: F'msorry. Can you backup andsay |25 Well, Your Honor, [ was out late the night before that 1

12
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1 went io the grand jury; T didn't have a chance to read 1 needed to produce to show a violation of this statute is
2 the entire file and that particular folder with that 2 that there was exculpatory evidence present in this file
3 particular alibi witness statemnent, [ just didn't get to 3 when it went (o the grand jury and I have shown those
4 that. I'm sorry. I'm meant to but T just didn't, 4 things.
5 Now under this Court's reading of the statute 5 And to interpret the statute, to add this
6 that would not be a violation of the obligation to 6 additional requirement that now not only do [ have to
7 present exculpatory evidence because the prosecutor 7 show that he had it but I have to show that he understood
8 .wasn't aware. That is the point. 8 it that's impossible. That's a showing that can never
9 THE COURT; How would that be due diligence? 1 9 be made. The prosecutor could always come to the court
10 appreciale your argument maybe if the Court has due 10  and say, Well, T didn't understand why that alibi wilness
11 diligence out of the requirement, - 11  was important. I didn't understand that that statement
12 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Absoclutely. That is exactly 12 would put the client somewhere else at the fime of the
13 what your reading of this statute has done because 13  crime. Ijustdidn't get it.
14  Mr. Stephens could come before the court whatever the 14 And how do we disprove that? Do we put
15 evidence, whatever it is no matter how exoculpatory if is, 15 Mr. Stephens on the stand, give him a polygraph. The
16 no matter how clear, if Mr. Stephens were to say, Well, 16 only prosecutor that is bound by this obligation under
17 TI'msorry, I just missed it, that's the defense's 17 the Court's ruling, the only prosecutor that is bound is
18 obligation under this court's reading of the statute. 18 one that is angelic; that is not only going to follow all
19 THE COURT: This Court's ruling specific to the 19 the rules butis going to come into court and admit, Yes,
20 faci that we have an obscure reference to an obscure 20 1 did know about that and I didn't present it even
21 disease buried in hundreds and hundreds of pieces of 21  knowing (hat it was exculpalory,
22 paper and medical records and ultimately making the 22 Because if a prosecutor comes in and says [
23 determination that with due diligence this wasn't found, 23  didn't understand that that was exculpatory under this
24 it wasn't aware. That's the Court's understanding of 24 Court's ruling the obligation to present it doesn't
25 what happened here. Not, Oh, I just didn't get to it but 25 apply. And that is the problem. That's why the courts
15 17
1 it's there. 1 in Brady said over and over, [t's not a defense to say [
2 T understand your argument saying, Hey, whether 2 didn't understand the significance of the evidence.
3 they are aware of it or not then it should still be 3 Because the courts have recognized it would be impossible
4 considered exculpatory and it should still have the same 4 for a defendant to ever prove a violation of (his statute
5 net effect. Butl do believe the statute requires due 5 if also had to show his level of knowledge or his
6 diligence and awareness and I could not find that there 6 degree of understanding.
7 was a lack of due diligence here. So 1 don't see where 7 It is not fair to Mr. Mayo to require this
8 this ruling would obviate the need for that requirement. 8 additional hurdle for the defense fo jump. His rights
9 MR, SILVERSTEIN: Well, with all due respsct, 9 were violated and it happened because this man
10 again, Your Honor, the statute does not mention due 10 (indicating) had evidence in his file that he didn't
11 diligence. That, again, is something that has been read 11 produce to the grand jury.
12 info the statute. It's just not there. 12 Now, if the ruting is going to turn on whether
13 THE COURT: Well, I believe the case law has 13 ornot due diligence was performed then I'm going to ask
14 read that into the statute. 14  for a brief evidentiary hearing to ask Ms. Greco exactly
15 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Actually, Your Honor, the case | 15  what this conversation was that they had. Therc was at
16 law says that when there is evidence highly probative of 16 least some conversation based on Mr. Stephens' responses.
17 inmocence in the file the prosecutor should be presumed 17 There was some conversation between Mr. Stephens and his
18 to recognize its significance. If we are going to go by 18 experts about alternate canses, And 1 'm assuming that
19 (he case law, the case law is very clear that you cannol 19 thatjust didn't come out of the blue, I mean that
20 get out of your obiigation to present exculpatory 20 conversation, that question had (o be sparked by
21 evidence by saying that you overlooked the evidence. 21 something. So perhaps there was something in the medical
22 Over and over again the rulings that I have 22  records that gave him some clue that there might be
23 pointed oul in my molion over and over again say the 23 something else. Imean why ask the expert, Is there an
24 courts will not tolerate this argument that, Well, it's 24 alternate cause?
25 inmy filebut I overlooked it. The only thing that I 25 So I'think there was some degree of awareness

16

18

08/06/2015 11:01:14 AM

Page 15 to 18 of 32

5 of 10 sheets

406



1 just based on - 1 But I think the whole thing here jist rests on,
2 THE COURT: Well, I can see a basis to ask that 2 okay, in hindsight going back something is in there that
3 question just to eliminate that issue without there 3 nobody would including the defense see, perceived or
4 actually being some belief that there was, But that 4 known it was exculpatory, but now that we determine that
5 asidc, one of the things I want to sort of make sure our 5 itis we go back and undo everything.
6 record is clear here, I don't disagree with you that due 6 Again, I just wanted to put it in context. The
7 diligence is in the statute. Tdon't want to misspeak 7 due diligence comment for me was that I don't perceive
8 here or make it sound like I'm adding yet another layer 8 any lack of due diligence on the part of the prosecutor
9 of what the concern is here, 9 here in these circumstances, for what that's worth in the
10 I guess my point is on the facts and 10 analysis, so unique to these facts and circumstances
11 circumstances as the Cowrt found it in this case, the 11 because you were drawing analogies to the net effect of
12 Court found that, again, first and foremost, that these 12 this casc being, Well, somcbody didn't even bother to
13  medical records were in the possession of both sides 13 look or somebody neglected to look at a file or somebody
14 prior to the grand jury. 14 just missed it and that somehow this ruling would give
15 Secondly, that a -- and I'll use these terms 15 them a pass.
16 again -- obscure reference to a disease which no one 16 Lantnot trying to disagtee with you. [ am just
17 knows what it is buried within a large volume of medical 17 trying to put it info context of what [ meant by the due
18  records does not -- how do I phrase this without 18  diligence and how it pertains to these facts.
19 stumbling upon the arguments that we are making here, 19 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Your Honor, obviously, I'm
20 That it does not stand out to be something that would be 20 nmch more concerned about the situation where a
21 lmown at some point, 21 prosecutor intentionally does that.
22 Doctors reviewed these records. Were asked if 22 THE COURT: Of course.
23 there were alternate causes and testified that there were 23 MR. SILVERSTEIN: But the effect to Mr. Mayo is
24 not. It's hard for this Cowt to determine at this point 24 thesame. 1mean the effect on my client is the same
25 i time that there was an unfair grand jury presentation 25 whether he mtentionally withheld it or negligently
19 21
1 from the prosecutor's perspective or from the prosecutor 1 withheld it. The effects of Mr. Mayo's rights are the
2 in this case under those facts and circumstances. 2 same. And there's been a violation of the statute either
3 And Tunderstand your argiument that we now have 3 way whether it was intentional or not,
4  gone through the records. We now have seen and 4 In many respects it is not relevant. What's
5 determined what is this disease. The Court hasnow found 5 relevant here is that information contained in his file
6 that this disease could be an alternative explanation for 6 was cxculpatory. That finding has been made. Once that
7 the circumstances of the death such that it would be 7 finding has been made that that evidence is exculpatory
8 exculpatory and now we are going in hindsight and saying, 8 and we know that it was in his file the analysis, in my
9  Okay, that in and of itself means we're done. That in 9 opinion, 18 done,
10 and of itself means that there was a constitutional 10 Because any other ruling is going to open the
11 violation because it exists. I get that's your argument, 11 door for a prosecutor to come in and say, Well, [ didn't
12 But I wanted to be clear of what the findings 12 read it; [ just missed it; you know my co-counsel took
13 were and the Court's point in the due diligence 13  that file home; my dog ate that alibi statement.
14 discussion was that there doesn't seem to be any 14 Whatever reason a prosecutor can come up with as to why
15 indication here of those other scenarios of T just didn't 15 it was not presented and now a defense to his obligation
16 getto it; I wasn't looking at it; [ wasn't paying 16  and that's why I say that if this ruling stands and if
17 attention; we gave it to doctors; they looked at it we 17 this interpretation stands this obligation no longer
18  asked them if there were alternate causes and they said 18 exists.
19 no, 19 The interpretation that the Court has made of
20 Both the State and the defense had it and nobody 20 - this obligation negates the obligation. Because if a
21 Imew what Moyamoya discase was. Now we go and through |21 prosecutor comes in and says, I didn't present it because
22  the defense's due diligence looked it up and see what it 22 1 didn't know about it there is 1o more obligation, Y our
23 isand find that there's something here that very well 23 Honor. It might as well not be in the statute. And if
24 may be an explanation, that's why the Court determined 24 Mr. Stephens wants to have that statute repealed then he
25 that it was potentiatly exculpatory. 25 should go to the legislature and make those arguments to

20
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the legislature.

Knowing that this obligation is on the books it
has to be interpreted in a way that gives it rights, It
has to be interpreted in a way that is congsistent with
the purpose and the spirit of why we have this rule. And
we have this rule to protect people like Axnthony Mayo
where there's exculpatory evidence that may persuade a
grand jury not to indict.

The reason we have the statute is so that people
n Mr. Mayo's shoes get a fair hearing and the grand jury
hears everything not just the facts that Mr, Stephens
thinks points towards guilt. They should be allowed to
hear everything.

Aund the Court has said multiple times, Well,
this is a note that is buried in hundreds of pages of
medical records. Well, that may be true, Your Honor. 1
have no control over what percentage of the records are
exculpatory. But Iknow that even if it's one percent,
he has aright to that one percent to be presented.

It's not about how many records or how many
pages of records were there; it's about the significance
of what was there. And there was evidence that the grand
jury was entitled to hear. There was evidence in his
possession that he failed to present, That is a

violation of this statute, Your Honor.
23
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highty probativc of innocence or is in the State's file
he should be presumed to recognize its significance even
if he's actually overlooked it.

The important words here are highly probative of
innocence. It's not highly probative of innocence. And
i fact let me go further to say back to a case
discussing Brady and its obligations. Brady is for
trial. Grand jury has a separate purpose, and therefore,
has a separate standard when we are doing what evidence
was or was 10t presented to the grand jury.

Brady specifically says that all exculpatory
evidence within the State's possession or that the State
should have been aware of needs to be disclosed to the
defense.

Whereas, the grand jury statutes specifically
uses different language. It says:

"All exculpatory evidence of which
the State is aware must be disclosed."

I think this word "aware" provided the Court the
discretion to determine whether or not the State was
aware. And if they weren't aware whether it was because
the dog ate the paperwork or whatever it is, then the
Court can issuc some sort of appropriate remedy based
upon that,

But I think in this specific case where the

25
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THE COURT: Okay. Let me hear from
Mr. Stephens.

MR. STEPHENS: Thank you, Your Honor, I think
you've hit upon a point that I want to address with you,
so Iwilltry to be brief on a lot of this.

As far as whether or not defense counsel had the
evidence, I do believe that that is relevant because 1
think it shows whether or not the prosecutor was aware of
that evidence.

We received a letter from the defense in this
case prior to grand jury explaining the evidence that
they wanted to present, That evidence was presented to
the grand jury. When a medical record in two pages
mentioned she "may” or "it could be consistent with
Moyamoya™ or a variety of other causes. When I asked my
experts to explain these things to me or asked them, Hey,
are there any other causes of death to be explained --
that could cause this death and they say, no, I don't
know what else I can do without sitting here and
literally taking hours and hours, potentially weeks and
months to understand the medical records. Tam not
trained in medicine; 1 rely upon these experts to explain
these things to me,

As far as the Agurs statement that is repeated
often through the defense's motion is that if evidence is

24
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State relies upon two doctors; a brain expert and a
coroner and they both say there is no other cause of
death, I don't see, in my personal opinion, how this
potentially could be exculpatory.

You have already decided that issue so 1 will
not address that any further.

But the grand jury has a separate purpose than
trial. And grand jury is to determine whether or not
there is evidence for which the defendant should stand
charge.

Lastly, Your Honor, what I will just say in
closing here, Your Honor, is the Court has, I believe,
appropriately tried to draw that line of balance with
this statute. Brady has a very strong position because
the consequences are significant. Tt's a conviction,
it's potential prison and those types of things. That is
absolutely significant,

Grand jury also has an important role in the
process but the consequences aren't nearly as significant
because he is not being adjudicated of anything. The
defense will be able to present the Moyamaya defense at
trial. They will be able to explain to the jurors how
this would be relevant, whether it is relevant and we'll
be able to put on a rebuttal case,

The Btate exercised its due diligence in asking

26
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1 theexperts. And I will state for the record because [ 1 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Yes, Your Honor. 1mean
2 think there were implications that the State did not 2 knowing this obligation exists, if there was language in
3 prepare the case, what I will say is I spent probably 3 those records that Mr. Stephens didn't understand -- he
4 close to an hour with Dr. Greco in my office going over 4 told the Court that lie did look at the medical records
5 the brain, going over pictures, going over some of the 5 but he can't be expected to understand them because
6 records with her. 6 there's big words and he's not a doctor he's a lawyer.
7 I would also state that I spent time with 7 And I understand those arguments. But when you are
8 Coroner Elaine Olsen at her office. 1 can't remember the 8 responsible for charging someone with a crime that could
9 exact time I spent there. And in addition to that I went 9 land them in prison for the rest of his life I do not
10 through the medical records. I don't understand the 10 believe it is too much to ask the State of Nevada to make
11 relevance of Moyamoya when I was presenting it at that 11 sure that they do understand the significance of those
12 time to the grand jury. Itis a rare disease and we 12 rccords.
13 don't even kirow if she had the disease, In fact there 13 Knowing fill well that there's an cbligation
14 has now been a report saying that there is no 14 that if there is something exculpatory in these records
15 pathological findings that she actually had it. 15 it has to be presented, knowing that obligation exists
16 Your Honor, what I would ask is that you deny 16 how do younot take the fime to cducate yourself and
17  the defendant's motion for reconsideration. 17 determine whether or not there's something to be
18 THE COURT: Mr. Silverstein, any final rebuttal? |18 presented to make suxe that this man's rights are
19 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Just briefly. Tell Mr. Mayo |19 protected.
20 that the consequences of the grand jury indicting him for 20 THE COURT: Mr. Silverstein, this is where 1
21 murder are not significant. Tell a man who has been 21 think the argument gets weaker is if you go down a path
22 incarcerated because the grand jury indicted him on a 22 of no matter what happened they absolutcly should have
23  mwrder charge who has been sitting in jail with an 23 figured out what this was and they should have known what
24  indescribably high bail because of that indictment. Tell 24  this was, i.e.,, more due diligence than they exercised
25  this man that the consequences of a grand jury proceeding |25 and that they didn't do did it and that's why I think
27 29
1 are not significant. That's outrageous to say, Well, 1 that's a weaker argument than the argument that I heard
2 because it's only the grand jury we shouldn't really care 2 you making at the beginning, which is it doesn't matter
3 too much about the statute here. Tt's only the grand 3 what efforts they made to try to figure it out. If it is
4 jury; it's not the trial. 4 exculpatory, it's 1n there and we're done.
5 THE COURT: The actual argument that I heard, 5 If you go down the road of somehow in these
6 Mr. Silverstein, in all honesty, and T understand your 6 unique facts and circumstances that they should be
7 passion for the circumstance. I don't think anybody 7 determined to be lacking because they didn't figure this
8 disputes there have been severe consequences fo Mr. Mayo | 8 out that is 4 much weaker argument to me than saying,
9 already in this case. I think the distinction of what we 9 Look, we now know that it's in there. It's exculpatory.
10 heard though was that the statute that is applicable here 10 End of story.
11 to grand jury does have language that is different and 1" MR. SILVERSTEIN: To the extent that I'm
12 does say something about awareness. And we are being 12 suggesting that he could have fixed it by reading for an
13  asked to apply case law which talks about a trial which 13  extra hour, that is not what I am suggesting. The only
14 has different requirements. 14 fix here is that the grand jury needed to be informed of
15 But coming back to your point, your point as I 15 this information. That is really the only thing. Iam
16 understand it is that the underpinnings of the 16 not suggesting that if he had spent more time with the
17  constitutional rights should apply if it's exculpatory 17 file it would have been different.
18  rcgardless of whether they arc aware, it should be 18 What needed to be different is the grand jury
19 applicable here and it should have the results that it 19 needed to be told that there is an alternate explanation
20 should have. And it really doesn't matier what they do 20  this woman actually could have died from a preexisting
21 or when they do it or how the statute is worded, the 21 medical condition. That information is what the grand
22 clear issue is once we determine that there was something 22 jury needed to have for this man to have a fair
23 exculpatory i those records regardless of who had it and 23 proceeding in front of that grand jury. And if they
24 who was aware of it, at the end of the day it now needs 24 still indict him in light of that evidence there can be
25 to have rclicf to Mr. Mayo. 25 no complaint,

28

30

S of 10 sheats
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But the fact is that this statute was on the
books. It requires that if the State is going to indict
somebody -- and remember this is a choice that the State
made. They made the choice to go to the grand jury where
[ am not there as opposed to taking it to a preliminary
hearing where I am there.

And by making that choice he is accepting the
ebligation that if there is something exculpatory in the
file he's got to present it. He accepted that obligation
10 and now Mr. Mayo pays the consequences for its violatjon.
11 It's simply not fair,
E 12 The statute was vielated because there was
13 exculpatory evidence in his possession that wasn't
14 presented. That's all Ineed to show. That's ali { can
15 show. Tcaanot get inside of his head and explain to you
16 exactly why despite reading the records --
17 THE COURT: 1jusl wanted to clarily that
18  argument. Allright. The Court will take this under
19 advisement and we will issue a determination as soon as
20 possibie.

o~ D Wwm P W N -

21 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you, Your Honor.
22 _ MR, STEPHENS: Thank you, Your Honor.
23 (Proceedings were concluded.)
24
25 .
31
1 REPCRTER'S CERTIFICATE
2
3 STATE OF NIVADA )]
) g1
4 COUNTY OF CLARK )
5
[ I, BRENDAR SCHROQEDER, a cartified court raporter
7 in and [or the State of Wevada, do hereby certify that
8 ’ the foragoing and attachad pages 1-32, inclusive,
Bl comprise a trua, and accurakte transcript of the
10 protoad:ngs rsported by ma in the matter of THE STATE OF
11 NEVADA, Plainbiff, wergus ANTHONY MAYO, Defendant, Case
12 We. €295313, on July 2%, 2015,
13
: u
: 16 Dated this &th day of Augqust, 2015,
17
18 /8/ Branda Zrchroeder

EBREMDA SCHROEDER, CCR NG. 867

3z
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NEVADA BAR NOQ. 0556

2 309 Souwth Third Street. Suite 2206 * CLERK OF THE COURT
Las Vepas, Nevada §9155

30 (702) 455-4685

Attorney for Prefendant

4
5 _ DISTRICT CQURT
6 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

T THESTATE OF NEVADA. )
g PlaintifT, ; CASENO, €295313
9 . % DEPT. NO, XXV
W ANTHONY MAYO, )] DATE: January 4, 2016
) TIME: 9:00 ATM.
[1 IXeteidant, )
- —— )
13 DBEFENDANT'S MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS
M4 COMES NOW, the Defendatit. ANTHONY MAYO, by and through his counsel.

13 | DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, and ARLENFE. HESHMATI, Deputy Public
16k Deterder. and hereby requests that this Court enter an order staying all District Court proceedings

17 1 pursuant i NRAP 8(a), m order tor the Defendant to seek a Wit of Mandamus from the Nevada

IS | Suprewme Court,

(3 this Motion is made and based upon atl the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
20 0 atached Deeleraiion of Counsel .;md oral argument at the lime se( for hearing this votion.

21 DATED thiy 37 ﬁ_’day of December, 2015,

22 PUILLP 1. KOHN

CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

23 |
< m e

24 Byt m
- DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, 37518 ~

25 Deputy PuhligD_el’f.:l er

26 By, < ﬂ_ﬂﬂ
_ ARLENL HESTIMATI, #11076 '

27 |. LDreputy Public Defender
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Delvmdam eited nwmerous cases for the proposition that “[i]f evidence highly probative of
nweenee is in fthe prosecutor’s] file, he should be presumed to recognize its significance even if

b has actally overlooked it United States v. Agwrs, 427 U.S. 97, 110 (1976). The Defendant

peinted ont that by allowing the State te evade its obligation to present exculpatory evidence wilk
the claim that it did not read or understand the contents of its own lile, (he .Cﬂurt had effectively
preciuded all relief under the statute. On November 5, 2013, the Court entered a minute order
stummarilyv denving the Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider,

3. That the Defendant believes the Court’s inlerpretation of NRS 172.145(2)
war clearly erroncous. and the denial of his Petition alleging a viclation of this statute was an
arve oF diseretion. The Defendant has exhausted all known avenues to have the Stle's violation
of NRE 172145020 remedied by this Cowt, and that extracedinary relief from the Nevada Supreme
Coul ds pecessiry 10 assure that the Defendant’s rights under Nevada law and the United States
Crnsilutio are sdeguetely protected.

{s, That the Defendant witl seek a Writ of Mandamus from the Nevada

Stpreme: Cowrt ordering that this Courl grant the Defendant’s Petition, or. in the alternative, .

recnasider the Detendant’s Petition ender the coreet inferpretation of NRS 172.145(2). At oral
arzusent an this isste on March 30, 2015, this Cowt acknowledged that it *...very welt may be
ny sinterpreting e statute.” and graciously offered to “.. include in whatever erder is issued any
Ivtemge U would be necessary to allow the Supreme Court 10 have a Jook at (his issue sooner
rebr tsn ]et&r T Pranseript, March 30, 2015, p.04 11.18-19, p 5 1.1-3. The Defendant intends to
sees this review, One of the prerequisites for seeking this reliel is that the Defendant must first
reepuiest @ stay of the proceedings in District Court. Therefore, the Defendant respectfully requests
i sliy of these proveedings in order to rafse these issues with the Nevada Supreme Court.

| declare under penalty of perjury (hat the foregoing is true and corrcet. (NRS

14
VXECUTED this g day of December, 2015,

S

DAN A, SILVERSTEIN
3
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STEVEN B. WOLESON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

ROBERT STEPHENS

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

CLERK OF THE COURT

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

-V§- CASENO: (C-14-295313-1

ANTHONY MAYO, : .
42581304 DEPT NO: XXV

Defendant.

" STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S
MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS

DATE OF HEARING: JANUARY 4, 2016
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County

District Attorney, through ROBERT STEPHENS, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and hereby
submits the attached Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To Stay '

Proceedings.

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached pointé and aothorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

I
/"
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
PROCEDURAL SUMMARY
On January 17, 2014, an Indictment was filed against Anthony Mayo (Defendant)

charging him with Murder, Battery Constituting Domestic Violence — Strangulation, Coercion
and Dissuading a Witness. The Grand Jury Transcripts were prepared on January 30, 2014,
Defendant requested more time to file the writ beyond the 21 days. Both parties requested
additional time to file the Return and Reply. On February 28, 2014, Defendant filed a Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus. The State’s Return was filed on April 4, 2014, On April 18, 2014,
Defendant filed his Reply. The Court heard arguments on April 21, 2014. The Court passed
the case to May 7, 2014 for decision. On said date, the Court did not issue its decision.

At calendar call on February 2, 2015, the Court indicated that it needed to decide the
writ. Before allowing the Court to decide the writ, Defendant filed an Addendum to the
pending writ: This Addendum was filed more than one year after the Grand Jury transcripts
were prepared and nearly ten months since arguments on the initial Writ occurred. This
“Addendum?” to the writ raised new issues, unrelated to the initial writ. The State filed a Returm
to Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. On April 20, 2013, this
Court Denied Defendant’s Initial Petition and Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of
Habeas Corpus. On June 29, 2015, Defendant filed a Motion to Reconsider Denial of Petition
for Writ of Habeas Cofpus. The Court denied Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider Denial of
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on November 5, 2015.

Trial is set for February 22, 2016.

On December 8, 2015, Defendant filed the instant Motion to Stay Proceedings. The

State’s Opposition follows.
' FACTUAL SUMMARY

On or about August 8, 2012, Beverly McFarlane (Beverly) was liVing with her husband,
Anthony Mayo (Defendant) and their two children, Ashanti and Ashley. Grand Jury
Transcript (GJT) 41. Defendant became upset when Beverly accidentally called Defendant

while at work. GJT 54. Defendant was irritated and annoyed by the phone call. GJT 54.

WAZ012PNTT33V 2FN1733-0PPS-(MAYO_ANTHONY_D!_04_2016)-002.DOCX
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When Beverly arrived home from work, Defendant was playing with a beach ball with the
kids. GJT 56. Beverly asked that they stop playing while she began cooking dinner, GJT 56.
This caused a verbal argument between Beverly and Defendant. GJT 56. Once dinner was
finished they all went upstairs to the master bedroom. GJT 38.

Another argument arose about the cooking. GJT 59. Defendant ordered Ashanti and
Ashley to their room. GIT 59. Defendant was so mad that his eyes were “popping out of his
head” and his vein was popping out of his forehead. GJT 66. Beverly tried to call 911 but
Defendant stapped the phone out of Beverly’s hand. GJT 59. The phone slid under the fridge
in the room. GJT 72. Ashanti tried to retrieve the phone, but Defendant stopped her. GJT 72,

Defendant then mounted Beverly and began choking her. GJT 59. Out of fear, Ashanti
and Ashley went to their room which 1s directly across from the master bedroom. GJT 60.
Defendant punched Beverly numerous times in the face and body. GIT 63. Beverly kept
screaming for help. GIT 63. Defendant then began to choke her. GJT 63. Ashanti saw
Defendant pushing Beverly down into the bed. GJT 63. She knew Beverly was being choked
because she could hear it in Beverly’s voice. GJT 64. Beverly would scream and then she
would just stop. GJT 64. |

Ashanti eventually tumed away from the beating in an attempt to find her mom’s phone
in her purse. GJT 60. Ashanti was unable to find the phone in the purse. GIT 61. Defendant
observed Ashanti searching for the phone. GJT 72. He told Ashanti that if she called the
police, he would knock Beverly out. GJT 73. He also threatened to “whoop” Ashanti. GJT
73. Ashanti then hid behind the door so she could not see what Defendant was doing to her
mother. GJT 61. |

At some point, Defendant rhetorically asked where his bat was. GJT 61. Defendant
then went into the garage to look for his bat. GJT 61. Knowing where the bat was located,
Ashanti rushed downstairs and hid the metal bat from Defendant. GJT 61. Ashanti then
returned to her room. GJT 62, Unable to find the bat, Defendant returned to the master
bedroom this time grabbing a vacuum. GJT 62. Defendant closed the door behind him. GJT

64. Ashanti could hear her mother screaniing to “stop” and “not to do that.” GJT 64. She
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then heard a loud bang. GIT 65.

Some time passed and Beverly exited the bedroom with a limp. GJT 65. She was
severely beaten, with scratches on her face. GJT 70. Dust was in her hair and on her person.
GJT 65. There was also dust on one side of the bed. GJT 65. The vacuum was broken. GIT
68. Beverly was having a hard time speaking. GIT 71. Beverly took a bath and then tried to
sleep 11 Ashanti’s room, however, Defendant demanded that she sleep in the master bedroom
with him. GIJT 71.

The next morning, August 9, 2012, Ashanti heard Defendant apologizing to Beverly.
GJT 74. Beverly slept almost all day. GJT 74. Beverly woke up at around dinner time. GJT
74. She could only whisper. GJT 75. Ashanti brought some food to Beverly. GIT 75. It
appeared to Ashanti that her mom was “very sick.” GJT 76. Beverly’s eyes were red and her
skin was peeled off on one side of her face. GJT 76-77.

On August 10, 2012, Ashanti was woken up by Defendant yelling and cursing at
Beverly to go to work. GJT 44, 46, After Beverly informed Defendant that she would not be
going to work, the Defendant Ieft the residence. GJT 44. At this time, Beverly got out of bed
and tried to call the police. GJT 42-44. Beverly limped to the stairs. GJT 47. Beverly could
only whisper, even though she was trying to talk louder. GIT 48. Initially Beverly called 411.
GIT 49. Then she calted 311. GIT 44-45. Because Beverly was having a difficult time
talking, Ashanti eventually took over the 911 call. GJT 43, 45.

Officer Vital and other police officers eventually arrived at the residence and tried to
speak to Beverly; however, again Beverly had difficulty communicating with them. GJT 43,
86. Initially Officer Vital spoke to Ashanti who pointed him towards Beverly, GJT 87.
Officer Vital described Beverly as “a little lethargic, disoriented, kind of displaying sort of
intoxicated type of person clues, but I could not smell any odor of alcohol coming from her.”
GIT 87. She had slurred speech and muffled sentences. GJT 87. She would get lost in the
conversation. GIT 87. Beverly was unable to give her date of birth, name the President or
identify the day of the week. GIT 87-88. Officer Vital also noticed that she had abrasions on

the side of her face and her face was swollen. GIT 88-89. Beverly had pettechia and
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scratching on her neck. GIT 89. Ashanti testified that Beverly did not have a limp or difficulty
communicating until after Defendant beat Beverly. GJT 52. Beverly was taken to the hospital.
GJT 91.

Officer Aker followed Beverly to the hospital. GIT 93. Officer Aker has taken almost
240 hours in domestic violence training courses and is permitted to teach other cadets about
domestic violence and strangulaﬁon. GIT 94. Officer Aker also attended a specific course on
strangulation. GJT 94. This training has assisted other officers in the field on numerous
occasions. GJT 95.

Officer Aker testified that Beverly was very scared and upset. GJT 97. He noticed a
black eye and an abrasion and bruising to her face. GIT 97. Beverly hesitated to move her
neck. GIT 97, She continued to sooth her neck. GIT 97. Her voice was very hoarse. GJT
97. At the hospital, Officer Aker noticed petechial hemorthaging under her eyelids. GIT 98.
Beverly still had great difficulty in communicating due to her diminished cognitive abilities.
GJT 102-03.

On August 11, 2012, Officer Aker again returned to the hospital (o check up on Beverly.
GIT 106. His interaction with Beverly was somewhat limited due to the several medical
procedures that were being performed. GIT 106. However, Officer Aker noticed that her
cognitive abilities had worsened. GJT 107, Beverly had virtnally no ability to communicate.
GIT 107. Her answers were just gibberish. GIT 107,

While in the hospital, many exams were performed on Beverly. Radiologist Dr.
Rajneesh Agrawal noted the following impression: “Findings are suggestive of a slow
progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with moyamoya disease. Although the
hypertrophied vessels are not well developed. Other etiologies such as sickle cell discase or
other chronic vasculopathies would have to be also considered.” Beverly eventually
succumbed tb hef injuriés on August 23, 2012, o |

Beverly indicated on various documents that she intended to be an organ donor. On
August 25, 2012, it appears that Beverly’s family was contacted regarding the donation of

Beverly’s organs. The necessary paperwork was executed and the heart, spleen, kidneys and
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adrenal glands were removed.

On August 26, 2012, Dr. Olson, a Coroner, performed the autopsy on Beverly. GIT
125. Dr. Olson assigned the autopsy case a unique case number. GIT 125-26. Prior to the
autopsy, Dr. Olson noted that Beverly’s organs were donated. GIT 128. In fact, there was a
significant cut down the middle of her body which Dr, Olson said was from the organ
procurement procedure. GJT 129. Dr. Olson also identified other “small injuries” on the
surface. GJT 128.

The internal examination showed that Beverly sustained “considerable amount of
swelling in her brain.” GJT 129. Dr. Olson preserved the brain and sent it to Dr, Greco. GIT
129, 133. She testified that the bleeding on the brain would be indicative of traura to the
head. GIT 130, Dr. Olson noticed the stark contrast in the coloration of the brain, which is
indicative of one side sustaining more injury than the other. GJT 131, She concluded that her
brain suffered travma which “ultimately” led to her death. GJT 133-34. Other contributing
factors included the blockage of arteries which interfered with the blood flow to the brain,
GJT 134. This case was determined to be a homicide. GIT 15.

Dr. Claudia Greco has examined 400-500 brains for various reasons in her medical
practice. Grand Jury Transcripts (GJT) 12. The Clark County Coroner’s Officer contacted
her to examine Beverly’s brain. GJT 13. In December 2012, Dr. Greco received the brain
from FedEx and kept it in a locked area. GJT 13. From that point forward she was the only
person who handled the brain. GJT 13. She personally assigned a number to the brain which
correlated with the unique number assigned by the Clark County Coroner’s Office. GIT 14.
In her review of the brain, she noted significant injuries to the left side of the brain. GJT 18.
Specifically she noted a hemorrhage on the underside of the brain. GJT 18. There was massive
swelling on the brain which would have “gotten to the point where her life was irretrievable.”
GIT 18. The brain Began o herniate or go down the spinal c.ord.. GIT 22. Dr. Greco explained
that this injury is fatal because it will pinch the spinal cord and “destroy the cardiac breathing
mechanisms.” GIT 23. She testified that the brain tissue toward the spinal cord is “very

swollen.” GJT 25. In fact it was so swollen that there was no opening for the cerebrospinal
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fluid to transmit to the brain. GJT 26-27. This fluid is important because it brings nutrients
and oxygen to the brain. GJT 27-28. The swelling was so severe that Beverly’s brain would
not have allowed for cerebrospinal fluid to transmit. GJT 28. Additionally, the swelling
prevented blood from transmitting to the brain. GJT 32. The left side of the brain was
noticeably more swollen. GJT 21. She also noted other hemorrhages in the brain, GIT 24.

Dr. Greco testified that the types of injuries Beverly sustained were absolutely the result
of trauma. GJT 28. The hemorrhage was large and caused the death of Beverly. GJT 29. Dr.
Greco concluded Beverly “suffered cerebral trauma, brain trauma, and it was aggravated by
the fact that she already had high blood pressure and it was very, very hard to control.” GJT
29. Beverly’s brain was so significantly damaged that medical intervention could not have
saved her life. GIT 30.

Dr. Greco believed these injuries were three to four days old. GIJT 31. She further
explained that three to four days after Beverly sustained this trauma to the head, the brain had
swelled to the point where the necessary nutrients, including oxygen and blood would not have
been transmitting to the brain. GJT 33.

Since then, Dr. Greco has again re-examined the brain, It is her conclusion and opinion
that Beverly did not suffer from moya moya. “There is no pathology present that would lead
to a diagnosis of Moyamoya disease.” State’s Exhibit | attached. “No evidence of Moyamoya
disease.”

Detectives Owens and Bodnar investigated the case once it was determined that
Beverly died. GJT 111, In March 2013, Detectives Owens and Bodnar met with Defendant
in Los Angeles, California. GIT 111-12.  After reading Defendant his Miranda rights,
Defendant admitted that a verbal argument escalated into a physical altercation. GJT 113. He
admitted to shoving her with both hands, slapping her in the face, punching her repeatedly,
and striking her with a vaouum.. GJT 113. .Initially Defendant said that hé swimg thé, vacuum
at her, but missed. GJT 117. When he missed the vacuum struck the bedpost and the vacuum
broke. GIT 117. Later, Defendant said that the vacuum hit Beverly in the hand as she tried

to block the vacuum from hitting her. GIT 114. Defendant claimed that Beverly pushed and
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slapped him as he was trying to leave the residence. GJT 115-16. Defendant said he and
Beverly had intercourse and then the next morning he left the residence. GIT 114. When he
left he told Beverly that he was going to Los Angeles. GJT 117.

Defendant said he gave her some treatment for her black eye to make it appear that she
was not beat up. GJT 118. Defendant asserted that he asked Beverly if she wanted to go to
the hospital, but she refused and just asked for a Tylenol. GJT 119.

ARGUMENT
I GRANTING THE STAY WILL CONTINUE TRIAL

Defendant’s Motion to Stay Proceedings complies with Nevada Rules of Appellate
Procedure (NRAP) 8, The State understands that generally this type of motion should be filed
in the district court before seeking relief in a higher court. NRAP 8(a)(1)(A).

The concern of the State isl that this crime occurred in August 2012, Defendant initially
delayed the proceedings when he ran from the police. He avoided apprehension for nearly a
year. He was returned to Las Vegas through extradition on Scptember 19, 2013. Once
Defendant was indicted, the couﬁ set a trial date more than one year out at the request of
defense counsel; February 2, 2015. Defense counsel requested another continuance at the next
calendar call of November 9, 2015 because defense counsel was recently made lead counsel.
Trial was then continued to February 22, 2016. The State is concerned that should this stay
be granted, the trial date will again be continued causing further prejudice to the State.
Memories fade over time. If trial is continued on February 22, 2016, the trial will again be
delayed. This case will be well over four years old without any resolution. When trial actually
commences, memories will be more than four years old, This will make it much more difficult
on the State to prove Defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

If in Defendant’s instant motion he is suggesting that this Court again reconsider the
niattér, the State opposes. This Court has carefully read the pleadings of the parties on this
issue. The Court has made its decision. It has even studiously reconsidered the matter once
previous. Reconsideration is not appropriate by this Court at this time.

I

WAZOI2RN1M332FN1733-0PPS-(MATO_ANTHONY_01_04_2016)-002.D0CX

422




R I o “ A - L T

[ ] 2 o [N O 2 2 o] - S [u— —_ — — — —_ [ p— —_
OO\JO\M-P-UJMMCD\OOO--]O\LAJLUJMHCD

CONCLUSION
WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, the State respectfully requests that this

Honorable Court DENY Defendant’s Motion to Stay Proceedings.
DATED this 23rd day of December, 2015.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY /s/ ROBERT STEPHENS
ROBERT STEPHENS
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada ]%r #011286

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing was made this 3rd day of
DECEMBER 2015, to:

DAN SILVERSTEIN, DPD
silverda@ClarkCountyNV.gov
ARLENE HESHMATI, DPD
Arlene.Casillas@ClarkCountyNV .gov

BY /sf HOWARD CONRAD
Secretary for the District Attorney's Office
Special Victims Unit 7

hic/SVU
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R reviewjournal.com http:l/wvm.reviewjournal.com/news/crime-courtsisuspeci~charged-las~vegas-co£d—cases

Suspect charged in Las Vegas cold cases
By Antonio PlanasAND Lawrence Mowerl AS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL August 7, 2012 - 3:20pm

A 85-year-old man suspected in a series of strangulation killings was booked Tuesday into the Clark County
Detention Center on two cold-case slayings, the first in 1978,

Metropolitan Police Department Homicide Lt, Ray Steiber announced during an afternoon news conference
Tuesday that Nathan Burkett was extradited from Picayune, Miss., and faces two counts of murder and ohe
count of sexual assault.

Steiber said Burkett is a "serial killer” who has been tied to the slayings of three women in the Las Vegas
Valley over the course of more than two decades.

"He hasn't (just) committed one homicide in Las Vegas, not two, but we know he's at least committed three,"
Steiber said, |

Burkett is also being locked at in connection with other cold-case slayings, but police wouldn't release
details about those investigations.

Palice recently recommended charging Burkett in the death of 22-year-old Barbara Ann Cox on April 22,
1978, and the slaying of 27-year-old Tina Gayle Mitchell on Feb. 20, 1994, Steiber said forensic evidence
linked Burkett to the slayings.

Las Vegas police arrested Burkett in October 2003 for the slaying and kidnapping of Valetter Jean Bousley,
41. Bousley was found strangled on Sept. 4, 2002, Burkett was convicted of voluntary manslaughter in
Bousley's death and served six years in prison.

Police also are investigating him in the death of a 32-year-old woman three months after Mitchell was found
stain in 1994,

Tod Burke, associate dean of the College of Humanities and Be‘haviora! Sciences at Radford University in
Radford, Va., said if Burkett is guilty of the crimes he has been charged with, he qualifies as a serial killer.

Burke, who was formerly a criminal justice professor at Radford and a police officer in Maryland, said he has
been studying the behavior of serial killers for more than a quarter century.

He said it is not atypical for serial killers to have long lapses between slayings,

"Sometimes serial killers may kill a matter of weeks apart, and sometimes it could be years apart,” Burke
said.,

He added Burkett also fits the mode of a serial killer because he is accused in a series of strangulations
where the victims' bodies were discovered in a specific area, West Las Vegas, generally bordered by Carey
Avenue on the north, Bonanza Road on the south, Interstaie 15 on the east and Rancho Drive on the west,

"Serial killers tend to pick out 'areas they will feel comfortable with,” he said.

In at least four of the five cases, the victims were strangled.
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1978 SLAYING

Police think the killing spree might have started in 1 978, when Cox was found dead in a parking lot outside
apartments at 211 W, Bonanza Road.

She was found nude, raped and with strangulation marks on her neck, according to Burkett's arrest report,
which cites the notes from the original homicide investigators.

Police interviewed the woman who found Cox, who was in the area bacause she was driving Burkstt iome
from the Aladdin hotel-casino, where he worked then.

She told detectives that she and Burkett discussed reporting the death. But Burkett got out of the car and
walked into his upstairs apartment af 211 W, Bonanza, The woman chose to flag down an officer.

When detectives interviewed Burkett, he was staggering around nearby, "grossiy intoxicated” and
“belligerent,” detectives said. He first told officers he wouldn't help them, then said that he once saw Cox go
into an apartment across the street, He added that he was with his friend when Cox's body was found.

"This subjact was in no condition to be interrogated, and he was escorted to his apartment by uniformed
officers, where he promptly passed out," the report said.

There is no indication that detectives believed Burkett Was a suspect, according to the reports. Investigators
took vaginal samples of Cox, and the case was Suspended when no new leads surfaced: DNA would not
begin to be used in forensics untit the late 1980s,

Five years aftar he_ar death, however, Burkett was sentenced to 20 years in prison for manslaughter in
Mississippi, Details of the case weren't available Tuesday, but records show he was scheduled to be
released in 1992,

Police think his move back to Las Vegas is connected to the slaying of Mitchell in February 1994,

Mitchell's body was found behind a home on H Street near Washingten Avenue, lying facedown and
covered with towels. Medical examiners ruled she had been strangled.

Burkett's name didn't surface in the investigation into Mitchell's death, according to his arrest repont.
Detectives focused on another man, abtaining an arrest warrant for a Louis Donald Maore.,

But prosecutors dismissed the case. Moore's connection to Mitchell Is unclear, and the reports don't state
why the case was dismissed. Detectives obtained sampies from Mitchell that would eventually yield DNA,
but the case went coid,

Two months after Mitchelf was found, the body of Los Angeles womnan Alethea Maria Williams was
discovered in the same location. Williams, too, was strangled, authorities ruled,

Although Burkett has not been named as a suspect in her death, his arrest report reveals that detectives
recently have questioned him about the case.

Burketf would serve time a decade later after pleading guilty to voluntary manslaughter in the death of local
hotel maid Bousley. She was found strangled in September 2002, outside a church on F Street near Monroe

Avenus.
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The case was unsclved until March 2003, when a jail inmate said he saw Bousley go around the church with
Burkett. Ten minutes later, the inmate saw Burkett walking away from the church, alone.

DNA SAMPLE

Palice charged Burkett with murder, but he pleaded guilty to voluntary manslaughter, When he started his
six-year prison stint, officials took & sample of DNA.

That sample would be registered with a national database and link him to the deaths of Cox and Mitcheli
when cold- case detectives submitted evidence from their deaths into the system in 2010.

When officers went to Mississippi to question him about the deaths on July 18, he denied knowing the
victims or having sexual relations with them.

Folice said Burkett was no stranger to locai law enforcement. He has been arrested more than a dozen
times in Southern Nevada since 1975 for charges in¢luding battery, kidnapping, rape, sexual assauit,
robbery and domestic violence,

Burke said now that Burkett is in custody, police have to take a deeper look at all of his moves in Southern
Nevada. Burke said serial killers sometimes evade palice. -

"Even their first time doing something may not have been their first time." Burke said. "it might have been
the first time they got caught.”

Police said they will focus on Burkett's local history in Southern Nevada from 1978 to 2007,

FEDERAL GRANT
Burkett's arrest was aided by a federal grant Las Vegas police received in September 2009,

Steiber said his agency emphasized solving cold-case siayings after the department was awarded a nearly
$500,000 grant from the Departrent of Justice.

Since then, cold-case detectives have investigated 275 unsolved slayings, and were able to solve 20 cases.
Steiber said without the grant, and without flourishing forensic technclogy: "Those cases might have never
been soilved.” '

Steiber added his department still has 1,015 unsolved homticide cases.

“Every unsolved haomicide deserves to be solved,” Steiber said. "For the victim. Eor the family. For the
community."

Contact reporter Antonio Planas at aplanas@reviewjournal.com or 702-383-4638. Contact reportet
Lawrence Mower at Imower@reviewjournal.com or 702-383-0440.

Copyright ©Las Vegas Review-Journal, Inc. 2015. All rights reserved. « Privacy Policy
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FILED iN OPEN COURT
STEVEN D, GRIERSON
CLERK OF THE COURT

PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER ’ FEY OG0
NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 Fep vl

309 South Third Street, Suite 226
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Defendant

BYka fEN BROWN, DEPUTY
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
CASE NO. (295313
DEPT. NO. XXV

DATE: February 2, 2015
TIME: 9:30 a.m.

Plaintift,
V.
ANTHONY TYRON MAYO,

Defendant,

e et e o e e e e e s

DEFENDANT'S ADDENDUM TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, the Defendant, ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, by and through
AMY A. FELICIANO, Deputy Public Defender, and DAN SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public
Defender, and hereby files this addendum to his jareviously filed Petition for Writ of Habeas
Corpus. _

This Addendum is made and based upon al] the papers and pleadings on file herein,
and oral argument at the time set for hearing this Petition.

DATED this 2" day of February, 2015,

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: W

el , N
AMY A. FELICIAR®, #9596
Deputy Publi Defender

By S DT
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, ¥7518

Deputy Public Defender
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STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

The Defendant hereby incorporates by reference the Statement of Facts as previously set
forth in his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed on February 28, 2014.

On February 28, 2014, the Defendant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus alleging,
among, other issues, that the State had failed to present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury in
violation of NRS 172.145(2). That Petition is still pending before this Court, The Defendant
submits this addendum to his previously fiied Petition, alleging new, compeiling evidence that the
State violated its obligation to present known exculpatory evidence to the grand jury.

On September 24, 2013, Justice of the Peace Chris Lee signed an order submitted by the
Clark County District Attorney’s Office releasing the medical records of the alleged victim in this
case, Beverly Mclarlane. Ex. A. These medical records were received by the District Attorney’s

Office on October 7, 2013, over three months prior to the grand jury presentment. Ex. B,

In those medical records, a report from radiologist Rajncesh Agrawal, M.D., dated August
17, 2012, makes clear that the findings in McFarlane’s CT scans .. are suggestive of a slow,
progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with moyamoya disease.” Ex. C. A physician’s order

sheet from the same date also suggests 2 diagnosis of moyamoya disease. Ex. D.

Moyamoya disease' is a rare condition that causes progressive occlusion of the carotid
arteries in the brain, consistent with the findings of Clark County Coroner Alane Olson that the
alleged victim suffered “complete occlusion of the left internal carotid artery and narrowing of the
right internal carotid artery.” Ex. F. Sufferers of moyamoya disease tend to experience a gradual
deterioration of cognitive function, and if {eft untreated, the steady occlusion of the arteries in the

brain can be fatal. Death from moyamoya disease is typically caused by brain hemorrhage. This

' Medical articles describing moyamoya disease, its symptoms, diagnosis, and effcts are attached hereto as Exhibit E
for the Cowt's edification.

2
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is consistent with the findings of Clark County Coroner Alane Olson that the alleged victim died as
a tesult of brain hemorthage. Ex, F. It is also consistent with the findings of the State’s
neuropathological expert, Dr. Claudia M. Greco, M.D., who concluded that the hemorrhages found
in McFarlane’s brain were between twe and five days old. Ex. G. The injuries which Anthony
Mayo is alleged to have inflicted on McFarlane occurred on August 10, 2012, fifteen days prior fo
her death.

Moyamoya disease wéuld account for the findings of the Clark County Coroner in this
case, and provide a reasonable alternative explanation for the death of Beverly McFarlane. In
other words, UMC’s opinion that McFarlane suffered from moyamoya disease is the very

definition of exculpatory evidence.

ARGUMENT

As pointed out in the Defendant’s original Petition, pursuant to NRS 172.145(2), “[i]f the
district attorney is aware of any evidence which will explain away the charge, the district attorney
shall submit it to the grand jury.” Petition, 2/28/14, p.12 11,14-16. “The grand jury’s ‘missien is to

clear the innocent, no less than to bring to trial those who may be guilty.”” Sheriff v, Frank, 103

Nev. 160, 165 (1987), quoting United States v. Dionisig, 410 U.S. [, 16-17 (1973). When “...a

prosecutor refuses to present exculpatory evidence, he, in effect, destroys the existence of an

independent and informed grand jury.” United States v. Goid, 470 F.Supp. 1336, 1353 (N.D. Il

1579}; Johnson v. Superior Court, 539 P.2d 792 (Cal. 1975). Under Nevada law, the Stale has an

absolute duty to present to the grand jury any evidence which tends to explain away the charges.
Failure to do so renders the resulting indictment invalid and denies the defendant due process,

requiring dismissal. Sheriff v. Frank, 103 Nev. 160 (1987), Ostman v. District Court, 107 Nev.

563 (1991).

LS
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There can be no legitimate debate that the evidence of moyamoya disease seen by multiple
physicians at UMC is evidence that tends to expiain away the charge of murder against Anthony
Maye. This disease provides an innocent explanation for all of the findings upon which Alane
Olson based her opinion .that Beverly McFarlane died as a result of homicide. In fact, the
occlusion of McFarlane’s carotid arteries is the defining characteristic of moyamoya disease, a
disease which could have caused the very brain hemorrhages which the State has blamed on
Anthony Mayo. Moyamoya disease would also explain why, despite the fact that Mayo is charged
with having assaulted McFarlane on August 10, 2012 - fifteen days befdre her death -- the State’s
nevropathologist concluded that the brain hemorrhages were, at most, five days old. Evidence that
Beverly McFarlane suffered from this rare condition has a tendency to explain away the murder
charge in a manner that hardly any other evidence could. It is the very definition of exculpatory
evidence, and NRS 172.145(2) exists to ensure that this type of evideﬁce 1s presented to the grand
jury determining a defendant’s fate. The grand jury had a right to consider this alternate
explanation, and the prosecutor had a statutory obligation to present it.

It is also beyond debate that the exculpatory evidence in question was known to the Clark
County District Attorney’s Office well in advance_ of the grand jury presentment. In fact, in their
September 24, 2013 order requesting these medical records, the prosecutors assert that possession
of these medical records was necessary for prosecution of this case. Ex. A, 11.18-19. The District
Attorney’s Office confirmed receipt of these medical records on OGiﬁber 7, 2013, more than three
months before the grand jury presentment on January 16, 2014, Ex. B.

The prosecuting attorneys called both their neuropathologist, Claudio Greco, M.D., and the
coroner, Alane Olson, as witnesses at the grand jury presentment, yet never admitied a shred of
evidence that Beverly McFarlane suffered from a progressive disease that could have caused her

death. The failure to present this evidence is particularly appalling given the fact that Dr. Greco
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gave the impression that she had thoroughly reviewed all of the available medical records when
she testified:

*Q: Prior to doing any examination of the brain, were you given any

documents to review?

A: Yes, Thad a small number of, a small amount of paperwork that came

with the case in the same hox.

Q: Do you recall what types of documents those would have been?

A: There was a small amount of clinical history on the case. Basically the
events of the trauma that the lady suffered in her home. And [ had a
preliminary report of what the general forensic pathologist had found.
And subsequernily I asked for more records because as Mr. Stephens
knows Ireally study these cases and 1 like to be very sure of the whole

thing.” :
Grand Jury Transeript, p.16 L16 —p.171.5.

As can be seen from this exchange, not only did the State fail to present the critical
exculpatory evidence of McFarlane’s pre-existing condition, it actively encouraged the grand jury
to believe that its expert performed a thorough review of all available medical information prior to
her testimony and was unable to find any alternate explanation for her death. It is no surprise that
the grand jury returned an Indictment charging Anthony Mayo with murder; the very facts in the
district attorney’s possession that would tend to provide an alternate reasonable explanation were

withheld from the presentment. This was as blatant a violation of NRS 172. 145(2) as this Court is

ever likely to see.
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CONCLUSION

“The grand jury’s ‘mission is to clear the innocent, no less than to bring to trial those who

may be guilty.”” Sheriff v. Frank, 103 Nev. 160, 165 (1987), quoting United States v. Dionisio,
410 U.S. 1, 16-17 (1973). This mission was completely subveried in this case. The State obtained

possession of Beverly McFarlane’s medical records with the assertion that they were necessary for

|| their prosecution, and then proceeded to withhold evidence contained within those records that

tended 1o explain away Anthony Mayo’s guilt. The State then compounded the violation of its
statutory obligation by allowing Dr. Greco to paint the false impression that she had thoroughly
reviewed all of the available medical information with her comment to the grand jury that *...as
M. Stephens knows, I really study these cases and I like to be very sure of the whole thing.” GJT,
p.17 1L.3-5. Beverly McFarlane’s medical records revealed a reasonable alternate éxpianation for
her death that exonerated Anthony Mayo, and the grand jury had a right to consider that
explanation. By withholding evidence of the alleged victim’s pre-existing medical condilion, a
rare, progressﬁm disease that 15 known to cause death by brain hemorrhage, the State destroyed the
existence of the independent and informed grand jury upon which our system of criminal justice
relies. The pending Indictment against Anthony Mayo is the product of an unfair process, a
process that not only tipped the scales in favor of indictment but purposely removed any
counterweight. For this reasen, and for the reasons previously presented in the Defendant’s

original Petition filed February 28, 2014, this Indictment should be dismissed.

DATED this 2" day of February, 2015,

PHILIP I KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, #7518 " AMY A, FELICIANO, #9596 &7
Deputy Public Defender Deputy Public Defender
6
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RECEIPT OF COPY
RECEIPT OF COPY of the above and foregoing Defendant's Addendum to Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus is herehy acknowledged this ______ day of February, 2015.

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By:
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Exhibit A
September 24, 2013 Order Releasing Medical Records
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JUSTICE COURT, NORTH LAS VEGAS TOWNSHIP

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

' Plaintiff,

s CASENG:  12FNI733X
ANTHONY TRYON MAYO, DEPTNO: 5
HI5B1304,

Defendant,

ORDER RELEASING MEDICAL RECORDS
Upon the ex parte application and sepresentation of STEVEN B, WOLFSON, Clark

County District Attorney, by aud through COLLEEN R, BROWN, Deputy District Attorney,
that certain records containing protected health information are necessary for the prosecutiog
of the above-captioned crimina! case ate being held in the custody of University Medical
Center; that said information is relevan{ and ypaterlal 10 a legitlmate law enforcernont
inquiry; that the application was specific and Timited in scope 1o the extent regsonzhly
practjosble in light of the purpose for witich the information is sought; and that de-identified

informatlon could not teasonably be used;

//7 “r-:‘ .- -

o ' IERSCRS
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The document to whidi th15 certificat&ii, &
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" NOW THEREFORE, pusuant to 45 CER 16451209, and GOOD CAUSE

and/or treatment of BEVERLY MCFARLANE, whose date of birth is Novemberx 1, 197
for the Hmo period August 10, 2010 I\

[T I8 HEREBY ORDERED,

APPEARNG Univetsity Medlcai Centex, shell yelease to a sepresentative of the DISTRICT
ATTORNEY’S OFFICE, any and all medicsl records concetning diagnosis, prognosis,

Aas

\s\‘\.

DATED this 2 f/fﬁday of Seplember, 2013,

'STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clatk County Distriot Attomey
Nevada Bar #001555

BY

R’
Deputy Distylet Attorme
N&ga(?i; Bar 1101 1777 Y

td/dvu

CHRIS LEE

JOSTICE OFTHEPEACE

PR DOCS FINATUTLYTHASMIGN] 13301 Hee
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Exhibit B
October 7, 2013 Proof of Receipt of Medical Records
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Exhibit C
August 17, 2012 UMC Documentation of Moyamoya Disease
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UNIVERSITY [E5DICAL CENTER OF SOGZHERN NEVADA

DEPARTMENT OF RADIOLOGY"
1800 W. CHARLESTON BLYD, LAS VEGAS, NV, 88142

© (7h2) 383-2241
Name: MCFARLANE, BEVERLY E : '
Sex: F - Age: 40Y Data of Birthy 11/01/1971
Location: ICU NSCU-D901 Medical Record Number: 002-008-158
Ordaring Physiclan; ROBBY ANN QUINTOS M. D _ C
Order Number: 50018 . Order Date: 08/17/2012

infracraniefly, there Is complate occlusion of the supraclinoldal segment of the left Internal carotid artery before the carotid
terminus. No antegrade flow info the faft Internal and middle cerebral arteries. Thers I8 faint hypertrophied lenticulosiriate
branches. The lefl posterior commutlng arfery ls patent. Thers s collateral raconstiiution of exiremigly cﬂseasad left antarior
cerabrat artery. No aneurysms are present,

eft vertebral artary cathaterlzation Injsction demonstrates thae aft verlabral arlery vartebral basllar system {o be patent,
There is extensive left meningeal collateratization nated. Howevar, the perfusion poriton (s extremely limitad.

Cathater shesths were removed, hemostasis was achieved using a StarClose vascular c!osure davice. There wera no
procedurat compllcations,

IMPRESSION
1. Compiete dlstal occlus!on of the leﬁ Internal saroild artery w!th exiramaly pacr circulation 1o the left cerebral
hemlaphare. ‘

r‘? Diffuse narrowing of the right Jntamai carotid _
j Fimg;ggg are supgestive o sgan Wihimoy, i Although the
nyper??opﬁ lad vessels are not well develdpad, Other e lologies auch as sickle cal disease or other chrontc vasculopahiles
would have fo be also consldersd.

4. The pallent was transferred from the depariment in good clinleal canditfen. Total fluorostapy lime was 3 minutas.

ghe

Interpreting Radiclogist: RAJNEESH AGRAWAL M.D.
Dictated at: Aug 202012 8:83A
Signed and Finalizad by: RAJNEESH AGRAWAL MD. Aug 20 2012 8:50A

-
\—dtient; MCFARLANE, BEVERLY E ,
DOB: 14011871 Acenunt Numbar: 000{}47546936 Segi: 183 Medical Racord Number: 002.008-136
Order Number: $0016  SP ANGIO CAROTID GEREBRL BIL 8t Exam Chargs Date; Aug 162012 4:07PM

The informalien centalned in (s documeant is privisgad and confidantial. If you are not the intendad raciplent, reproduction, dissemingtion, or
distribuiion of this documant Is prahibitad. If you heve recelvad this document by faxin ervor, pleasa notly the UMG Radiology Daparlmem
at (702) 363-2241.

Paga 2
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Exhibit D -

August 17, 2012 UMC Documentation of Moyamoya Disease
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Exhibit E

Medical Articles: Moyamoya Disease
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Medscape

Moyamoya Disease

= Author: Roy Sucheleiki, MD; Chief Editor: Amy Kas, MD Updated: Jan 7, 2015

RS ’
Hackground

Moyamoya disease is a progressive, occlusive disease of the cclrcbral vasculature with particular
invalvement of the circle of Willis and the arteries that feed it. M The image below is a schematic
representation of the circle of Willis, the arteries of the brain, and the brainstem. (See Etiology.)
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Schematic representation of the circle of Willis, arteries of the brain, and brain stem.
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The term moyamoya (Japanese for “puff of smoke") refers to the appearance on angiography of
abnormal vascular cotlateral networks that develop adjacent to the stenotic vessels. The steno-
occlusive areas are usually bilateral, but unilateral involvement does not exclude the diagnosis.

(See Worlup.)

Pathologically, moeyamoya disease is characterized by intimal thickening in the walls of the
terminal portions of the internal carotid vessels bilaterally. The profiferating intima may contain
lipid deposits. The antetior, middle, and posterior cerebral arteries that emanate from the circle
of Willis may show varying degrees of stenosis or occlusion. This is associated with fibrocellular
thickening of the intima, waving of the internal elastic lamina, and thinning of the media. (Sec
Etiology, Warkup, Treatment, and Medication.)

Numerous small vascular channels can be seen around the circle of Willis. These are perforators
and anastomotic branches. The pia mater may also have reticular conglomerates of small vessels.

EIE TS P
;_,a-,(,sﬁtr(.‘-;;?_-

The cause of moyamoya disease is not known. The disease is believed to be hereditary. Fukui
reported a family history in 10% of patients with the disorder. Moreover, Mincharu suggested
that familial moyamoya disease is autosomal dominant with incomplete penetrance that depends
on age and genomic imprinting factors.m(}eneticaﬂy, susceptibility loci have been found on 3p,
&p. 17q, and band 8¢23. Mineharu et al have found a specific gene locus, g25.3, on chromosome
172 A genome-wide association study identified RNF213 as the first gene associated with
moyamoya H0ne meta-analysis demonstrated that there are strong associations between
p.R4859K and p.R4810K potymorphisms of the RNF213 gene and moyamoya disease.=!

People with moyamoya disease have been found to have a higher incidence of efevated thyroid
antibodies. 2L While this is an association in some individuals, the significance is not clear.
However. it suggests that immune abnormalities may play some role in moyamoya disease.

Associated diseases

Although moyamoya disease may occur by itseff in a previously healthy individual, many
disease states have been reported in association with moyamoya disease, including the following:

»  Immunologic -Graves Gliseasc/ﬁhy1'{)tt)xicos.is:'in

+ Infections - Leptospirosis and tuberculosis

+ Hematologic disorders ~ Aplastic anemia, Fanconi anemia, sickle ceff anemia, and lupus
anticoagulant

+ Congenital syndromes - Apert syndrome, Down syndrome, Marfan syndrome, tuberous
sclerosis, Turner syndrome, von Recklinghausen disease (Neurofibromatosis Type 1),

and Hirschsprung disease
« Vascular diseases - Atherosclerotic disease, coarctation of the aorta and fibromuscular

dysplasia, cranial trauma, radiation injury, parasellar tumors, and hypertension
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These associated conditions may not be causative, but they do warrant consideration due to their
impact on treatment. In the presence of these risk factors, the condition is referred to as
moyamoya syadrone,

Eptdemiology

A study indicated that the prevalence of moyamoya disease in California and Washington was
0.086 case per 100,000 population. L this study, the breakdown based on ethnicity as ratio to
whites was 4.6 for Asian Americans, 2.2 for African Americans, and 0.5 for Hispanics.

The incidence of moyamoya disease is highest in Japan. The prevalence and incidence of the
disorder there has been reported to be 3.16 cases and 0.35 case per 100,000 people, respectively.

g-, sk, and ageerelated demographics

Moyamoya disease occurs primarily in Asians but can also oceur (with varymng degrees of
severity) in whites, blacks, Haitians, and Hispanics.

The female-to-male ratio of moyamoya disease is 1.8:1, Ages for patients with moyamoya
disease range from 6 months to 67 years, with the highest peak in the first decade and smaller
peaks in the third and fourth decades.

3 sy e g gl o
FPrOgness

Death from with moyamoya disease is usually from hemorrhage. The outcome of the disease
depends on the severity and nature of the hemorrhage; the prognosis depends on recurrent
attacks.

Mortality rates from moyamoya disease are approximately 10% in adults and 4.3% in children.
About 50-60% of affected individuals experience a gradual deterioration of cognitive function,
oresumably from recurrent strokes.

Patients with moyamoya disease who present for treatment while symptoms are evoiving have a
better prognosis than do thase who present with static symptoms (which probably indicate a
compieted stroke).

History and Physical Examination

History

Children and adults with moyamoya disease may have different clinical presentations. The
syinptoms and clinical course vary widely, with the disease ranging from being asymptomatic to

manifesting as transient events to causing severe neurclogic deficits. Adults experience
hemorrhage more commonly; cerebral ischeimic events are more common in chitdren.
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Children may have hemiparesis, monoparesis, sensory impairment, involuntary movements,
headaches, dizziness, or seizures. Mental retardation or persistent neurologic deficits may be
present,

Adults may have symptoms and signs similar to those in children, but intraventricular,
subarachnoid, or intracerebral hemorrhage of sudden onset is more common in adults.

. examination

Physical examination findings depend on the location and severity of the hemorrhage or
ischemic insult.

Conditions to consider in the differential diagnosis of causes of or associations with moyamoya
syndrome include the following:

+ Homocystinuria/homocysteinemia

Hyperglycemiathypoglycemia

*» Syndrome of mitochondrial encephalomyopathy, lactic acidosis, and strokelike episodes
{MELAS)

»  Methylmalonic acidemia

= Propionic acidemia

« Neurofibromatosis, type |

»  Neurcfibromatosis, type 2

« Pituitary tumors

« Poiyarteritis nodosa

» Posterior cerebral artery stroke

+ Subarachnoid hemorrhage

» Temporal/giant cell arteritis

» Tolosa-Hunt syndrome

»  Apert syndrome

«  Aplastic anemia

» Brainstem syndromes

+ Cranial trauma

»  Coaretation of the aorta

« Fanconi anemia

« {rradiation injury

» Leptospirosis

» Marfan syndrome

» Mitochondrial cytopathies

»  Paraseflar tumors

»  Sickle cell disease

+  Tuberculosis

» Turner syndrome
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«  Vasculitis
« Carotid disease and stroke

: « Anterior Circulation Stroke

] »  Basilar Artery Thrombosis

j + Blood Dyscrasias and Stroke

« Cavernous Sinus Syndromes _ :
s Cerebral Aneurysms

s Craniopharyngioma

» Dissection Syndromes

: : + Fabry Disease

; o Fibromuscular Dysplasia

! « Intracranial Hemorrhage

sepach Considerations

Misdiagnosis and delayed diagnosis of moyamoya disease are particular pitfalls in the treatment

of patients with this disorder, Misdiagnosis can occur easily if the physician does not incorporate

moyamoya disease into the differential diagnesis of any patient presenting with stroke. How high

moyamoya disease is ranked in the differential depends on presence of atypical features such as
“young age and absence of obvicus risk factors for stroke.

If moyamoya disease is not considered seriously, then appropriate diagnostic tests may not be
performed and a delay in diagnosis coutd result, Because definitive treatment may be surgery,
any delay could allow unnecessary progression of disease.

I an ischemic stroke that is being treated with antiplatelet agents or anticoaguiants does not
respond to therapy, then moyamoya disease should be considered as a possible etiology. This is
especially true if results of a hypercoagulability profile are unremarkable.

Physicians practicing in the community who encounter atypical stroke presentations should not
hesitate to seek consultation with a stroke specialist or even to transfer a patient to a facility
equipped to care for complex cases.

Laborotory Studies
Several studies may be indicated in paiients with mcya'moya disease. [n a patient with stroke of

ureleur tilUlUgV a hypercoagulabitity profile may be helipful. a:gnmcantabnoxmah{y in any of
. the following is a risk factor for ischemic stroke:

«  Protein C
| s Protein §
o Antithrombin [
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» Homocysteine
» Factor V Leiden

The erythrocyte sedimentation ratc (ESR) can be obtained as part of the initial workup of
possible vasculitis. However, a normal ESR does not rule out vasculitis.

Thyreid function and thyroid autoantibody levels have been shown to be elevated in a significant
percentage of pediatric patients with moyamoya disease - Therefore, monitoring these studies is
indicated.

Anpiogranhy

Cerebral angiography is the criterion standard for the diagnosis of moyamoya disease. The
following findings support the diagnosis:

«  Stenosis or occlusion at the terminal portion of the internal carotid artery or the proximal
: portion of the anterior or middle cerebral arteries
«  Abnormal vascular networks in the vicinity of the occlusive ar stenotic areas
+ Bilaterality of the described findings (although some patients may present with unilateral
involvement and then progress)

Magnetic resonance angiography (MRA) can be performed. Any of the above findings on MRA
may preclude the need for conventional angiography.

Aanepack Considerations

Pharmacologic therapy for mayamoya disease is disappointing. Therapy is primarily directed at
complications of the disease. If intracerebral hemorrhage has occurred, then management of
hypertension (if present) is imperative. In cases of severe stroke, intensive care unit (ICU)
monitoring is indicated until the patient's condition stabilizes. If the patient has had an ischemic

stroke. consider anticoagutation or antiplatelet agents.

Auhuiky

Rehabilitation with physical therapy, occupational therapy, and speech therapy should be
considered, depending on the neurologic impatrment. The extent of therapy can range from
bedside treatment to full, comprehensive inpatient rehabilitation. The latter would include
physical, occupational, speech, and cognitive therapy. The condition of the patient, including
active comorbidities, dictates his or her involvement in rehabilitation therapy.

apficoaguiation and Antiplatelet Therapy i}
The rationale behind the administration of anticoagulation and antiplatelet agents is the

prevention of further strokes, espectally in stenotic vessels (where further infarction can occur if
occlusion progresses).

[N
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These medications are not approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
specifically for use in moyamoya disease. Therefore, the decision to treat patients with
anticoagulants such as heparin {and, in some cases, warfarin, for long-term anticoagulation) or
antiplatelet agents such as aspirin rests on the following: angiogram findings, severity of stroke,
and risk/benefit analysis by physicians who are experienced in stroke treatment.

Bivect and Indivect Anasfoniosis

As previously stated, patients with mayamoya disease who present for treatiment while
symploms are evolving have a better prognosis than do those who present with static symptoms
(which probably indicate a completed stroke).

Various surgical procedures have been used in the treatment of moyamoya disease, with the goal
of revascularizing the ischemic hemisphere, including the following:

o Superfivial temporal artery—middle cerebral artery (STA-MCA) anastomasis
« Encephaloduroarteriosynangiosis (EDAS)Im

+ Encephaloduroarteriomyosynangiosis (EDAMS)

» Pial synangiosis

«  Omentat transplantation

These procedures can be divided into 2 groaps depending on whether they involve direct or
indirect anastomosis. Which of these procedures is most effective remains controversial.
Sufficient evidence suggests that surgical revascularization procedures result in some
symptomatic benefits along with demonstration of improved blood flow. Direct and/or combined
procedures provide improved vascularization. However, data proving sustained or improved
long-term outcomes are insufficient -1

STA-MCA anastomosis is very difficult in children younger than 2 years because of the small
diameter of the STA., [n these cases, EDAS may be more suitable. This procedure sometimes has
faited because of poor revascularization, Hoffman suggested that this is due to the presence of
atrophy and a layer of spinal fluid between the pia and the arachnoid tissue.“Division of the
arachnoid membrane and placement of the STA directly on the pial membrane help to avoid the
problem. In cases of EDAS failure, EDAMS can be considered.

st baiions

Initial neurologic consultation is unperative. A neurologist can document neurologic deficits,
consider the differential diagnosis, conduct testing to validate suspected etiologies, and
commence medical management as indicate

Neuroradiclogy consuitation is needed to help determine the extent of radiologic testing needed
(ie. MRA vs conventional angiography). Based on the results of these tests, a neurosurgeon can
decide if surgical intervention will be helpful,
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Medivation Summary

Drug therapy for moyamoya disease depends on the particular manifestations of the disease. For
hemorrhage, therapy revolves around the management of hypertension (if present}.

For ischemic stroke, anticoagulation with heparin or warfarin may be considered. Safety and
efficacy have not been fully established for these drugs, and careful analysis of risk and benefits
is needed. These drugs could be useful if thrombosis of vessels is present, but they do not alter
the natural history of the disease and they considerably increase the risk of hemorrhage with

farge strokes.

The same considerations are true for aspirin and other antiplatelet agents. Treatment with
anticoagulation or antiplatelet agents should be pursued only after consultation with a neurologist
whao is experienced in stroke management.

Antivonguiants, Hematologic

Cinss Sumimary

These agents are given for the prevention of further thrombaosis and potential infarction of the
brain. Caution: Anticoagulation is of unproven benefit in ischemic stroke associated with

moyamoya disease. This therapy is therefore considered to be empirical.

View full drug information

Heparin

Heparin is administered intravenously; it is frequently given with initial bolus in cardiac
situations. In stroke, bolus not recommended. The target dose is aimed at maintaining an
activated partial thromboplastin time (aPTT) of 1.5-2 times control. A computed tomography
{CT} scan of the brain must be done prior to any anticoagulant use to rule out preexisting

intracranial hemorrhage.

View full drug information

Warfarin {Cownadin, [antaven)

Warfarin, which is administered orally, is used if long-term anticoagulation is needed. The
inteenational normalized ratio (INR} is followed, with a target range of 2-3. A CT scan of the
brain must be done prior to any anticoagulant use to rule out preexisting intracranial hemorrhage.

260



Medscape

Antiplatelet agents

fdnss Bummary

These agents can be considered 1o help prevent future ischemic strokes. As with anticoagulation,
aspirin is of unproven benefit in moyamoya disease; its use is considered empirical.

View full drug information

Aspirin's efficacy in preventing stroke relies on the inhibitory effect of aspirin on platelet
function. This presumably helps to prevent thrombus formation and propagation.
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Moyamoya Disease

Moyamoya disease is a rare, progressive cerebrovascular disorder caused by blocked arteries at the
base of the brain in an area called the basal ganglia. The name “moyamoya” means "puff of smoke” in
Japanese and describes the look of the tangle of tiny vessels formed to compensate for the blockage,
Moyamoya disease was first described in Japan in the 1960's and it has since been found in individuals
in the United States, Europe, Australia, and Africa. The disease primarily affects children, but it can
also occur in adults. In children, the first symptom of Moyamoya disease is often stroke, or recurrent
transient ischemic attacks {TIA, commonly referred to as “mini-strokes"), frequently accompanied by
muscular weakness or paralysié affecting one side of the body, or seizures, Aduits most often
experience a hemorrhagic stroke due to recurring blood clots in the affected brain vessels. [ndividuals
with this disorder may have disturbed consciousness, speech deficits (usually aphasia), sensory and
cognitive impairments, involuntary movements, and vision problems. Because it tends to run in
families, researchers think that Moyamoya disease is the resuit of inherited genstic abnormalities.
Studies that ook for the abnormal gene(s) may help reveal the biomechanisms that cause the disorder.

Treatment

There are several types of revascularization surgery that can restore blood flow to the brain by opening
narrowed blood vessels or by bypassing blocked arteries. Children usually respend better to
revascuiarization surgery than adults, but the majority of individuals have no further strokes or related

problems after surgery.

Prognosis

Without surgery, the majority of individuals with Moyamoya disease will experience mental decline and

disease can be fatal 45 The resul{ of ntracérebral hémorrhage.

http:/hvww brainfacts,or g/diseases-disorders/diseas es-a-to-z-from-ninds/moyamoya-disease/ 1/4
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" Research

The NINDS cenducts neurological research in laboratories at the NIH and also supports additional
research through grants to major medical institutions across the country. These studies, which range
from clinical trials to investigations cf basic biological mechanisms, are aimed at discovering how and
why diseases develop in the brain, and focus on finding ways to prevent, treat, or cure them.

View research (hitp:/fwww.ncbi.nim.nih.govientrez/query.fcgi?
CMDmséarch&term=rnsyamoya+disease+AND+human[mh]+AND+engiish[ia]&db=P{1b|\f:ed&orig_db=PubMe
on this topic.

View studies (http://clinicaltrials govict2/resuits ?term=Moyamoya Disease) being conducted about this
condition,

View NINDS publications (http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/moyamoya/pubs_moyamoya.htm) an this
topic.

Organizations
National Rehabilitation Information Center (NARIC)

8201 Corporate Drive

Suite 600

Landover, MD 20785
naricinfo@heitechservices.com
hitp://www. naric.com

Tel: Landover

Fax: 301-562-2401

National Organization for Rare Disorders (NORD)

Federation of voluntary health organizations dedicated to helping people with rare "orphan” diseases
and assisting the organizations that serve them, Commited to the identification, treatment, and cure of
rare disorders through programs of education, advocacy, research, and service.

55 Kenosia Avenue
Danbury, CT 06810
orphan@rarediseases.org
hitp://www.rarediseases.org
Tel Danhury

Fax: 203-798-2291

National Stroke Association

National non-profit organization that offers education, services and community-based activities in
prevention, treatment, rehabilitation and recovery, Serves the public and professional communities,
people at risk, patients and their health care providers, stroke survivors, and their families and

caregivers.

9707 East Easter Lane
Suite B )

Centennial, CO 80112-3747 )

info@stroke.org

fitip: e br ainfacts org/diseases-tisordarsidiseases- a- to-z-from -nindsimoyamoya-disease/ 244
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Tel: Centennial

Fax: 303-649-1328

Children’s Hemipiegia and Stroke Assocn. (CHASA)

CHASA is a 501(¢)(3) nonprofit organization dedicated to improving the lives of children and famifies
affected by pediatric stroke and other causes of hemiplegia. Offers national family retreat, local family
events and seminars, online support group, websites, fact sheets, clinical study information, and
pediatric stroke awareness campaigns.

4101 West Green QOaks Blvd., Ste. 305
PMB 149

Arlington, TX 76016
infod437@chasa.org
hitp:/iwvww.chasa.org

Tel Arlingion

Content Provided By

National Institute of
Neurological Disorders
and Stroke

NINDS Disorders is an index of neurological conditions provided by the National Institute of
Neurclogical Disorders and Stroke. This valuable tool offers detailed deseriptions, facts on treatment
and prognosis, and patient organization contact information for over 500 identified neurological

disorders.

Neurological Disorders and Stroke » (http://www.ninds.nth.gov/disorders/disorder_index.hitm)

Feedback (. /../../layouts/orainfacts/sublayouts/common/#)

Disclaimer {http://www.brainfacts. org/about-us/disclaimer/)

Accessibility Policy (hip://www.brainfacts org/about-us/accessibility-policy/)

Contact Us (http://www.brainfacts .org/about-us/contact-us/)

Copyright ®2015 Society for Neuroscience *Some pages on this website provide links that require Adobe Reader fo view.

hitpffwww brainfacls orgldiseases-disordersidiseases-a-to-z-from-rinds/moyamoys-disease/

4

266




172015, Moyamaya Disease Information Page: Nalional institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS)

‘National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke

i~

biscidersA-2 A BE D EF G HIJKLMNOEQRSTUVWEY

oy

MIMDS Moyamoya Disease Informafion Page

Table of Contents (click to jump to sections)
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What is Moyamoya Disease?

Moyamoya disease is a rare, progressive cerebrovascular disorder caused by blocked
arteries at the base of the brain in an area called the basal ganglia. The name
‘moyamoya” means “puff of smoke” in Japanese and describes the look of the tangle of
tiny vessels formed to compensate for the blockage. Moyamoya disease was first
described in Japan in the 1960’s and it has since been found in individuals in the United
States , Europe, Australia , and Africa. The disease primarily affects children, but it can
also occur in adults. In children, the first symptom of Moyamoya disease is often stroke,
or recurrent transient ischemic attacks (TIA, commonly referred to as “mini-strokes”),
frequently accompanied by muscular weakness or paralysis affecting one side of the
body, or seizures. Adults most often experience a hemorrhagic stroke due to recurring
blood clots in the affected brain vessels. Individuals with this disorder may have
disturbed consciousness, speech deficits (usually aphasia), sensory and cognitive
impairments, involuntary movements, and vision problems. Because it tends to run in
famifies, researchers think that Moyamoya disease is the result of inherited genetic
abnormalities, Studies that look for the abnormal gene(s) may help reveal the
biomechanisms that cause the disorder.

Is there any treatment?

There are several types of revascularization surgery that can restore blood flow to the
brain by opening narrowed blood vessels or by bypassing blocked arteries. Children
usually respond better to revascularization surgery than adults, but the majority of
individuals have no further strokes or related problems after surgery.

What is the prognosis?

Without surgery, the majority of individuals with Moyamoya disease will experience mental

“dectine and multiple strokes because of the progressive nanowing of arsries,

htip:fiwww . ninds.nib.govidisorder simoyamoya/moyarnoya.him
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© Without treatment, Moyamoya disease can be fatal as the resuit of intracerebral
hemorrhage.

What research is being done?

The NINDS conducts neurological research in laboratories at the NiH and alsa supports
additional research thraugh grants to major medical institutions across the country. These
studies, which range from clinical trials to investigations of basic biological mechanisms,
are aimed at discovering how and why diseases develop in the brain, and focus on finding
ways to prevent, treat, or cure them.

NIH Patient Recruitment for Moyamoya Disease Clinical Trials

» At NIH Clinical Center
» Throughout the U.S. and Worldwide
+ NINDS Clinical Trials

%

Fa S g B gy 5 oy E T
Organizations

National Rehabilitation information Center (NARIC)

8201 Corporate Drive

Suite 600

Landaver, MD 20785
naricinfo@heitechservices.com
http:/iwww.naric.com &

Tel: 301-458-5900/301-459-5984 (TTY) 800-346-2742
Fax: 301-562-2401

National Stroke Association

9707 East Easter Lane

Suite B

Centennial, CO 80112.3747
info@stroke.org

http:/lwww.stroke,org &

Tel: 303-649-8299 800-STROKES (787-6537)
Fax: 303-649-1328

Fraacy

National Organization for Rare Disorders {NORD})

55 Kenosia Avenue
Danbury, CT 06810

orphan@rarediseases.org
hitp://'www.rarediseases.orn &

Tel: 203-744-0100 Voice Mail 800-909-NORD (6673)
Fax: 203-798-2291

Children's Hemiplegia and Stroke Assocn. {(CHASA)

4101 West Green Oaks Blvd,, Ste. 305
PMB 149
Arlington, TX 76016

info437@chasa.or
http:/f'www.chasa.org &

Tel: 817-492-4325

FMolatad MINDS Publications and information

» NINDS Multi-Infarct Dementia information Page

Mutti-infarct dementia information sheet compiled by the National Institute of
Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS). :

- NINDS Cerebral Arteriosclerosis Information Page

Cerebral arterioscierosis information sheet compiied by the National Institute of
Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS).

» Stroke: Hope Through Research

An informational booklet about stroke compiled by the National Institute of
Neurclogical Disarders and Stroke (NINDS).

+ NINDS Stroke Information Page

>troke Information sheef compiléd by the National Institute of Neurological Disorders

and Stroke (NINDS),

http:f{www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/moyam oya/moyamoya,hm
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Exhibit F
August 26, 2012 Excerpt from Alane Olson Autopsy Report
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AUTOPSY REPORT

Case Number: 12-07691

. Clark County Coroner ™

1704 Pinto Lane
Las Vegas, NV 89106
(702} 455-3210

P |

August 26, 2012 fm

AUTQPSY REPQRT

PATHOLOGIC EXAMINATION ON THE BODY OF
BEVERLY ESTELLA MCFARLANE

FINAL PATHOLOGIC FINDINGS

I Brain injuries.
A.  Scant right-sided galeal and temporalis muscle
hemorrhage,

B. [Left-sided subdural hematoma, with cerebral goftening,
C.  Per neuropathology report:

1. Diffuse acute cerebral ischemic damayge

2. Cerebral edema with herniacion.

3. Sub-acute left temporal lobe hemorrhage.

4. Pontine microinfarct.

IT. Clinically docunented complete ccclusgion of the left
internal carotvid artery and narrowing of the right internal
carotid artery.

III. Acute bronchopnsumonia.

Iv. Status post organ donation {(heart valves, kidneys, spleen,

" left adrenal gland),

OPINION

CAUSE OF DEATH: It is my opinion that this iG-year-old woman, Beverly
Estella McFarlane, died as a result of brain injuries due to agsault.
Other gignificant conditions include ischemic encephalopathy dus to
occlusion of the left internal carotid artery, hypercension, and

diabetes mellitus.

MANNER OF DEATH: HOMICIDE,

(s 4], o

Alane M. Qlson, M.D.
Pathologist

A¥M0O/jph/amu

Liggemination is resiricted,

Secon dary-dissemination-ofthis-docunrent is orotibied;

27l
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December 19, 2012 Neuropathology Report, Dr. Claudia Greco
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December 19, 2012

Clark County Medical Examiner/Coroner’s Office
1704 Pinto Lane
Las Vegas, NV 80106

RE: Clark County Case # 12-7691
UCDMC Department of Pathology Case #12:051468

NEUROPATHOLOGY REPORT

Received wrapped in 4 moistened towel in & container labeled "12-07691,"
"McFarlane, Beverly E," and "8-26-12" is 2 Tormalin-fixed, whole brain and fragmented dura,

Gross Examination: Fixed brain weight= 1098 gm. External exsmination of the brain shows
diffuse swelling of the cortical gyri, As the corpus callosum appears artifactually disrupted,
assassment of subfalcine herniation Is not possible. The surface of the left hemisphere is grey.
brown in color, and corresponds to the left subdural hemerrhage, Examination of the inferior
surface of the brain shows a large left uncal noich of approximately 5 mm depth. The Circle of
Willis is free of atherosclerotic changes. Externally, the brainstern and cerebellura show
elfacement of external structures, and there is praminent tonsiflar hernistion. Removal of the
brainstern and cerebellum shows the lefi uncal noteh to measure 4.5 cmx 1.8 ¢m x S mm, The
brain is cut in the coronal plane, and shows the ventricles to be alit-like, Thets {5 a ciroular red-
brown leston in the right frontal pole white matter that measures 0.3 x 0.3 cm and traverses the
right corpus callosum. The left temporal [obe contains a large red-brown hemorrhage that
measares 2.3 X 3.5 ¥ 2 cm in greatest dimensions, There is marked compression of the left
hippocampus. Horizontal sections of the brainstem and cerebellum show effacement of mnatomic
markings, compression of the left cerebral peduncle, and multiple small punctate hemorrhages
that show in the right midbrain and rostral pons, Less than [¢c of blood is present in the 4th
ventricle. There is prominent bilateral cerebellar tonsillar hemiation. The smal] fragments of
dura show dusky gray discoloration. Cn the inner aspeet of the left dural cap, there isa
collection of casily removable red-brown materlal that is no great than Smm in thickness. The
subdural collection measures 15 om x 10 et in greatest dimensions, The sagifal sinus is free of

thrombus.
Gross photographs are taken and are included with this report.
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Case 12-7691, cont.

Sections are tuken as follows:

Bl Shunt tact, right frontal lobs
B2  Left temporal lobe hemorshage
B} Left hippocampus

B4  Right hippocampus

B  Midbrain
B6  Right cerebellar cortex
B7 Left dure

B8  Leftfrontal pole

B9  Right frontal pole

B10  Right anterior corpus callosum

BIl  Right posterior corpus callosum

B12  Lefl thalamus, posterior intemal capsule
B13  Right thalamus, postetior internal capsule
Bl4  Left cersbellar peduncle

BI5  Right cerebellar peduncle

Bi6 Upper pums

B17 Right anterjor corona radiata

BI8  Left posterior corons radiata

B19  Right anterior corenal radiata

B20  Left posterior ¢cerona radiata

Microscopic Deseription; All cortical segtions show diffusely pyknotic neurons, as do both
hippocampi. There is homogenization of red cells in the shunt tract, Sections of the left temporal

lobe hemorrhage shows homogenization of red cells, focal lines of Zabn, and surrounding
infiltration by lymphocytes and macrophages, Hemorrhages in the midbrain and pons show
primarily homogenized red cells. There is & single microinfarct in the pons that shows
macrophage infiltration and s surrounded by a smail mumber of swollen axons, Sections of dura
show intact a5 well as homogenized red cells, surly formation of lines of Zahn, gnd scattered
patchos of fibroblastic profiferation (3-3 cells thick) and neovascular invasion of the clot.
Homogenized red cells are seen in midbrain hemorrhages.. Purkinje cells are rounded and have
pyknotic nuclel, H&E stain shows no swollen axons in any section, save for a small number of

them surrounding the pontine microinfarct,
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Case 12,7691, cont,
FINAL DIAGNOSIS:

A. SUBACUTE LEFT.SIDED SUBDURAL HEMORRHAGE (APPROXIMATELY
3-4 DAYS DURATION),

B, DIFFUSE ACUTE CEREBRAL ISCHEMIC DAMAGE.

C. CEREBRAL EDEMA WITH HERNIATION INJURY (GROSS EXAMINATION),
1. DURET HEMORRHAGES OF MIDBRAIN, UPPER PONS, :

D. §/P RIGHT FRONTAL LOBE VENTRICULAR SHUNT PLACEMENT.

E. SUBACUTE LEFT TEMPORAL LOBE HEMORRHAGE
(APPROXIMATELY 2- 4 DAYS). ’ .

F. PONTINE MICROINFARCT (APPROXIMATELY § DAYS DURATION), WITH
SURRQUNDING AXONAL SWELLINGS.

Note: An addendum teport will be issued with the results of B-APP staining that will aid in the
detection of swollen axons,

Claudia M. Greco, M\D. 4
HSCF Professor of Pathology
Neuropathology

12/19/12

TOTAL P.{Adg
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Electronically Filed
03/05/2015 01:46:47 PM

RET | O W

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565
ROBERT STEPHENS
Depuay District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286
200 Lewis Avenue
Las Vepas, Nevada 89155-2212
g702) 671-2500

tate of Nevada

CLERK OF THE COURT

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

In the Matter of Application, )
of § Case No. C-14-295313-1
Dept No. XXV
ANTHONY TYRON MAYQ,
#2581304
for a Writ of Habeas Corpus. %
)

RETURN TO DEFENDANT’S ADDENDUM TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF
HABEAS CORPUS
DATE OF HEARING: March 16, 2015
TIME OF HEARING: 9:00 A.M.

COMES NOW, DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada,
Respondent, through his counsel, STEVEN B. WOLFSON, District Aftorney, through
ROBERT STEPHENS, Chief Deputy District Attorney, files this Return to Defendant’s
Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, currently set for hearing on March 16, 2015
at 9:00 A.M.

This Return is made based upon ali papers and pleadings filed herein and oral

arguments at the time set for hearing these matters.

WZ\ZD]ZF\Nl7\33\12FN1733-R.ET-(Mayo__Anthony}-OOZ.docx .
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Wherefore, Respondent prays that the Writ of Habeas Corpus, along with the
Addendum to the Writ, be discharged and the Petition be dismissed.
DATED this 5th day of March, 2015,

Respectfully submitted,
STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

BY

ROBERT STEPHENS
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286

POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
PROCEDURAL SUMMARY
On January 17, 2014, an Indiciment was filed against Anthony Mayo (Defendant)

charging him with Murder. The Grand Jury Transcripts were prepared on January 30, 2014,
Defendant requested more time to file the writ beyond the 21 days. Both parties requested
additional time to file the Return and Reply. On February 28, 2014, Defendant filed a Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus, The State’s Return was filed on April 4, 2014. On April 18,2014,
Defendant filed his Reply. The Court heard arguments on April 21, 2014, The Court passed
the case to May 7, 2014 for decision. On said date, no decision was made,

At calendar call on February 2, 2015, the Court indicated that it needed to decide the
writ. Before allowing the Court to decide the writ, Defendant filed the instant Addendum to
the pending writ more than one year after the Grand Jury transcripts were prepared and nearly
ten months since arguments on the Writ ‘occurred, The State’s Return to Defendant’s
Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus follows.

FACTUAL SUMMARY

On or about August 8, 2012, Beverly McFarlane (Beverly) was living with her husband,
Anthony ‘Mayo (Defendant) and their two children, Ashanti and Ashley. Grand Jury
Transcript (GJT) 41. Defendant became upset when Beverly accidentally called Defendant

2
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while at work. GJT 54. Defendant was so irritated and annoyed by the phone call that he
ordered Ashanti and Ashley to their room. GJT 54. When Beverly arrived home from work,
Defendant was playing with a beach ball with the kids. GJT 56. Beverly asked that they stop
playing while she began cooking dinner. GJT 56. This caused a verbal argument between
Beverly and Defendant. GJT 56. Once dinner was finished they all went upstairs to the master
bedroom. GJT 58.

Another argument arose about the cooking, GJT 59. Defendant ordered Ashanti and
Ashley to their room. GJT 59. Defendant was so mad that his eyes were “popping out of hié
head” and his vein was popping out of his forehead. GJT 66. Beverly tried to call 911 but
Defendant slapped the phone out of Beverly’s hand. GIT 59. The phone slid under the fridge
in the room. GJT 72. Ashanti tried to retrieve the phone, but Defendant stopped her, GJT 72.

Defendant then mounted Beverly and began choking her. GIT 59. Out of fear, Ashanti
and Ashley went to their room which is directly across from the master bedroom. GIT 60.
Defendant punched Beverly numerous times in the face and body. GJT 63. Beverly kept
screaming for help. GJT 63. Defendant then began to choke her. GJT 63. Ashanti saw
Defendant pushing Beverly down into the bed. GIT 63. She knew Beverly was being choked
because she could hear it in Beverly’s voice. GJIT 64. Beverly would scream and then she
would just stop. GJT 64.

Ashanti eventually turned away from the beating in an attempt to find her mom’s phone
in her purse. GJT 60. Ashanti was unable to find the phone in the purse. GJT 61. Defendant
observed Ashanti searching for the phone. GJT 72. He told Ashanti that if she called the
police, he would knock Beverly out. GJT 73. He also threatened to “whoop” Ashanti, GJT
73. Ashanti then hid bchi_hd the door so she could not see what Defendant was doing to her
mother, GJT 61.

At some point, Defendant rhetorically asked where his bat was. GJT 61. Defendant
then went into the garage to look for his bat.l GJT 61. Knowing where the bat was located,
Ashanti rushed downstairs and hid the metal bat. GJT 61. Ashanti then returned to her room.
GIT 62. Still upset, Defendant returned to the master bedroom, this time grabbing a vacuum.

3

wA2012RNT 73N 2FNT 733-RET-(Mayo__Anthony)-302.docx

278




Ll

W 6o 1 Oy A W) ) e

[ S R o D A A A o Y o B AN o e e e e e R e T e S e B B e
o -1 v o B W M — @ N e =1 N L R W ) e D

GIT 62, Defendant closed the door behind him. GJT 64. Ashanti could hear her mother
screaming to “stop” and “not do that.” GJT 64. She then heard a loud bang. GJT 65.

Some time passed and Beverly exited the bedroom with a limp. GJT 65. She was
severely beaten, with scratches on her face. GJT 70. Dust was in her hair and on her person,
GIT 65. ‘There was also dust on one side of the bed. GJT 65. The vacuum was broken. GIT
68. Beverly was having a hard time speaking. GJT 71, Beverly took a bath and then tried to
sleep in Ashanti’s room, however, Defendant demanded that she sleep in the master bedroom
with him. GJT 71.

The next morning, August 9, 2012, Ashanti heard Defendant apologizing to Beverly.
GJT 74. Beverly slept almost all day. GJT 74. Beverly woke up at around dinner time. GJT
74. She could only whisper. GIT 75. Ashanti brought some food to Beverly. GIT 75. It
appeared to Ashanti that her mom was “very sick.” GJT 76. Beverly’s eyes were red and her
skin was peeled off on one side of her face. GIT 76-77.

On August 10, 2012, Ashanti was woken up by Defendant yelling and cursing at
Beverly to go to work. GJT 44, 46. After Beverly informed Defendant that she would not be
going to work, the Defendant left the residence. GIT 44. At this time, Beverly got out of bed
and tried to call the police. GJT 42-44. Beverly limped to the stairs. GIT 47. Beverly could
only whisper, even though she was trying to talk louder. GJIT 48. Initially Beverly called 411.
GIT 49. Then she called 311. GJT 44-45. Because Beverly was having a difficult time
talking, Ashanti eventually took over the 911 call. GJT 43, 43,

Officer Vital and other police officers eventually arrived at the residence and tried to
speak to Beverly; however, again Beverly had difficulty éommunicating with them. GIT 43,
86. Initially Officer Vital spoke to Ashanti who pointed him towards Beverly. GJT 87.
Officer Vital described Beverly as “a little lethargic, disoriented, kind of displaying sort of
intoxicated type of person clues, but I could not smell any odor of alcohol coming from her.”
GJT 87. She had slurred speech and muffled sentences. GJT 87. She would get lost in the
conversation. GIT 87. Beverly was unable to give her date of birth, name the President or
identify the day of the week. GJT 87-88. Officer Vital also noticed that she had abrasions on

4
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the side of her face and her face was swollen. GIT 88-89. Beverly had pettechia and
scratching on her neck. GJT 89. Ashanti testified that Beverly did not have a limp or difficulty
communicating until after Defendant beat Beverly. GIT 52. Beverly was taken to the hospital,
GJT 91.

Officer Aker followed Beverly to the hospital. GIT 93. Officer Aker has taken almost
240 nours in domestic violence training courses and is permitted to teach other cadets about
domestic violence and strangulation. GJT 94, Specific to strangulation, Officer Aker attended
a course on strangulation. GJT 94, This training has assisted other officers in the field on
numerous occasions, GJT 95,

Officer Aker testified that Beverly was very scared and upset, GJT 97. He noticed a
black eye and an abrasion and bruising to her face. GIT 97. Beverly hesitated to move her
neck, GJT 97. She continued to sooth her neck. GIT 97. Her voice was very hoarse. GIT
97. At the hospital, Officer Aker noticed petechial hemorrhaging under her eyelids. GIT 98.
Beverly still had great difficulty in communicating due to her cognitive abilities being
diminished. GJT 102-03.

On August 11, 2012, Officer Aker again returned to the hospital to check up on Beverly.
GJT 106. His interaction with Beverly was somewhat limited due to the several medical
procedures that were being performed. GJT 106. However, Officer Aker noticéd that her
cognitive abilities had worsened. GJT 107. | Beverly had virtually no ability to communicate.
GJT 107. Her answers were just gibberish. GJT 107, '

While in the hospital, many exams were pefforrnéd on Beverly. Radiologist Dr,
Rajneesh Agrawal noted the following impression: “Findings are suggestive of a slow
progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with moyamoya disease. Although the
hypertrophied vessels are not well developed. Other etiologies such as sickle cell disease or
other chronic vasculopathies would have to be also considered.” Defendant’s Exhibit C
attached to Addendum. Further a physician notated, “possible moya moya.” Defendant’s
Exhibit D attached to Addendum.

While at the hospital, Beverly eventually died and her body was examined by Dr.

5
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Olson. GJT 125, Dr. Olson assigned the autopsy case a unique case number. GJT 125-26,
An external review of her body showed that Beverly had intravenous lines on her body, GIT
128. Prior to the autopsy, Dr. Olson noted that Beverly’s organs were donated. GJT 128. In
fact, there was a significant cut down the middle of her body which Dr. Olson said was from
the organ procurement procedure. GJT 129. Dr. Olson also identified other “small injuries”
on the surface. GJT 128,

The internal examination showed that Beverly sustained “considerable amount of
swelling in her brain.” GJT 129. Dr, Olson preserved the brain and sent it to Dr. Greco. GJT
129, 133, She testified that the bleeding on the brain would be indicative of trauma to the
head. GJT 130. Dr. Olson noticed the stark contrast in the coloration of the brain, which is
indicative of one side sustaining more injury than the other. GIT 131. She concluded that her
brain suffered trauma which “ultimately” led to her death. GJT 133-34, Other contributing
factors included the blockage of arteries which interfered with the blood flow to the brain.
GJT 134, This case was determined to be a homicide. GJT 15.

Dr. Claudia Greco has examined 400-500 brains for various reasons in her medical
practice. Grand Jury Transcripts (GJT) 12. The Clark County Coroner’s Officer contacted
her to examine Beverly’s brain. GJT 13. In December 2012, Dr. Greco received the brain
from FedEx and kept it in a locked area. GJT 13. From that point forward she was the only
person who handled the brain. GJT 13. She personally assigned a number to the brain which
correlated with the unique number assigned by the Clark County Coroner’s Office. GJT 14.
In her review of the brain, she noted significant injuries to the left side of the brain. GJT 18&.
Specifically she noted a hemorrhage on the underside of the brain. GJT 18. There was massive
swelling on the brain which would have “gotten to the point where her life was irretrievable.”
GJT 18. The brain began to herniate or go down the spinal cord. GIT 22. Dr. Greco expiained
that this injury is fatal because it will pinch the spinal cord and “destroy the cardiac breathing
mechanisms.” GJT 23. She testified that the brain tissue toward the spinal cord is “very
swollen.” GJT 25. In fact it was so swollen that there was no opening for the cerebrospinal
fluid to transmit to the brain. GIT 26-27. This fluid is important because it brings nutrients

6
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and oxygen to the brain. GJT 27-28. The swelling was so severe that Beverly’s brain would
not have allowed for cerebrospinal fluid to transmit. GJT 28. Additionally, the swelling
prevented blood from transmitting to the brain. GJT 32. The left side of the brain was
noticeably more swollen. GIT 21. She also noted other hemorrhages in the brain. GJT 24,

" Dr. Greco testified that the types of injuries Beverly sustained were absolutely the result
oftrauma. GJT 28. The hemorrhage was large and caused the death of Beverly. GJT 29. Dr.
Greco concluded Beverly “suffered cerebral trauma, brain trauma, and it was aggravated by
the fact that she already had high blood pressure and it was very, very hard to control.” GJT
29, Beverly’s brain was so significantly damaged that medical intervention could not have
saved her life. GJT 30.

Dr. Greco believed these injuries were three to four days old. GJT 31. She further
explained that three to four days after Beverly sustained this trauma to the head, the brain had
swelled to the point where the necessary nutrients, including oxygen and blood would not have
been transmitting to the brain. GJT 33.

Since Defendant filed the instant Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Dr.
Greco has re-examined the brain. It is her conclusion and opinion that Beverly did not suffer
from moya moya. “There is no pathology present that would lead to a diagnosis of Mbyamoya
disease.” State’s Exhibit 1 attached. “No evidence of Moyamoya disease.” State’s Exhibit
1.

Detectives Owens and Bodnar investigated the case once it was determined that
Beverly died. GIT 111. In March 2013, Detectives Owens and Bodnar met with Defendant
in Los Angeles, California, GJT 111-12, After reading Defendant his Miranda rights,

Defendant admitted that a verbal argument escalated into a physical altercation. GJT 113. He
admitted to shoving her with both hands, slapping her in the face, punching her repeatedly,
and striking her with a vacuum. GJT 113. Initially Defendant said that he swung the vacuum

at her, but missed. GJT 117. When he missed the vacuum struck the bedpost and the vacuum

broke. GJIT 117. Later, Defendant said that the vacuum hit Beverly in the hand as she tried |

to block the vacuum from hitting her. GJT 114. Defendant claimed that Beverly pushed and
7
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slapped him as he was irying to leave the residence. GJT 115-16. Defendant said he and
Beverly had intercourse and then the next morning he left the residence. GIT 114, When he
left he told Beverly that he was going to Los Angeles. GJT 117.

Defendant said he gave her some treatment for her black eye to make it appear that she
was not beat up. GJT 118, Defendant aésertqd that he asked'Beverly if she wanted to go to
the hospital, but she refused and just asked for a Tylenol. GJT 119.

ARGUMENT

Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus should be denied on
three grounds. First, it is untimely. Second, Beverly did not suffer from moyamoya disease.
Third, the State presented all the necessary and proper evidence before the Grand Jury. The

State will discuss each below.
L DEFENDANT’S ADDENDUM IS UNTIMELY
NRS 34.700 governs the filing of writs. It reads in relevant part:

1. Except as provided in subsection 3, a pretrial petition for a
writ of habeas corpus based on alleged lack of probable cause or
otherwise challenging the court’s right or jurisdiction to proceed
to the trial of a criminal charge may not be considered unless;
(a) The petition and all supporting documents are filed within
21 days after the first appearance of the accused in the district
court; and
(b) The petition contains a statement that the accused:
(1) Waives the 60-day limitation for bringing an
accused to trial; or
(2) If the petition is not decided within 15 days before
the date set for trial, consents that the court may, without
notice or hearing, continue the trial indefinitely or to a
date designated by the court,
2. The arraignment and entry of a plea by the accused must not be
continued to avoid the requirement that a pretrial petition be filed
within the period specified in subsection 1.
3. The court may extend, for good cause, the time to file a petition.
Good cause shall be deemed to exist if the transeript of the preliminary
hearing or of the proceedings before the grand jury is not available
within 14 days after the accused’s initial appearance and the court
shall grant an ex parte application to extend the time for filing a

8
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petition. All other applications may be made only after appropriate
notice has been given to the prosecuting attorney. (Emphasis added).

Here, Defendant’s initial appearance was on January 27, 2014. Thus, Defendant’s
Petition was due on or about February 17, 2014. Defendant filed his original Petition on
February 28, 2014, For reasons that do not need be discussed in this Return, the State did not
oppose Defendant filing the Petition on February 28, 2014.

However, the Add_endum was ambushed upon the State nearly one year past the
deadline to file the writ when it was filed at calendar call on February 2, 2015. The State did
not agree to the untimely filing of the addendum, nor does there appear to be good cause
permitting such an untimely filing. By statute, NRS 34.700, the Addendum must be dismissed.

Defendant may argue in its Reply that it may supplement any filing prior to decision
by the court, but such a stance lacks any persuasion or authority in this case. Petition filings
are governed by statute. This is likely due to many reasons, one of which is to prevent
unending delays in cases. In fact, the Nevada Legislature specifically passed a statute

preventing additional pretrial petition filings. NRS 34.710(1) reads:

1. A district court shall not consider any pretrial petition for habeas corpus:
(a) Based on alleged lack of probable cause or otherwise challenging
the court’s right or jurisdiction to proceed to the trial of a criminal
charge unless a petition is filed in accordance with NRS 34.700.

(b) Based on a ground which the petitioner could have included
as a ground for relief in any prior petition for habeas corpus or
other petition for extraordinary relief. (Emphasis added)

A defendant may not file additional writs presenting grounds of relief that could have
previously been raised.

Here, Defendant essentially filed a Second Petition cloaked as an “Addendum” in an
attempt to subvert NRS 34.710. Addendums and supplements are filed to provide additional
information on issues previously submitted to the court. Defendant is not supplementing
additional information on the issues previously presented to the court. He is alleging a new

issue that could have and should have been raised in the initial petition. If Defendant was

presenting information in its “Addendum” related to issues previously raised in its Petition,
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then possibly the instant filing could be considered an addendum. Such is not the case here.

Defendant’s initial Petition never once addressed a concern that Beverly may have had
moya moya disease. Defendant is presenting additional theories for relief. Such filings should
not be permitted as it would open a loophole into filing additional petitions in perpetuity by
carefully crafting the filing as an “Addendum.” Clearly, the Legislature never intended
additional filings as NRS 34.7 1 0 states that the “district court shall not” consider issues that
should have been raised in a previous petition.

Lastly, Defendant asserts in its Addendum that he is “alleging new, compelling
evidence.” Defendant’s Addendum, p.2 1.8. The “new and compelling” e;/idence is that
Beverly may have had moya moya disease. (Emphasis added). This is not new evidence.
Defendant was sent the medical records on December 12, 2013, a month before the grand jury
and more than a year before the instant filing of Defendant’s Addendum. This is not “new”
evidence. Nor does it rise to the level of good cause. Defendant was aware of this information
when he filed his initial petition. Had it been so compelling, as alleged, it should have been
raised in the initial pefition, not nearly a year later.

Defendant’s instant Addendum is statutorily barred from consideration by this Court.
This Court should Dismiss Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus
pursuant to NRS 34.700 and 34.710.

II. BEVERLY DID NOT HAVE MOYA MOYA DISEASE

Should this Court nonetheless decide to address the merits of Defendant’s Addendum,
the State submits that Beverly never had moya moya disease. See attached Exhibit 1. Since
Defendant filed the instant Addendum claiming that Beverly died of moya moya disease, Dr.
Greco has conducted additional analysis on the brain. She has concluded that there is no
pathology present leading to a diagnosis of moya moya discase. Beverly did not have moya
moya disease. Thus, the evidence Defendant claims to be exculpatory, was in fact not
exculpatory. There was no violation of the State’s duty to present the possibility of Beverly
dying from moya moya disease because she did not have moya moya.

i
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III. THE STATE PRESENTED THE PROPER AND NECESSARY
EVIDENCE |

In the event this Court decides not to rely upon Dr. Greco’s further analysis on the

brain, the State submits that the possibility of Defendant suffering from moya moya disease is

not exculpatory in nature. NRS 172,145 requires the State to present evidence that “will

explain away the charge.” Possibly exculpatory evidence should not be examined piece by

piece but as a whole in context of all the facts. Mazzan v. Warden, Ely State Prison, 116 Nev.

48, 71, 993 P.2d 25, 39 (2000). “Undisclosed evidence must be considered collectively, not
item by item.” Id. In other words, the evidence cannot be considered in a vacuum. The
determination of whether particular evidence is exculpatory is generally left to the discretion

of the district court. Ostman v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 107 Nev. 563, 564, 816 P.2d

458,459 (1991). In exercising its discretion, the court must review the allegedly exculpatory
evidence in context with the other facts of the case. See King v. State, 116 Nev. 349, 358-59,
998 P.2d 1172, 1178 (2000).

In King, the State failed to present the testimony of four witnesses inside the residence
when the police executed the search warrant. Id. at 358, at 1172. These four witnesses would
have allegedly testified that the police did not knock and announce their presence prior to
entering the residence. Id. King asserted that this evidence would have shown that he was in
reasonable fear for his life when he, along with his other comrades, shot at the police when

the police entered the residence. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court held, “Assuming that the

provisions of NRS 172.145(2) were violated by the State’s failure to present the testimony of |

the four individuals to the grand jury, in light of the overwhelming evidence against King, we
conclude that violation does not compel reversal.” Id. at 359, at 1172, Thus it appears that
courts must weigh the exculpatory nature of the evidence in context of all the facts.

Here, Defendant urges this Court to defermine that the radiologist’s statement is
exculpatory. This Court must consider the entire statement in context of the other facts of the
case before concluding that it is exculpatory. Dr. Agrawal stated, “Findings are suggestive of
a slow progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with moyamoya disease. Although

11
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hypertrophied vessels are not well developed. Other ctiologies such as sickle cell disease or
other chronic vasculopathies would have to be considered.” A physician’s note identified the
“possibility” of moya moya disease. This note could have been solely based upon Dr.
Agrawal’s findings. There is no evidence that this physician conducted his own analysis in
identifying a possibility of moya moya disease. Neither of these doctors actually diagnosed
Beverly with moya moya disease. In fact, no doctor has diagnosed her with this disease. The
doctors were merely speculating at the time. Dr. Agrawal said there were findings
“suggestive” of moya moya, In the very next comment he states that it was difficult for him
to make a determination because the “hypertrophied vessels are not well developed.” Dr.
Agrawal did not have sufficient evidence to come to any real conclusion. He then continues
by listing other various possibilities to explain his findings. These comments, buried in a
mound of medical records, do not exculpate Defendant. A possibility of having a rare disease
does not exculpate Defendant in this case when considered in conjunction with the other
evidence.

If Defendant just wants to speculate, then in the spirit of speculation, it is also possible
that Beverly simply died of old age. Defendant is requesting this court to venture down a very
slippery slope of speculation. Should this Court determine that this evidence is exculpatory
and should have been presented to the grand jury, then in every single murder case ever
presented before the grand jury, the Stale will be obligated to present every possible
explanation of death regardless of how implausible it is. For example, a victim with diabetes
is shot in the head; the State would be obligated to present evidence that she had diabetes. A
victim, who has cancer, is hit by a train; the State would be obligated to present evidence that
he had cancer. The possible causes of death could be endless, including the most absurd of
which could include alien intervention.

Furthermore, in this specific case, Defendant is asking this Court to take another
speculative step down the slippery slope. Defendant is not simply asking this Court fo
determine that Beverly had moya moya, of which no doctor has ever diagnosed her, but to also
conclude that moya moya was the actual cause of death. That is the only way the evidence
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would be exculpatory because that is the only way it would “explain away the charge.”
However as previously stated, Dr, Greco has already determined that Beverly did not suffer
from moya moya. It should be noted that Dr, Greco and Dr. Olson both reviewed the medical
records prior to coming to any conclusion on the cause and manner of death. Even with the
review of the medical records that suggest there may be a possibility of moya moya disease,
both doctors concluded that Beverly died of blunt force trauma to the head. Defendant desires
this Court to rely upon speculation of moya moya as the cause of death. The evidence does
not even support that she had moya moya disease, let alone that she actually died of moya
moya. Beverly died of blunt force trauma to the head.’

Moreover, prior (o the grand jury presentation, defense counsel submitted a letter to the
State requesting that certain evidence be presented to the grand jury, In sum, this was evidence
defense counsel believed would exculpate Defendant. Nowhere in that letter does defense
counsel request that the State present the possibility of Beverly having moya moya disease or
that Beverly actually died of moya moya. If this evidence was so glaringly exculpatory, the
State {inds it interesting that the first time Defendant ever mentioned it is more than one year
after the grand jury deliberated.

The mere possibility that Beverly had moya moya and the speculation that she actually
died of moya moya is not exculpatory when evaluated in context of all the evidence, It is
highly unlikely and very improbable that she died of moya moya. Ashanti testified that
immediately after Defendant severely beat Beverly, Beverly began to have cognitive issues.
Her speech was slurred, she could not remember the number for 911 and did not cogently
respond to basic questions. The evidence that she may have had moya moya is not eiculpatory

and thus the State had no obligation to present it to the grand jury
CONCLUSION
This Court should DISMISS Defendant’s Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas

Corpus as it is extremely untimely. Additionally, Beverly did not have moya moya disease

* The State encourages the court to review the photos admitted to the Grand Jury to see the significant trauma caused from
blunt force, not moya moya. The photos show clear traumatic injury to ene side of her head.

13
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and thus the exculpatory nature of the speculation of doctors is eliminated. Even without the
further analysis by Dr. Greco on the brain, the evidence is not exculpatory as it is based purely
upon speculation. The State respectfully requests that this Court DISMISS and/or DENY
Defendant’s Addendum to Petition fdr Writ of Habeas Corpus.

DATED this 5th day of March, 2015.

- Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001365

BY

ROBERT STEPHENS
Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #011286

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that service of the above and foregoing Return to Defendant's
Addendum to Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, was made this ;r)t\\ day of March, 2015
to;

AMY FELICIANO, Deputy Public Defender
iohnsoaa@clarkcountynv.gov

DAN SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender
SilverDA@clarkcountynv.gov

BY: ;\M,%}%\

Theresa Dodson —
Secretary for the District Attorney's Office
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RUN DATE: 02/25/15 LABORATORY REPORT

RUN TIME: 1723 UC DAVIS MEDICAT, CENTER CLINICAL LABORATORY
RUN USER: 07485 Lydia P. Howell, M.D. Director ‘ PAGE 1
Bpecimén Inquiry
SPEC #: 12:081468 COLL: 08/23/12-2300 BT ID: 12-7691
RECD: 11/09/12-1354 CLIENT: CLARK (O, NV. CORONER/MED EXM
STATUS: S0UT CLARK CO. NV. CORONER/MED EXM
Addendum #1 Entered: 03/25/15-1728
REASCN FOR ADDENDUM; NEUROEATHOLOGY ADDENDUM,
ADDENDUM TO NEUROPATHOLOGY REPORT:
Replacement blocks taken (original blocks leat):
B17 Right anterior corona radiata
B18 Right posterior corona radiata
B19 ILeft anterior corona radiata
B20 Left posterior corona radiata
Additional blocks taken:
: B2l Anterior cerebral arteries
i B22 Various basal arteries
B23 Right internal carotid artery, intracranial portion
B24. Left internmal carotid artery, intracranial portion
B25 cortex
B26 Lenticular nuclei ‘
; B27 Additional section, left temporal lobe hemorrhage
| . .
: Micrdscopic examination for sbove: Thers are no abnormalities seen in sections o
i ‘the corona radiata (B17-B20). The anterior cerebral arteries show focal :
: athervsclerotic depositions that compromise the vascular lumen by 15-20%,.The right
invernal carotid artery shows patchy athexosclerosis with compromise of 50-60%. The
; left internal carotid artery shows severe atherosclerotic changes amounting to
: . focal, complete oeelusion of the vessel. The section of cortex (B25) shows normal
' - wyeassel structuring throughout. The lenticular nuclei show no increzse in the number
i of vessels, nor is there abnormal structuring on the vessels present. The hemorrhaga
| within the left temporal hemorrhage contains distinguishable red blood cells without
organization., HElastic stains on vesgsels of the Circle of Willis show mo
abnormalities of the elastic membranes (B21-B24).
I Comment: Occlusive changes in the Circle of Willis are those of atherosclerosis.
. There is no pathology present that would lead to a diagnosia of Moyamoya disease,
:
i
' Addendum to Final Diagnomis, following 2nd examination of the post-mortem brain:
2315 Stockeon Blvd, ** CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE ** phone (916) 734-0500
Sacramento CA 55817 Fax [BA8) 734-BE6RS
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RON DATE: 02/25/15

LABORATORY REPORT

RUN TIME: 1729 UC DAVIS, MEDICAL CENTER CLINICAL LABORATORY

RUN USER: 07485

[

Lydia P. Howell, M.D. Director PAGE Z

pATTENT; MCEARCANE BEVERLY

Spg¢cimen Inguiry

Specimen: 12:051468

Received: 11/09/12-135¢ {Continued)

[T~ . BUPPLEMENTARY REEORT:

ﬂ(CQntlnued)

F. Patchy severe cerebrovascular atherosclerosis, Circle of Willis. No evidence of

Moyamoya dilssasa.

addendum Signed ‘(Elect¥cnih

&d): CLAUDIA GRECO, MD 02/25/15 1729

-DIAGNOETS:.

FINAL DIAGNOSIS:

A. SUBACUTE LEFT-SIDED SUBDURAL HEMORRHAGE (APPROXIMATELY 3- 4 DAYS

DURATION) .

B. DIFFUSE ACUTE CEREBRAL ISCHEMIC DAMAGE,
T

¢, CERBERAL EDEMA WITH EERNIATION INJURY (GROSS EXAMINATION) .
1. ~DURET HEMORRHAGES OF MIDBRAIN, UFFER PONS.

D. &/p RIGHT FRONTAL LOBE VENTRICULAR SHUNT PLACEMENT.
.. SUBACUTE LEFT TEMPDHAL LOBE HEMORRHAGE (APPROXIMATELY 2- &4 DAYS}) .

F. DONTINE MICROINFARCT (APPROUXIMATELY 5 DAYS DURATION), WITH EURROUNDING

AXONAI, SWELLINGS.

Note: BAn addendum repert will be issued with the results of B-AFP gtaining that
will aid in the detection of swollen axons.

1

/

Suspected Diagnosis:
Clinical Information:
' Collected by:

2315 sStocktan Blvd.
gacramento CA 55B17

Autopay, Limited, Simgle Brain

Brain

Cclark County Coroners Office

1704 Pinko Lane .

Las Vegas, WV B9106

{702) 455-3210 Telephone

(702) 387-0032 Fax

Contact Person: Rebecca Drummoznd -

** CONTINDED ON NEXT PAGE *% Fhone (516} 734-0500 i
Fax {816) 734-5665
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RUN DATE; 02/25/15 LABORATORY REPORT
RUW TIMG: 1729 UC DAVIS MEDICAL CENTER CLTNTCAL LaBORATORY

RUN USER: 07485 Lydia P. Howell, M.D. Director PRGE 3

Specimen Inquiry

Sarimy; HCEARLANE, BEVERLY.

Specimén: 12;081468 Received: 11/09/12-13154 {Contipued)

[  CLINICAL INFORMATION.. ' 7](Continued) '

Other/8pecial Reguests: Stains as needed by Neuropatholist
1 hrain collected on 08/23/12

N
} Referring M.D.: Alane Olson, M.D.

Assigned M.D.: Claudia Greaco, M.D.

Recelved wrapped in a woistened towel in a container iabelsd H13-07691,"
"McFarlane, Beverly E," and v8-26-12" ig a formalin-fixed, whole brain and
fragmented dura.

[( . MICROSCOPIC: DESCRIPTION::

v

Gross Examination: Fixed brain weight= 1098 gm. Bxternal examination of the brain
shows diffuse swelling of the cortical gyri. ‘As the corpus callosum appears
artifactually disrupted, asgessment of subfaleine herniation is not possible. The
surface of the left hemisphere is grey-brown in colar, and corresponds to the left
supdural hemorrhage. Examination of the inferlor surface of the brain shows a large
left uvncal notch of approximztely 5 mm depth. 'The Circle of Willis im free of
atheroaclerotic changes. Externally, the brainstem and cerebellum show effacement of
external structures, and there is prominent tonsillar herniation. . Removal of the
brainstem and cerebellum shows the left uncal noteh to measure 4.5 cm x 1.8 cm x 5
mm. The brain is cut in the coronal plane, and shows the ventricles to be slit-like.
There is a circular red-brown lesicon in the right frontal pole white matter that
measures 0.3 x 0.3 em and traverses the right corpus callosum. The left temporal
lobe eontains a large red-brown hemorrhage that measures 2.5 x 3.5 x 2 cm in
greatest dimensions. There is marked compressicn of the left hippocampus.
Horizontal sections of the brainstem and cerebellum show effacement of anatomic
markings, compression of the left cerebral pedimcle, and multiple small punckate
hemorrhages, that show in the right midbrain and rostral pons., Less than lce of
blcod is present in the 4th ventricle. There is prominent bilateral cerebellar
tonsillar herniation. The small fragments of Gura show dusky gray discoloration. On
the inner aspect of the left dural cap, there is a collestion of easily removable
red-brown waterial that is mo great than S5mm in thickness. The subdural collection
measures 15 cm x 10 om in greatest dimengions. The sagittal sinus is free of
thromhbus,
Gross photographs are taken and are included with this repoxt,

Sections are taken as follows:

B1 shunt tract, right frontal lobe

2315 Btockbton Bled. *% CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE %+ Bhona (316} 734-
Bacramenta CAR 95B17 ’ Fax (816) 734-

0500
5665
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RUN DATE: 02/25/18 LABORATORY REPORT

RUN TIME: 1723 UC DAVIS MEDICAL CENTER CLINICAL LABORATORY

“RDN USER: 07485 Lydia P. Howell, M.D. Directox PAGE 4

- Bpecimen Inquiry

patIENT: | MCPAREANE, BEVERLY:. . 17 1 hoctel R0000453953
‘spacimen: 12:081468 Received: 11/09/12-1354 {Continued)
[T MICROSCOPIC, DESCRIPLLON. 1 7 (Continued)

B2 Left temporal lcbe hemorrhage
Nk B3 Left hippocampus
. B4 Right hippocampus
¥  BS Midbrain
"+ BB Right cerebellar cortex
B7 Left dura
B8 Left frontal pole
B9 Right frontal pole ]
B10 Right anterior corpus callosum
B1ll Right postsrior corpus callosum’ N
B12 Left thalamus, posterior internal capsule
813 Right thalamus, posterior 1nternal capsule
Blz Left cerebellar peduncle
B15 Right cerebellar peduncle
Bls Upper pons
© B17 Right anterior corona radiata
. Ble Left posterior corcna radiata
B15 Right anterior corcnal radlata
B20 Left posterior corona radiata

Microscopic Description: All cortical sections show diffusely pykunotic néurons, ae
do both hippocampi. There is homogenlzation of red cells in the shunt tract.
Sections of the left temporal lobe hemorrhage shows homogenlzation of red cells,
focal lines of Zahn, and surrounding infiltration by lymphocytes and macrophages.
Hemorrhages in the midbrain and pong ‘show primarily homogenized red celle. There is
a single microinfarct in the pon= that shows macrophage infiltration and iz
gurrounded by a small number of swollen axoos. Sections of dura show intact as well
as homogenized red cells, early formation of lines of Zahn, and scattered patches of
fibreblastic proliferation (3-5 cells thick} and neovascular invasion of the clot,
Homogenized red cells are seen in midbrain hemorrhages.. Purkinje cells are rounded
and have pyknotic nuclei. H&E stain shows no swollen axons in any section, save for
a small numper of them surrounding the pontine microinfarct,

“My electronic slgnature below is attestatlon that I have personally reviewed
‘the subwmitted specimen(s) and the deacrlptiﬂn and diagnosis on this report
.reflects this evaluation.

{GDIA GRECO, MD 12/19/12 1853

2315 stockton Blivd. *% ENL OF REPORT *+* phone [916) 734-0500
. Bacramento CA 95817 Fax (915} 734-5BE5
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Electronically Filed
03/12/2015 10:43:00 AM

PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER

NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 | A )
309 South Third Strect, Suite 226 ‘ Cﬁ« i‘fég""‘”"‘
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 _

(702) 455-4685 CLERK OF THE COURT

Attorney for Defendant
~ DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA _

THE STATE OF NEVADA, )

Plaintiff, % CASENO. C295313

v, 3 DEPT.NO. XXV

ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, 3) T%ﬁ% E %agciz? 2015

‘Defendant. % '

DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ADDENDUM TO
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS )

COMES NOW, the Defendant, ANTHONY TYRON MAYO, by and through
AMY A. FELICIANO, Deputy Public Defender, and DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public
Defender, and hereby files this reply in support of his previously filed Addendum to his Petition
for Writ of Habeas Corpus. |

This Reply is made and hased upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein and

oral argument ai the time set for hearing this Motion.

DATED this |4 _day of March, 2015,

Deputy Puf\lic Defender

DA SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender
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- ARGUMENT

The Defendant’s Addendum presents & very basic Question: does evidence of 2 medical
condition that fepresents a reasonable alternate explénation of the alleged victim’s death consistent
with the defendant’s innocence constitute exculpatory evidence that the State should have
presented to the grand jury pursuant to NRS 172.145(2)? Because this question must be answered
in the affirmative, the Defendant’s Petition should be granted and the pén&ing Indictment
dismissed. This medical evidence possessés‘ an exculpatory value of a character and quality unlike
any other; it transcends beyond merely supporting a d_efense for the charge but directly challenges

whether a criminal offense was committed at all. The State was commanded by statute to present

it and has no excuse for its failure to do so.
The State’s Return offers three equally specious arguments why the Defendanl’s Petition

should be denied. These arguments will be addressed in turn.
1. DEFENDANT’S ADDENDUM IS NOT TIME-BARRED BY NRS 34.700.
A. The State was not “ambushed” by the Defendant’s A_ddenduﬁ.

The State is not being truthful with the Court when it complains that it was “ambushed”
with the instant Addendum on February 2, 2015, State’s Return, p.9 11.6-7. On January 31, 2015,
the defense sent an electronic mail to Deputy District Attorney Rob Stephens notifying him of
their intent to file an addendum to the previously filed petition. In this electronic mail, the defense
told the prosecutor that the addendum was going to raise the issue that the State had failed fo
inform the grand jury of evidence that Beverly McFarlane died as a result of moyamoya disease.
Additionally, in the weeks prior to the February 2 calendar call, the defensc had revealed this
evidence of mayamoya disease to the prosecutor. The undersigned counsel personally met with
Deputy . District Attorney Stephens in his office in January 2015 to bring this issue to Mr.
Stephens’ attention. In fact, the report from Dr. Greco attached to the State’s Return was prepared
in response to this revelation by the defense. The defense had no obligation to provide this
advance notification to the State regarding its intent to file the instant Addendum, but provided that

notice anyway. Under these circumstances, the State’s suggestion that the Petition was addended

by ambush is biatantly false.
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B. The State did not object to the filing of the Addendum.

Despite being nofified well before calendar call that the defense intended to file the instant
addendum, the State acquiesced to the filing in open court on February 2, 2015, Had the State
believed that the addendum was not propérly filed, it had every opportunity to lodge an objectioln
at the time it was filed. When the State '{Nrites in its Retum that “...[t]he State did not agree to the
antimely filing of the addendum,” State’s Return, p.9 11.7-8, again, the claim is at best a half- truth
The State knew in advance the addendum was going to be filed and also knew in advance the 1ssue
that was being raised therein. To the extent the State affirmatively argues in its Returm that it “did

not agree to the untimely filing,” State’s Return, p.9 11.7-8, it must be pointed out that the State did
not object fcn the untimely filing either, despite having ample opporamity to do so.
C. The Defendant’s Addendum does not raise a new ground for relief

The State attempts to invoke NRS 34.710(1}(b) as a reason to bar the filing of Defandant’s

Addendum. State’s Return, p.9 1.14-20. This argument must fail, as this statute has no

applicability to the instant situation. NRS 34.710(1)(b} bars consideration of a pretrial petition

«  based on a ground which the pefitioner could have included as a ground for relief in any prior
petition for habeas corpus or other petition for extraordinary relief.” The claim set forth in the
Addendum is not a ground which could have been raised in a prior petition because, in fact, there
is no prior petition. It is simply a shpplezﬁent to the initial petition, which the State concedes was
timely filed. State’s Return, p.9 11.2-5. The Defendant’s pretrial petition had not been decided at
the time this addendum was filed, and there is no force to the State’s argumert that there was some
“pﬁor" petition which would invoke the piOV'isions of NRS 34.710. Had the Defendant’s petition
been ruled upon, the State would be correct that a subsequent petition would be precluded by NRS
34.710(1)(b). Because the initial petition was timely filed, there is no statufory bar to a
supplement to the grounds raised in that initial petition.

The State clearly understands ﬂ’l]S The State concedes that “...addendums and

supplements are filed to provide additionel information on issues previously submitted o the

Court.” State’s Return, p.9 11.23-24. The State even concedes that “..{ilf Defendant was

presenting informetion in its ‘addendurm’ -related to issues previously raised in its Petition, then

3
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possibly the instant filing could be considered an addendum.” State’s Return, p.9 126 - p.10 L1

The State’s-own logic supports the Defendant’s position.

As pointed out in the Defendant’s:Addcndmn at page 2, lines 5-7, the Defendant’s initial

Petition raised the issue that the State failed to present exculpatory evidence fo the grand jury in.

violation of NRS 172.145(2). As the Defendant argued in the initial Petition, “[t]he Indictment

must be dismissed becaﬁse the State failed to comply with its obligation to present exculpatory
evidence to the grand jury.” Initial Petition, p.12 11.13-14. The Defendant pointed out in the initial
Petition that “[u|nder Nevada law, the State has an absolute duty to present to the grand jury any

evidence whlch tends to explain away the chargcs " Initial Petition, p.12 1.26-27. The Addendum

“filed on February 2, 2015, does not raise 2 new and independent ground for relief; it simply cffers

in the State’s own words, .. additional informiation on issues previously submitted to the Court.”
State’s Return, p.9 11.23-24. Even by the State’s own definition, the Defendant’s filing is clearly
acceptable as an addendum to the previously filed Pefition. It is not, as the State hopes to
characterize it, a “Second Petition cloaked as an ‘Addendum.”” State’s Relumn, p.9 122-23. It
raises no new ground for relief. Tt plainly:offers additionat information to consider with respect to

the Defendant’s initial argument that the State viotated NRS 172.145(2) by failing to present all

|l known exculpatory evidence to the grand jury. There is no procedural bar to preclude this Court

from considering the important information contained in the Addendum. This argument is just the
State’s desperate effort to prevent the Coi:n't from ruling on a clearly egrepious violation of NRS
172.145(2). _

The State’s procedural Hail Mary continues a disturbing trend becoming apparent
throughout this proéecution, The State ﬁ;:é.t withholds compelling evidence of the alleged victim’s
serious pre-existing medical condition from the factfinder in order to obtain an Indiciment, and
now attempts to dodge a ruling on the mérits of its violation with a tortured interpretation of the
statutory time limits, The State clearly 4065 not want this Court to decide on the merits of this
Petition any more than it wanted the grand jgry to decide on the merits of its case. There can be

littde confidence in the final outcome of a presecution where it has been reached through such

gamesmanship.
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I. IT IS FOR THE GRAND JURY, NOT THE STATE, TO DETERMINE THE CREDIBILITY
OF EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE,

A The oﬁz’m’on bf the Srdfe ’s: paid expert is nof a subsﬁmrefor the gm;éd jury’s judgment.

The State next argues that its own expert’s opinion of McFarlane"s medical condition .is a
worthy substitute for the independent judgment of the grand jury. Taking the State’s argument to
its logical conclusion, there should also be no need for a jury tiial, since the prosscutor is of the
opinion that the Defendant is guilty. Because our criminal justice system relies on the judgment of
neutral factfinders, not the opisions of tHe advocates charged with prosecuting the accused, the
report from the State’s p.aid expert is eﬁti:e]y irrelevant to the question of whether the State
violated NRS 172.145(2) by failing to present known exculpatory evidence to the grand jury. The
State would have been free to present Dr. Greco’s opinion to the grand jury along with the
evidence that the alleged victim suffered ?from moyamoya disease. What it is not free to do is
withhold any mention of the evidence because the State does not find it credible.

- B.- The prosecutor cannot withhold exculpatory evidence by persondally disputing ifs

credibiliry.

It is important to note at the outset that Nevada law defines exculpatory evidence as
evidence which “fends fo 'explain away the charge,” and is not Himited fo evidence which

conclusively convinces the prosecutor of the defendant’s innocence. In Qstman v. Eighth Judicial

District Court, 107 Nev. 563 (1991)? the Nevada Supreme Court concluded the State had violated
NRS 172.145(2) where it withheld from the grand jury a defendant’s statement that the alleged
victim had consented to the sexual assault with which he had been charged. The Court hcid that
the defendant’s statement “had a tendency to explain away the charge[s]... [t]he prosecutor was

therefore obligated... to present it to the grand jury.” Ostman at 564-565. Whether or not the.

prosecuting attorney in Ostman believed the defendant’s statement was credible was of no moment

to the question of whether NRS 172.145(2) had been violated. Nor should it have beén. If the
prosecutor’s obligation to present exculpatory evidence was limited to evidence that definitively

convinced the prosecutor of the defendant’s innocence, the statute may as well not exist at all.!

' This is partly a result of Nevada Rule of Professional Conduct 3.8(a), which instructs that a prosecutor must “refrain
from prosecuting a charge that the prosecutor knows is not supported by probable cause.” 1f a prosecutor’s duty to

5

233



)

(PR

Sheriff v, Frank, 103 Nev. 160 (1987), further iJlustrates this poirﬁ. In Frank, the defendant

was charged with one count of lewdness with a minor and one count of sexual assault on a child o

under the age of fourteen. The victim had recanted similar allegations she had made against her

thirteen-year-old brother and an adult male neighbor. Frank at 161. The prosecutor failed to

introduce these recanted allegations at the grand jury, and cut off questions from the grand jurors
to the lead detective about prior false accusations. The Frank Court concluded that the State had
violated its duty to present exculpatory evidence under NRS 172,145(2) by failing to present
evidence that the alleged victim had recanted prior sexual abuse accusations against other persons.
It was irrelevant whether or not the prosecutor in Frank believed the alleged victim’s recantations,
or whethet he had reason to doubt her credibility when she recanted. It was up to the grand jufy
charged with deliberating the indictment to weigh the recantations against the inculpatory
evidence. By withholding the evidence that would tend to explain away the criminal charges

against the defendant, the prosecutor “destroy[ed] the existence of an independent and informed

grand jury.” Frank at 165, quoting United States v. Gold, 4'?0‘F.Supp. 1336, 1353 (N.D.111.1979).

C. The State usurped the critical function of the grand jury by withholding evidence.

By suggesting that evidence of McFatlane’s pre-existing medical condition was rightfully
withheld | from the Defendant’s grand jury proceeding because the State possesses contrary
evidence from its paid expert, the State uéurped the critical finction of the grand jury’s mission
quoting United Sta.tes v. Dionisio, 410 U.S, 1, 16-17 (1973). The State is simply not entitled to
hide exculpatory evidence from the factfinder because, in the State’s independent judgment, that

evidence is not credible or contradicted by other evidence. It is up to the grand jury to determine

whether evidence of McFarlane’s pre-existing medical condition was important in its probable -

cause finding.

The State’s logic would render its obligation under NRS 172.145(2) obsolete. Rather than

present exculpatory evidence to the grand jury, the State would simply need to concoct a reason -

present exculpatory evidence was limited to evidence which conclusively established the defendant’s innocence in the
mind of the prosecutor, NRS 172.145(2) would never come into play, because a prosecutor could not ethically present
such a case to a grand jury in the first place.

6
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that the exculpatory evidence was unworthy of belief. For example, in a case where three
eyewitnesses identified someoﬁe other than the accused, the State could merely withhold the three
unhelpful identifications and later tell a district court that, in its judgment, those three eyewitnesses
did not have an adequate opportunity to see the suspect. Or, in Ostman, the State could hﬁve
simply said that it did not believe the defendant’s story. Or, in Frank, the State could have simply
said that it did nat believe the alleged victim’s recantations. The State presents an absurd and
unworkable reading of NRS 172.145(2). It was up to the grand jury to determine whether
evidence that McFarlane suffered from moyamoya disease impacted their finding of probable

cause, not the prosecutor months after the fact. The contention that the 'presént Petition should be

denied because a State expert contradicts the defense theory must be rejected..

I[I. THE STATE WAS OBLIGATED TO PRESENT THE EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE OF
BEVERLY MCFARLANE’S PRE-EXISTING MEDICAL CONDITION.

4. Mazzan and King do not negate the State’s obligation under NKS [72.143(2).

Finally, the State argues that even if its other two arguments fail — which they must — it was
somehow not required to present the exculpatory evidence that McFarlane’s death was caused by a
disease, not any injury inflicted by the Defendant two weeks prior to her death. It is an cutrageous
suggestion to claim that an alternate cause of death independent of the Defendant’s actions in a
prosecution for firsi-degree murder is somehow not important. The State’:ﬁ citation to Mazzan v,
Warden, 116 Nev. 48 (2000), State’s Return, p.11 11.7-8, demonstrates how far afield the State’s
opposition strays. The quote cited by the State that “[u]ndisclosed evidence must be considered
collectively, not item by item,” State’s Return, p.11 11.8-9, was written with the exact opposite
meaning to which the State now ascribes. In Mazzan, the State argued that specific items of
evidence were not Brady material. The Mazzan Court found fauit with the distriét court’s

piecemeal consideration of each individual item of potentially exculpatory evidence, as made clear

by the lines immediately preceding the line quoted by the State:

“The district court also did not apply the proper standard in assessing the
materiality of this [exculpatory} evidence in question. It considered the
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evidence in isolated bits and found that many of those bits were not
exculpatory. The proper question is whether evidence is “favorable,” and
this *will often furn on the context of the existing or potential evidentiary
record.” Mazzan v. Warden, 116 Nev. 48, 71 (2000).

The Mazzan Court was not saying, as the State implies in its opposition, that exculpatory
evidence can somehow become less exculpatory in the presence of other inculpatory evidence.
The Mazzan Court aétﬁaily said the exact opposite; that the exculpatory nature of certain evidence

sometimes depends on the context of the entire 1ecord, and that individual pieces of exculpatory

evidence that may seem innocuous when considered in a vacuum can take on clearly exculpatory -

value when combined with the totality of evidence in the record,

The State’s reliance on King v. State, 116 Nev. 349 (2000), is misplaced for two reasons.
First, the defendant in King had been convicted on proof be}fond a reasonable doubt at trial when
he raised the issue on appeal that the State had failed to present exculpatory evidence to the grand
jury. The evidence that the Defendant argued could have thwa'r_ted his Indictment had been
presented at trial and failed to sway a jury under a much heavier burden of proof. King at 359,
This situation cannot reasonably be anatogized to the procedural posture of this case, where it is
unknown what effect the exculpatory evidence of McFarlane’s medical condition would have on a
trial jury. The King Court could reliably surmise the exculpatory evi.dence would not have had an
effecf on the probable cause determination because the defendant was convicted of proof beyond a
reasonable doﬁbt evein when the trial jury had considered the evidence.
- More importantly, the exculpatory evidence in King did not directly impact the substance
of the allegations as it does here. In King, police officers were shot at while executing a search

warrant. The defendant was charged with three counts of atterupted murder with use of a deadly

weapon for firing at the entering officers. The exculpatory evidence in King did not go to the

substantive question as to whether the defendant had actually committed the offense. Rather, the
exculpatory evidence there dealt with witnesses who claimed the police had failed to “knock and
announce” their presence, _@g at 358, and thus whether the defendant was in reasonable fear at
the time he fired the weapon. The exculpatory evidenge withheld from the grand jury in this case

is of a very different character. The exculpatory evidence here, if believed by the grand jury,

8
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would establish that McFarlane died as a result of the progression of a medical condition, not as
the result of Mayo’s actions two weeks prior. In other words, the exculpatory evidence in King
went to whether the defendant had a reasonable defense to the charges; the exculpatory evidence

here goes directly to whether a criminal offense was committed at all. King does not control the

outcome of this petition, and even if King were applicable, the State does not have sufficient

evidence of Mayo’s guilf to argue that it was absolved of its statutory duty to present excﬁlpatory
evidence.

B. Evidence does not lose exculpatory value based on the amount of documenis.

The State takes great pains to dom-lplay the importance of the conclusion that McFarlane’s

injuries appeared consistent with moyamoya disease. State’s Return, p.11. [25 - p.12 114, The

State laments that the exculpatory eviderce was **...buried in 2 mound of medical records,” State’s

Return, p.11-12, as though the number of pages in the discovery provides an exception to its
statutory obligation. As previously pointed out, the State acquired these records by insisting that
they were essential to its prosecution, Addendum, p.p 1.19-21, yet now implies o the Court that
they were simply too voluminous to expect them to have been read prior fo the grand jury
presentment. This is a wholly inappropriate argument to be made in a prosecution for first-degree
murder. Through these proceedings, the State seeks to imprison Anthony Mayo for the remainder
of his natural life. That the State now expects this Court to allow them to shirk their duty because
the medical records were lengthy is quite appalling. The State writes that, “...[a] possibility of
having & rare disease does not exculpate Defendant in this case when considered in conjunction
with the other evidence,” State’s Retun, lel 11.12-14, but this statement reflects a fundamental
misunderstanding of the grand jury process. The possibility that McFarlane died as the result of
the progression of a rare disease, as opposed to the relatively minor injurfes she suffered two
weeks prior to her death, absolutely works to exculpate the Defendant, and it does so in 2 manner
that very little other evidence could. For if McFarlane died becanse of a medical condition, aed

not because of Mayo’s actions, then Anthony Mayo is innocent of murder. This evidence is as

exculpatory as it gefs.
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C. The State’s duty under NRS 172.145(2) is not negated by other inculpatory evidence.

The State repeatedly refers to “other evidemce” in the case, as though there is some
smoking gun here that negates its obligation to fully inform the grand jury. Even assuming for a
moment that the State’s obligation under NRS 172.145(2) was dependent on the amount of

inculpatery evidence — which it is assuredly not — this is certainly not the type of case where the

State can rightfully argue that overwhelming evidence supports its theory of guilt. There were no

witnesses to the abuse Mayo allegedly inflicted upon McFarlane. Two young children heard what
sounded like a fight, but no one 'ever'wimessed, Mayo inflict fatal injury. The photos taken of
McFarlane in the hospital also do not reflect the type of injury that it would be reasonable to
assume caused her death. While Mayo admitted to striking McFarlamé, there is no evidence that he
used a vacuum or any other foreign object, and the fact that McFarlane did not die nntil two weeks
later casts substantial doubt on the State’s argument that his actions were the only pessible cause
of her death. This is exactly the type of case where evidence of the alleged victim’s pre-existing
medical condition was so important for the grand jury to conside.r, and why the withholding of this
evidence is so particulariy insidious. The error was greatly compounded when the State elicited
testimony from its expert suggesting that she “really stud[ies] these cases” and “like[s] to be very
sure of the whole thing.” GJT, p.17 114-5. When considered in conjunction with the highly
tenuous nature of the evidence against Mayo, the State’s failure to present exculpatory evidence
pointing to an alternate cause of death is more deserving of a remedy, not less.

D. The exculpatory evidence the State withheld is not “mere speculation.”

The State’s flippant discussion characterizing this exculpatory evidence as mere
“speculation,"’ State’s Return, p.12 11.15-24, is out of line. By casually labelling the evidence of
moyamoya disease as “speculation,” the State implies that the defense threw a dart into the
Physician’s Desk Reference and stumbled upon this disease by chance, The evidence that
McFarlane suffered from moyamoya disease did not manifest out of thin air. It was offered by
independent, unbiased personnel! at the University Medical Center who, unlike the paid expert who
penned the report attached to the State’s Return, have no financial incentive to please either

advocate in this proceeding. Unlike the outlandish examples proposed by the State, moyamoya

10
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{ || disease not only is known to cause death if left unireated, but is known to cause the exact injuries

o | to McFarlane’s brain that the State ascribes to homicide. If diabetes were known to cause gunshot

wounds, or if cancer was known to cause injuries that mimic a train accident, then evidence of

2

those medical conditions would absolutely be exculpatory evidence that the State would be

obligated 1o present to a grand jury. The State is setting up the most far-fetched possible straw

o B

men arguments in order to hide its clear violation of NRS 172.145(2), in much the same way that it
= || hid relevant exculpatory evidence from the grand jury in the first place. To comparé a known fatal
g | disease that causes brain injury by progressive aﬁeﬂaj bcclusion — the precise findings made by the
9 corﬁner here — with “alien intervention,” State’s Return, p.12 1.24, makes a mockery of this issue
10 | and is just as ridiculous as the rest of the State’s arguments, This portion of the State’s brief is
11 || designed to be laughed E-L’[, as well it should, and not to be seriously entertained by a cowt entrusted
12 | to protect this defendant’s substantial rights. 7

13 E T he; Court is not being asked to determine the truth o Jaisity of -the exculpatory

14 | evidence, but to provide a remedy for the State’s decision to hide it from the factfinder.

15 The State argues that the defense is “...not simply asking this Court to determine that

16 || Beverly had moyamoya... but to also conclude that moyamoya was the actual cause of death.”
17 || State’s Return, p.12 1.26-28. This is also flatly untrue. This petition is not asking the Court to
18 | yender a final determination on McFarlane’s cause of death, any more than it is asking the Court to

19 { declare Mayo innocent or guilty of the charged crimes. The defendant had a right to have the

20 | evidence of this alternate theory of death presented to the grand jury, and it was up to the grand
21 Yl jury to determine what, if any, significance to attach to it. NRS 172.145(2) clearly imposes an
22 {l obligation to the State to present this evidence, and granting this Petition does not conclusively
23 || establish McFarlane’s cause of death any more than denying it conclusively establishes his guilt.
24 || There are rules that thé State must follow in grand jury proceediﬁgs, and those rules were violated
25 | in this case. This Petition does not ask the Court to render any opinion on the truth or falsity of the
26 || charges. It simply asks the Court to remind the State that the grand jury’s function is substantially
27 || impaired when evidence consistent with the defendant’s innocence is purposely withheld from

28 | their consideration.

11
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F. McFarlane’s medical history enhances the value of the exculpatory evidence.

The State’s Return repeatedly proposes the idea that «...{ijt is highly unlikely and very
improbable that [McFarlane] died of moyamoya.” State’s Return, p.13 1L18-19.  This
pronouncement ignores significant evidence of McFarlane’s poor health in the raonths prior to her
death. The State was made aware of this evidence prior to the filing of its Return, and is painting
an intentionally false impression for this Court. As the State well knows, on April 8, 2011,
McFarlane was examined at University Medical Center on suspicion of having soroe unknown
infectious diseasé. Fx. A. While the doctors at that time suspected tuberculosis, they were
ultimately unsure of the diagnosis. Ex. A. The hospital noted a number of symptoms, including a
history of hypertension and transient ischemic attack (essentially, a series of mini-strokes). Ex. A,
The hDépital notes that their tests for known causes had all come back negative, and they were
unable to make a final confirmed diagnosis. Ex. A. Most notably, in. April 2011, McFarlane was
informed by doctors that her failure to seek further treatment entailed “the chance of getting into
respiratory fuilure, or sepsis, or sépn’c shock, including death” Ex. A. Despite this dire warning
in early 2011, MéFarlane opted to leave the hospital against medical advice. Ex. A Contrary to
the State’s suggestions that she was the picture of health before Mayo’s actions, doctors had told
McFarlane that she was facing the risk of death by faitiﬁg to seek further treatment.

The State’s claim that McFarlane did not have moyamoya disease because she had not been
diagnosed with it represents a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of this disease. As
pointed out in the description of moyamoya disease attached to the Addendum, “Misdiagnosis and
delayed diagnosis of moyamoya disease are particular pitfalls in the treatment of patients with this
disorder. Misdiagnosis can oceur easily if the physician does not incorporate moyamoya disease
iitto the differential diagnosis of any patient presenting with stroke.” In March 2011, University
Medical Center noted thal Beverly McFatlane had a history of transient ischemic attack — the
medical terminology for a stroke. Ex. B. As the evidencc shows, McFarlane had a history of
suffering strokes, doctors were unable to make a final diagnosis in April 2011, and she was warned

that failure to seek additional treatinent could lead to her death, The State was well aware of this

12
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information prior to filing its Return, yet still argues to this Court that moyamoya disease is as
likely as “alien intervention.” State’s Return, p.12 11.24.

The State attributes some significance to the fact that McFarléne was never formally
diagnosed with moyamoya; however, the very reason this disease is so dangerous is because it is
difficult to diagnose. The “cognitive issues” the State mentions in its Return, p.13 120, are all
symptoms of the progression of moyamoya disease as it occludes the vital arteries in the brain. In
any event, it was the province of the grand jury to decide whether this evidence was important to

the probable cause determination. The State’s disregard for the clear exculpatory value of UMC’s

findings of moyamoya disease is nothing less than shocking.

The State wants this Court to believe that Beverly McFarlane was in perfect health before
Anthony Mayo struck her on August 8, 2012, and that the defense is merely speculating about
some random medical condition that is no more likely in this case than diabetes or cancer. This
portraval of the underlying facts of this case is 2 blatant falschood. McFarlane knew something
was wrong with her over a year before she died. She suffered from multiple transient ischemic
attacks and sought medical treatment to explain her ill health. Doctors were unable to render a
definitive diagnosis, warned her that she could die if she failed to seek further treatment, and she
left the hospital against medical advice. When she died, two weeks after any mjury she suffered at
Mayo’s hand, an independent, unbiased radiologist at UMC noted that hey brain appeared to be a
lextbook case of moyamoya disease. Her history of symptoms, as well as the arterial occlusion
chronicled by the coroner, all match up‘with this disease, a disease known to be notoriously
diffieult to diagnose. The State is correct that “...evidencé cannot be considered in a vacuum.”
State’s Return, p.11 L.9. Given the entire context of the evidence in this case, moyamoya disease is
a pérfectly reasonabie alternate theory to explain McFarlane’s death, a theory that exonerates

Anthony Mayo of murder and that the State was abselutely compelled by statute to iniroduce ai the

grand jury preseniment.
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G. The State cannot ignore NRS 172.145(2) by blaming the defense.

Finally, the State offers one more red herring to divert attention from its blatant violation of
NRS .172. 145(2). The State blames defense counsel for its conduct, ‘arguing that the defense failed
to request that evidence of moyamoya disease be introduced to the grand jury. State’s Return, p.13
IL.10-16. This argument is entirely irrelevant. The State’s obligation pursuant to NRS 172.145(2)
persists even if defense counsel makes no request at all. The State cannot evade its statutory duty
by pointing a finger at defense counsel and saying, “They didn’t tell me what to present.” The
State possesses awesome powers in our criminal justice system — the pawer to charge or not to
charge, the power td negotiate or not to negotiate,-and ultimate the power to imprison cit'izens for
years, i this case, potentially for the remainder of the defendant’s natural life. Those great powers
come with great responsibilities. One of those responsibilities is clearly set forth in. NRS
172.145(2), and it imposes the obligation on the State to present any known exculpatory evidence
to the grand jury. This obligation exists regardless of whether the defense brings this evidence to
the State’s attention or not. When the State opts to proceed by way of Indictment rather than
present the case to a neutral magistrate and offer the defense an opportunity to cross-examine
witnesses, it consciously accepts the statutory obligation to read through the cvidence and present
anything that has a tendency to explain away the charge. The defense is.not to blame for this
violation. That fault lies entirely with the State, and this violation merits a remedy.

This Petition should be granted, and the present Indictment against Anthony Mayo should

be dismissed.

DATED this 14— day of March, 2015.

PHILIP J. [KOHN
CLARK CPUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By

AMY A FELICIANO, #9596
Deputy Public Defender

A, SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender
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Exhibit A

Medical Records of Beverly McFarlane, April 8, 2011
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: UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER &
1800 West Charleston Boulevard

Lag Vegas, Wevads #8102
ADMITTED : 03/28/2011
DATE OF LEAVING AMA; 04/[18/2011

{DISPOSITION: The batient is leaving AMA, agasinat medical advice, even after ?

explaining all the complications of the madical implications, including death.

ADMISSION DIAGNOSES: ‘ .
1. Miliary infiltrates on CAT scan, possible etiologied include tuberculosis versus
fungal versus granulomatous disease. '

2. Hypertemsive urgency.

3. Diabetes mellitus. :

4., History of tranmsient ischemic attack.

6. Hypomatremia. : :

PROCEDURES AND IMAGING: Done on this pacient:

1. The patient had a CT-gnided blopsy of the liver, and the bilopsy results showad

caseating granuleomas,

2. CT of the abdomen and pelvis with contrast which showed inmumerable nodules
throughout the liver and spleen with multiple upper abdominal nodes.

3. The patient had a CT of chest which showed miliary pattern of the nodules in the
bilzteral lungs. ' '

4. The patient had echocardiography which showed left ventricuiar gystolic functicn
is normal, moderate comcentric left ventricular hypertrophy, left atrium is mildly
dilated, severe mitral valve insufficiency, trivial triewspid regurgitation.

CONSULTATIONS: Done onr this patlent was an infectious digease comsult. Infectious
disease consult was done basicaily because of miliary modular pattern om the visceral
organs, including liver, spleen and lungs, with a high suspicion of tuberculosis, and
they recommended to get a fungal panel and QuantiFERON-TB test to rule out any
tuberculosis and AFB x3. The patient had a QuantiFERON-TR test which wag negative,
A¥B x3-which was negative, and a fungal panel which was eszentially normal, and ID
said they are not sure about the diagnogis at this point, and because the 1jver
biopsy showed caseating granmuloma-type of pattern, it iE ressonable to gtart the
empiric antituberculosis medications, including 4-drug therapy, for 2 monthe and see
if there is any improvement in 4-6 weeks, But the patient actually denied
antituberculosis medications and she wants to get a second opinion from another

doctor in falifornia. -

HQSPITAL COURSE: ' - :
1. Basically, this is a 38-year-old female who was originally from Belize with a

history of hypertension, dizbetes mellitus, and guestionsble trangient ischemic _
attack who came with a 2-month history of nonproductive cough, with a 40-pound weight
loss unlntentionally, and some right upper gquadrant pain for the past few months. 2An
initial CT of the chest and abdomen showed a wilizry nodular pattern in the vigceral
organs and with high suspicion of tuberculosis in the patieat. We have dome all the
invegtigations, including QuantiFERON-TE test, a fungal Ppanel, and an autoimmune -
panel. 8o far everything came back negative; Rheumatold factor, ANCA levels are
pending. however, the liver blopsy showed a caseating granulomatous pattern withoit
any .confirming diagnosis, and as was said, her hospital course even though went
without any complications, we were wnsble to get the final diagnosis dome; and based

PATIENT: MCFARLANE, BEVERLY B ACCOUNTH: 00045960523
MR#: 002-0D8-156 |
JOB i#: 133070

ADM. DATE:03/28/2011 ' .
DICTATED BY: Kasailah Makam, M.D.

ATTENDING: Teena Tandon, M.p,
DISCHARGE SUMMARY ‘

Page 1 of 3 -
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DNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER
1800 West Charleston Boylevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 89102

on ID recommendations, we were recommended to start her on antituberculosis
medicationg, and we started on antitgberculosis_medications after ghe was agrgeable
initially, but Shﬂ‘IEfgsgd*thg"anﬁitgbéx¢V- tes ions -later and she-gald she
wanted to get amother opinion from anothet doctdr in (alifornia, and after that she
does not want to take any medications because she doss mot have the confirming
diagnosis of tuberculosis, even though we explained that her miliary nodular pattern
along with the caseating granulomaa, with the weight loss and dry cough probably is
agsociated with fuberculosis, even though we do not have the confirmatory diagnosis.
But still, she does not want to take any antituberculous medications, and at this
point we explained to her the risks and bemafFits: 0t taking any antituberculosis
medications and we explained to ber all the scenariog; ineluding the chance of
getting into respj Llyre or sepsis or.septic shock, including death, and she
wants to leave against medical advice, and she Goes ot wadt Lo get modical care at
this point from our facility with antituberculosis wedications. The patient is
leaving against medical advice. N i T

2. The other problem she had Is high blood pressure without any symptoms. &he
qualifies for hypertenaive urgency, and initially we treated her with p.r.n.
medications along with Iisinoprii and Coreg, and we had to increase the lisinopril to .
40 and she was already started on Norvage 10 milligrams. Initially she was started
on 5 milligraws p.o. daily and we later incrsased it to 10 milligrams p.o, daily, and
we maximized out on the dose of Coreg to 25 b.i.d. aod lisinopril to 40 milligrams
p-o. daily. After starting sll these medications to the maximom dosages, her blood
pressure was pretty much contrelled but still in the range of 150 and 140w, and on
the day of her leaving againgt medical advice, we gave her prescriptions along with
hydralazine 25 willigrams p.o. t.i.d., with lisinopril, Coreg and Norvasc, and we
advised her to follow up as an outpatient with her primary care physician.

3. Diabetes meilitus. £he was started on Lantuas 12 units subcutaneously at bedtime
and Lispro 5 units t.i.d. before meals, and her blood dlucose levels were pretty much
controlled all the time. . .

4. She slso had normocytic anemiz with a high RDW (red blood cell distriburion
width; and we did iron studieg which showed a pattérn of iron—deficiency'anemia, 50
we started her on iron supplementation with drom guifate p.o. £.1.d. 325 milligrams.

DISCHARGE DIAGNOSES: Include:

Miliary neodular pattern in the hilateral lungs, the liver and spleen, with a
ver biopsy showing positive caseating granulomas, but withous any confirmetory
agnosis at this point of time. :

History of diabstes mellitus.

History of hyperteneion.

Tron-deficiency anemia.

DISCHARGE MEDICATIONS: While she is leaving 2MA inelude: Tantus 12 units
subcutanepusly at bedtime, lispro 5 unitslsubcutaneously t.i.d. before meals,

lisinopril 40 milligrams 1

PATIENT: MCFARLAKNE, BEVERLY E ACCOUNTH#: 00045960523
MR#: 0D2-008~156
JOB #: . 133070

ADM. DATE:03/28/2011 .
DICTATED BY: Kasalah Makam, M.D.

ATTENDING: Teenz Tandom, M.D.
DISCHARGE SUMMARYl '

Page 2 of 3
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UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CRNTER
1800 wWest Charleston Bouwlevard
Lag Vegas, Nevada 89102

tablat p.o. every day, Coreg 25 milligrams 1 tablet p.o. b.i.d., iron sulfate 325 one
tablet p.o. t.i.d., Norvase 10 milligrams p.o. daily, hydralazine 25 milligrams 1

tablet p.o. t.r.d., and we gave her blocd glucose test gtrips, 'algohel swabs .and
lancets.

CC:

DD: 04/08/2011 15:55:05
DT: 04/08/2011 1B:48:00

Electronically signed on 04/05/2011 7:32PM by Kasaiah Makam, M.D.
Kasaiah Makam M.D.

Electronically sigpned on 04/19/2011 10:218M by Teena Tandom, M.D.
; Teena Tandon, M.D.

PATIENT: MCFARLANE, BEVERLY E ACCOUNTH#: 00045960523 _
MR# : Q02-008-156 _ o
JOB $: . 133070 : : ‘ P
ADM. DATE:03/28/2011 . ' R

DICTATED BY: Kasaiah Makam, M.D.. S
ATTENDING: Teena Tandon, M.D, ;
DIBCHARGE SUMMARY

Page 3 of 3
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Medical Records of Beverly McFarlane, March 28, 2011
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! UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CEMNIER |
1800 West Charleston Boulevard
lLas Vegas, WNevada §9102

nate of Service: 03/28/2011 . .
TIME SZEN: - 2135, o s

CHYEF COMPLAINT: . Cough.

HISTQRY OF PRESENT ILLNESS: This is a 39—year—old:black female with history of

hypertension and diabetes who comes in with a 2-month history of nehproductive cough.

Patient states that she noticed 2z cough a few menths age and states that it has been
nenpreductive. Wo hemoptysis. She states she gets right upper quadrant pain .
associated with the cough. She has also noticed a 40-pound weight loss in the last T
7-3 months. She has had subjective fevers at home, as well as night sweats. Patient .
denies shortness of breath. SBtates her main complaint is cough. She describes her P )
right upper quadrant pain as fullness and uncomfortable. Patient states that ahe

works as a healthcare giver and was concerned that her former bess had tubarculesis,

but states she has no known exposurss. She is in a.monogamous relationship for wore

than 10 years. §$he has never been tested for HIV. Fatlient had a PpD before coming:

to the ER that she states was secondary Lo her work. She needs an annual 2-stab and - ,

also reports that she has been off her bleod pressure medications for a week. Her

combination of cough and being off her blood pressure medications is what led her to
come to the emergency department. :

REVIEW OF SYSTEMS: &As mentioned in-the history of_preéent 1llness, consistent with
welght change, night swests and fever. All other systems, except as mentioned in HRI,
are negative.

PAST MEDICAL HISTORY: Hypertension, diabetes mellitus diagnosed in 2002, history of
a TIA in 2006, I

PAST SURGICAL HISTORY: Cesarean x2.

MEDICATIONS: Home medications include labetalol and regular-insulin, but patient

states she has been off these medications,

ALLERGIES: KFQ KNOWN DRUG ALLERGIES.

SOCIAL HISTORY: She is currently unemployed, formaliy worked as a Caret‘_:[ive.r.
Nonsmoker, nondrinker. Wo.drug use. Currently lives with her husband. She is

originally from Belize.

FAMILY HISTORY: Hypertensicn, diabetes-and stroke,

PHYSICAL EXAMINATION: :
VITAL SIGNS: T max 8.3, pul
. satting 3%% on room air.
CENERRL: GShe is in no acute distress. She is alert and oriented to person, place
and time. : . )
HEENT: Normocephalic, atraumatic. Pupils equal, Tound and reactive to light and. -
accommedation. Extraocular wmuscles intact. Dry mucus memebranes :

NECK: No JVD. Ne goiters or nodules. .
CARDIOVASCULAR: Patisnt is tachycardic. She has 2 2/6 helosystolic murmur without T

radiation. Digtal pulses 2+.

se 115-121, respirations 16~24, BP 182-235/108-144,

e -

PATIENT; MCFARLANE, BEVERLY E ACCOUNTH: (0045960523

MR ¢ 002-008-156 i 0 nes _ .
JOB #: 092837 | . | ST

ADM. DATE:03/28/2011 _ _
DICTATED BY: Nicole Davey-Ransainghe, M.D.

ATTENDING: Saundhya Rahi Gururaj, MD . - :
ROUTINE H&P _ ; =
Medical Record ‘ : )
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! UNIVERSITY MEDICAT, CENTEER :
1800 West Charleston Boulevard
Las Vegas, Nevada 69102
RESPIRATIONS: She has coarse breath sounds in her bilateral upper lobes with good
air movement diffusely with no wheezing, rales or rhonchi. ‘ :
ABDOMEN: WNe hepatomegaly, soft, nontendef, hondistended. Ppsitive bowel sounds . ©
EXTREMITIES: No clubbing, cyariwsis or edema. ’ ) . B -
gKIN: She has a left forearm tattoo. No rashes, uicers or nodules.
NEURC EXBM: Cranial nerves TI-XII intact. DTRs 2+, Muscle strength 5/5 and normal

sensation.

DIAGNOSTIC STUDIES: Renal panel reveals Sodium 130, potassium 3.3, chloride 94, co2 :
31, BON 15, creatinine 1.1, glucose 448. UA showed 2+ protein, 3+ glucose, 3-8 -
WBCs, rare bacteria and moderate squamous cells. Anion gap is 15 and caleium is S
10.3. €2C white bloed count 7, hemoglebin 12.7, hematocrit 38.5, platelets 427, Lol
granulocyte percent  65.2, MCV B5.2, RDW 17, THC positive, D-dimer 2.18. | ’

FKG shows sinus tachycardia with left wventricular hypeitmphy. CTA of the chest
showed Do gentral pulmonary embollsm with innumerable pulmonary nodules consigtent
with miliary 1B, as well as a miliary pattern of the liver with mediastinal
adenopathy noted. Chest x-ray showed diffusely increased interstitial lung markings

bilaterally.

EMERGENCY ROOM COURSE: In the ER,. patient’ was-given TEW, predniscne 6C, insulin 10
units of regular and azithromycin 500 milligrams IV with Rocephin 1 gram and

lisinopril 10 milligrams. :

AGSESSMENT/PLAN: - This is a 3%-year-old black female with a history of hypertension
and diabetes who Conés. in.with cough and imaging gtudies susplcious for miliary
tuberculosis. Patient!s clinical exam does mot have any GI ar cutaneous’
sanifestatien, - She has had" a.siguificant weight loss and night sweats, as wall as

fevers. -

1. -Miliary infiltrates on CAT scan. While CAT scan is concerning for TB, patient did
have a PPD placed earlier this morning. At this time, there is no evidence of
snduration at the PrD site. The patient has not been tested for RIV. We will check
thig, In addition, gifferential diagnosis is broad including fungal versus
maligrancy versus tuberculeosis versus sarcoidosis. We will evaluate patient's sputum
and send fer AFR x3.  We will algo check a liver panel, as well-as a dedicated oT
abdomen and pelvis, as patient did have @ niliary pattern noted on her CT chest that
involved tha liver and spleen. Will also check a fungal panel with comment far
allergiss and hlood cultures x2, Will also chack BIV.

2. HRypertensive urgency. We will start patient on oral lisinopril and give p.r.n. -
antihypertensive medications. as needed.  Patient has .a history of transient ischemic
ottack. Currently she is asymptomatic and no Focal -neurological deficits. .

3, piabetes. Blood sugal very high. patient's anion gap is borderline at 15. Hex
bicarb is 21. Her glucase is 448, Wili ‘check z hemoglobin Ale, Will place patient
on Accu-Cheks. every 4-hours and monitor closely.. Will alse check an RBG.

4. History of transient ischemic attack. We will check a fasting lipid prefile and
continue blocd pressure Tontrol and secondary praventicn.

5, Hypcnatremia. patient has evidence of dehydration with dry mucous membranes on
exam. Alsc, concern for syndroms of inappropriate secretion of antidinretic kormone,
given patient's lung pathology. We will continue to menitor.and will check serum PO

osmolality. '

6. Deep venous thromhosis prophylaxis with dalteparin,

PATIENT: MCFARLANE, PEVERLY B ACCOUNTH: 00045960523 . : ‘
MR} © D02-008-156 : , _ : L
JoB #: 092837 '
ApM. DATE:03/28/2011

P T

DICTATED BY: Nicele Davey-Ranasinghe, M.D.
ATTENDING: Sandnya Wahi Gururaj, MD
ROUTINE HEP .
fedical Record
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) UNIVERSITY MEDICAY, CENTER:
1800 West Charleston Bonlevard
Lag Vegas, Nevada 89102

ce: . S . ‘ 3 -

DD: ©3/28/20811 02:59:51
Dy 03/29/Z011 05:00:34

. Electrcnlcally slgned.on 04/07/2011 11:40AM by Nicole Davewaana51nghe, M.D. 7
Nicole Davey-Ranasinghe, M.D. “

Electronically signed on 05/22/2011 B: 57PM by Sandhya Wahi Gururaj, MD
Sandhya Wahi Gururaj, MD

PATIENT: MCFARLANE, BEVERLY E ACCOUNT#: 00045960523 ‘ e
MR# : no2-0nB-156 . ' R
JOB #; 092837

ADM. DATR:03/28/2011

DICTATED BY: Wicole Davey-Ranasinghe, M.D.
ATTENDING: Sandhya Wahi Gururasd, MD
ROUTIRE H&P
Medical Record : . . .
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4

1 LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 1 And so now we've got a moyamaya argument here,
2 which is clearly a new issue. It was something that was
2 MONDAY, MARCH 23, 2015, 5:00 A.M. 3. never previousty addressed, And so here we are now a
3 PROCEEDINGS 4  year after the initial Petition arguing an issue oa
5 moyamoya disease.
4 wok ok 6 I would also note for the record, Your Honoz,
_ 7 and I might not have remembered correctly, but I believe
3 THE COURT: State of Nevada versus Anthony Mayo.- | 8  the last time at the calendar call it seems to me that
6 L did articipate that we were going to h'ave §ome 9  you were prepared to rule upon the initial Petition,
7 lengthy z.u'gfmlt‘:nt here. Oby;pusly, 11'? counseI:q 10 which T think would evidence also that this is a second
8 prerogative; they can submit if they wish, But in these ) -
9 circumstances T would hope that there would be a bit of 11 filing of a petition.
10  oral argument to complement the written record that we 12 Lastly, Your Horor, what T would just note is I
11  have. 13  don't believe that under this scenario here that this
12 Obviously, we have a procedural issue that I 14 could be deemed anything but a second petition.
13  think needs to be addressed first and foremost. My 15 There was an issue raised as to whether or not
14 intent is to deal ,With the Petition first and then 16 the State objected to at the time of the filing. And the
15  address the motion for the release, - 17 Iy thing I d note to that. Your Honos. is I had
16 The procedural issue that is vaised in the oniy Hhing & wou c. 1'10 & 10 fhat, Your tionoz, 15 £ ha
17  retumn indicates that it would be procedurally improper 18 neverread the Petition. It was handed to me that
18  for what is styled as an Addendum to the Petition to be 19 morning. And so I would just note that T did not make an
19 filed at this time, 20 objection that morning on the day it was filed; I wanted
20 Obviously, the defense has argued that it is not 21 toread it and see what was actually being raised because
21 improper in that the Court had not madc a final 22 potentially it could have fit under one of the other
22 cleterm?nat?on, or at leagt had r}qt issued a final N 23 issues that were raised.
gi (le_t.enmnam)n.pn ihe prior F’enmm; and therefore, it is 24 And so with that, Your Honor, I would submit and
stili okay to bring it forward.
25 [ think we need to address that procedural issue 25 Twould ask you deny on the procedural grounds. 5
3
1 first. Letme do it this way just to save a little bit 1 THE COURT: QOkay. Thank you.
2 oftime. Letme have the State's position, if any, that 2 MR, SILVERSTEIN: Well, Your Honor, Mr. Stephens
3 they want to highlight. 3 s going to concede that there was some way that this
4 MR, STEPHENS: Youw Honor, the State's argument 4 could have fit, fitting under one of the prior issues and
5 that under NRS 34,700 and 34.710, both of those Petitions 5 saying that he wanted to read the Petition first to see
6 read together would require that the Addendum not be 6 ifit fitin to one of the prior grounds that were
7 heard, and I would say so for the following facts and 7 raised, in which case I'm assuming were grounds he would
8 reasonings. 8 notraise, made any objection.
9 Your Honor, the initial Petition in this case 9 And this is clearly a situation where this is
10  was filed, T believe, in March or April of last vear. 1 10  additional argument made on an issue that was previousty
11 don't remember the specific date. And we heard argument 11 raised. This is not a new ground for relief that we're
12 onit, Arguments were closed. We briefed the issues. 12 raising, Thisis additional information that we would
13 The briefs were closed and we were waiting for the 13 like to present to the Cowrt relating to an issue that
14 Cowt's decision on that matter. 14  was already raised in the initial Petition, which has not
15 I believe there was an e-mail sent 1o your 15  yel been decided. The initial Petition was timely filed.
16 chambers in August of 2014, asking whether or not an 16 In that Petition, we raised the argument that
17 order would be forthcoming, which would, T gaess, show 17 - there was evidence that should have been presented
18 evidence, again, that the Petition had been closed, the 18  pursuant to NRS 172,145(2) and this Addendum relates to
19 filings of that. 19 that statute, relates 1o evidence that should have been
20 Furthermore, Your Honoz, if we are to look at 20 presented to the grand jury. And it is just simply fully
21 this Petition, Your Honor, this is clearly a new 21 adding to the argument that we had previously made in the
22  allegation that is being raised. Iunderstand that they 22 fisst Petition.
23 tried to work it in under the umbrella of exculpatory 23 If there was evidence that was exculpatory that
24 evidence. But, Your Honor, moyamoya was never mentioned 24  should have been raised or should have been shown to the
25 in the initial Petition at all. Not once. 25 grand jury and that was not. This is absolutely

6
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1 somcthing that rclates to an issuc that was previously 1 still has this matter open that it is simply adding
2 raised. 2 another example of how the State is argued to have failed
3 Now, if the initial Petition hadn't mentioned 3 to present exculpatory evidence, and for that basis it is
4 that statute, hadn't mentioned the raising of exculpatory 4 notuntimely and it is properly brought as an addendum or
5 cvidence, then I could understand Mr. Stephens’ position. 5 asupplement.
6 But he draws a distinction in his return between a new 6 [ kind of in my mind also thought in terms of
7 argument and additional evidence to an argument that had 7 had we wrapped up the other argument would thers still be
8 already been raised and this is clearly a second 8 some avenue upon which something like this could and
9 category. 9 should be brought to the Court's attention, and [ trust
10 We cited NRS 172.145, and that is all of the 10  that there Iikely would have been a way for the Court to
11 evidence raised in this Addendum goes to the argument 11 have received and reviewed this despite the argument of
12 that exculpatory cvidence was not given to the grand 12 what the statute said.
13 jury. 13 Butin this particular circumstance, as the
14 Mr. Stephens knew that this was coming. He knew |14 Court has not issued its final determination on the
15 this issue was going to be raised. He was told in an 15  original Petition, and, again, the Petition does raise
16 e-mail several days before the calendar call not only 16 the statute and raise arguments that the State failed to
17  that we were going to seek to make this filing, but in 17 present exculpatory evidence and this is an example of
18 fact what issue was pregented in it. 18 that. Ido find that the Petition and the Addendum to
19 I went to his office and explained this issue 19 not be untimely and to be appropriately brought.
20 with the moyamoya disease about a week prior to this. 20 Now I would like to proceed then with that
21 This is not a new issue to him. He knew exactly the 21 substantive argument, if any, which you would like to
22 issue that was being raised. 22 highlight today to complement your briefings. And I am
23 If there was an objection to the filing to the 23 going to start with the defense in this circumstance. I
24 Addendum, it should have been made at the calendar call 24 will certainly give an opportunity also for rebuttal.
25 when we presented to the Court. He stood silent. He 25 But let's hear from the defense first.
7 9
1 sald nothing, He didn't raise any objection as to this 1 MS. FELICIANO: Your Honor, would you like to
2 i3 not a proper filing at that time. 2 start with the original Petition? We have already argued
3 The suggestion that he's been ambushed, which is 3 that -- Mr. Silverstein is going to argue the Supplement.
4 made in his return, is completely disingenuous. There is 4 Twould justsay for the record that under the original
5 mnoambush here. He knew exactly what issues that were 5 Petition, and this frther strengthens our ability to
6 being raised. And if he had any problem with the filing 6 filo the Supplement, we raised medical issues in the way
7 as asuccessive Petition he could and should have said 7 that Ms. McFarlane died at UMC and that that was never
8 something at the time that it was filed. 8 presented to the jury, That she was removed from life
9 This not a successive Petition, This is simply 9 support, her organs were harvested, et cetera, .
10 evidence as it relates to an argument that was raised in 10 And s0, again, I think that further supports our
11 a prior Petition, which lasn't been ruled on. It's ant 11 argument that we can file this Supplement, which you have
12  addendum even by the State's own definition that they 12 already ruled on, but I don't know that you want to hear
13 provide in their return. This is simply new evidence 13  anything further on this and we can just move to the
14 relating to a prior issue that was raised. 14  Supplement,
15 THE COURT: Well, I am going to wrap up this 15 THE COURT: Yes. I think that the argument
16 piece of the argument this way. I think the State is 16 today would be related to the Supplement and the
17 within its rights to raise a procedural issue at these 17 Supplement only. We certainly, and I don't disagree with
18 times whether they have been identified or known, told 18  the State, had not only full argument, but full briefing,
19  beforehand that something was forthcoming, they still 19 full presentation of evidence and it is just up to the
20 have the opportunity to review it and they still have the 20 Court to prioritize the matter better than it has up to
21 opportunity to raise it. 21 this point to get it completed from the original Petition
22 And it is something that can be argued to be a 22 standpoint. But additional argument would be unnecessary
23 new ground that should fall outside of the prior 23 for today's purposes.
24 DPetition; however, I don't find it that way. 1 do think 24 MS. FELICTIANO: Okay. Thank you.
25 that the defensc is correct in arguing that as the Court 25 THE COURT: Supplemental, though, however

8
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1 related to the Addendum is what the Court is interested 1 grand jury is entitled to consider anything that could

2 in for today. 2 explain away the charge,

3 MS. FELICIANO: I appreciate it. Thank you. 3 The reason that the statute exists, NRS

4 MR. SILVERSTEIN:- Thank you, Your Honor. 4 172.145(2), the reason that that statute exists is

5 Your Honor, the altercation the State charges 5 because in a grand jury procecding there is no defense

6 that occurred between Mr. Mayo and Ms. McFarlane 6 lawyer there. There is no cross-examination there.

7 occurred on August 8th. Over two weeks after that time 7 There is no other avenue for the grand jury to be able to

8 Ms. McFarlane passed away. That in itself is something 8 consider alternate explanation, o consider other

9 thaf in my experience in these homicides cases is a 9 evidence that may point to the defendant's innocence.
10 little strange. The fact that it would take two weeks 10 And that's why the obligation falls on the
11 for what the State calls to be a fatal head injury to 11 prosecutor at that proceeding to not only tell the grand
12 actually occasion death. That is not something that 12 jury all of the things that point towards guilt, but to
13 normaliy happens. 13 also point towards the things that might prove innocence,
14 So going through the medical records in this 14 otherwise, the grand jury their independence is destroyed
15 case, medical records that were clearly in the State's 15 and it just becomes another argoment of the State.
16 possession before they went to the grand jury, there is 16 And what the State did in this case was they
17 notes from independent workers at UMC. These are people |17 gave the grand jury all of the evidence to consider that
18  who aren't paid by the State. They are not paid by the 18 points to Mr. Mayo's guilt in this matter and all of the
19 defendant. They don't have any interest whatsoever in 19 evidence that they had in their possession that suggested
20 the outcome of the proceedings other than to find the 20 another way that this woman could have died was withheld
21 truth and determine what happened. 21 from them.
22 In Tooking at the CAT scans and the radiologist 22 Not only was the evidence withheld from them,
23 who reviewed the pictures of Ms. McFarlane's brain noted {23 but a false picture was presented at the grand jury
24  that it looked like she had this moyamoya disease. And 24 through testimony of Dr. Claudia Greco, who specifically
25 admittedly, this is a very rare condition, It's 25 said in front of the grand jury that she reviewed

1 13

1 something I personally had never heard of. There's many 1 everything and she takes her time on these cases and

2 doctors who probably have never heard of it. But it is 2 she's very thorough. And she painted this picture for

3 apactual condition. Tt does exist. We have attached 3 the grand jury that she has reviewed all of the available

4 some of the Internet entries on that disease to our 4 evidence and found no other explanation for this woman's

5 Addendum. 5 death and that is simply not true.

6 It is a discasc that causcs the cxact same type 6 This moyamoya discase, granted, she has never

7 of injuries that were found in Ms. McFarlane's brain that 7 formally been diagnosed; it's a very difficult disease to

8 the coromer said were caused by Mr. Mayo's actions; an 8 diagnose. However, it was something that at UMC an

9 occlusion of the carotid artery. 9 independent radiologist said that this is something that
10 Basically, it's a progressive hardening or 10 could be considered here. It's a reasonable alternate
11 filling up of the arteries in her brain that led to her 11 explanation for this woman's death and it's something
12 death. And these are injuries that absolutely look like 12 that absolutely the grand jury should have been entitled
13  trauma. It's something that can mimic trauma and that 13 to consider.
14 canbe misdiagnosed as trauma after the patient has died. 14 This is the very definition of exculpatory
15 This is a disease that can cause death, is known 15 evidence and it is unlikely to see any other evidence
16 fo cause death if it's not caught in time, if it's not 16  that would be of 2 value and a character of this type of
17 treated. 17 evidence. Ttnot only goes to a defense to the charge,
18 And we are not here to decide whether or not 18 but goes to whether or not a crime was committed at all,
19 Ms. McFarlane actually died as a result of that disease. 19 Mr. Stephens argues that, Well, we're going to
20 But1know that Mr. Stephens wants us to turn this as 20 open the floodgates here. This is a slippery slope.
21 am asking the Court to find that she actually died from 21 What's next. Somebody has cancer and they have to tell
22 moyamoya disease. That's not what we're here for and 22 the grand jury. Or somebody has a hangnail and we have
23 that's not what this is aboud, 23 to tell the grand jury about that.
24 All we're saying is that this evidence 24 The point is the disease that we have identified
25 absolutely should have been given to the grand jury. The |25  in this case, that UMC identified in this case is a

12
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1 disease that could have cansed the exact same injuries 1 Indictment has to be fair. It has to be received where

2 that they are attributing to Mr. Mayo. This isn't a 2 the grand jury has at least been able to consider all of

3 situation where we want the Court to consider diabetes 3 the possible theories of death and not just the one that

4 when the cause of death is a gunshot wound, This is a 4 favors the prosecution.

5 sttuation where the actual injuries that this woman died 5 THE COURT: Allright. Thank you,

6 from can be caused and directly attributed to this 6 Mr. Silverstein. As I said, T will give you the

7 disease that was found by an independent radiologist at 7 opportunity for rebuttal.

8 the hospital, 8 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you.

9 And if this evidence isn't exculpatory, I can't 9 THE COURT: Ididn't have questions in your
10 imagine why the statute exists. How much more 10  initial remarks. I may have some for the State and I may
11 exculpatory can evidence be in order to trigger the 11 have some as we come back in rebuttal,

12 requirements of that statute. T mean how much more 12 Bui let me sort of set this up for the State.
13 exculpatory can you get, This disease could have kilted 13 One of the things that I don't think was addressed and
14 this woman. It would have caused the exact same injuries 14 maybe it didn't need to be in your argument because you
15 that the corener found in this woman. 15 made a lot of the arguments even beyond the procedural
16 It was evidence that was in the State's 16 argument that we've already addressed about how the Court
17 possession. It was in medical records that they actually 17 can and should consider even if there is something that
18 acquired on the argument that they were necessary for 18  perhaps should have been brought to the grand Jury's
19 their prosecution. They needed these medical records to 19 attention, and maybe if it wasn't decided in some cases,
20 prosecute. And right there in those documents was 20  the King case and some others, where ultimately the
21 evidence that they were statutorily obligated to give to 21 violation would call for a reversal,
22 the grand jury and that the grand jury had a right and a 22 But what is unclear to me is did the State just
23  duty to consider, 23 ot see this or did the State know that these things were
24 And by not considering that and by only 24 out there and intend not to show them. Because you have
25  considering evidence that pointed to this man's guilt 25 made some argument that could make me believe that

15 17

1 that grand jury proceeding was a nullity. Their 1 perhaps the State was aware that there were these other

2 independent function as a neutral factfinder was 2 things and just ultimately didn't put them forward

3 completely destroyed. They should have been entitled to 3 because you talk about whether or not it would explain

4 consider this evidence and weigh it and decide whether or 4 away the charges you again cite to the King case, you

5 notit is something that may have affected a probable 5 also cite to the Mazzan case, you know, so there are some

6 cause finding, 6 things that aren't clear to me as to what you're actually

7 The State doesn't get to decide after the fact 7 arguing,

8 that, Well, she has never been formally diagnosed; we 8 MR, STEPHENS: Fair enough, Your Honor, And T

9 don't think it was that important. They don't get to 9 will ry to be clear. And if I'm not please continue to
10 make that call. The grand jury gets to make that call 10 question nre.

11 and our system presupposes that the grand jury makes that 11 Your Honor, what T would say regarding that is
12 call. ' 12 the first time I had ever heard of moyamoya disease was
13 The State can't come in later with an affidavit 13 probably a week or so prior, maybe two weeks prior to
14 from their paid expert and say, Well, we don't think she 14 Mr. Silverstein coming to my office where he presented
15 had it anyway. The point is the grand jury had a right 15 the moyamoya issue to me. And that was the first time
16 to consider this at the time they were considering 16 had ever heard of the disease.
17 whether there was probable cause to convict this man of 17 What I can represent, though, Your Honor, is we
18 herdeath. And there is evidence that's clearly 18 did have conversations with the coroner, Ms. Olsen and
19 exculpatory that was withheld from them, AndIwouldask |19 also Ms, Greco, and we asked them whether or not they had
20 the Court to grant this Petition and dismiss the 20 reviewed the medical records. And they both clearly
21 Indictment. 21 stated that they did. And based upon that we asked them
22 This is not something that where Mr, Mayo - if 22 whether or not there was any other possible result or
23 he needs to be held to account he'll never be held to 23 cause that could have caused this death.
24 account. The State is going to run right back to the 24 And Ms. Greco was the most clear, She --
25 grand jury and seek a new Indictment, But that 25 THE COURT: Just to be clear, these

16 18
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1 conversations are ail taking place more recently? 1 exculpatory, they have got to prove that she actually had
2 MR. STEPHENS: Oh, no, no. This is prior to the 2  moyamoya disease. Because if she never bad it, it's
3 grand jury. 3 clearly exculpatory because it would never explain away
4 THE COURT: Okay. I'misunderstood youthen. I | 4 the charge. There has to be some sort of statement that
5 thought you said you had just heard about this disease 5 she had moyamoya disease,
8 recently. Butyou are talking now about your 6 If there's no statement that she had moyamoya
7 communications with them then — 7 disease, then it's clearly not exculpatory. It's based
8 MR. STEPHENS: Prior to the grand jury. 8 upon speculation, which is exactly what the grand jurors
9 THE COURT: -- you didn't know about moyamoya, | 9 cannot rely upon.
10  but you asked them had they reviewed everything, 10 T would also note, Your Honor —
11 MR. STEPHENS: That's correct. 1asked them if 11 THE COURT: But you are not telling me that you
12 they had reviewed the medical records. And T asked them 12 made a decision at the time of presenting to the grand
13 whether or not there was any other possibility of death. 13 jury that it was speculation and that is why you are not
14 And Ms, Greco was the most conclusive to that where she 14 presenting it. You are telling me that basically you
15 said, This is a blunt force trauma injury. 15 asked the doc is there any other cause. They said, no.
16 And that's because not only is there 18 They said it was trauma related and that's what yon
17 hemeorrhaging, which I guess could be evidence of 17 presented.
18  moyamoya, but it's not just the hemorrhage itself, you 18 MR. STEPHENS: And that's correct, Your Honor.
19 have to take that in comparison to the swelling of the 19 That's an accurate statement. I honestly had no clue --
20 Dbrain. The fact that the brain actually swelled to the 20 [ never even thought to ask them about moyamoya disease
21 point of where it goes down her spinal column, That's 21 directly. Irelied upon their representation that they
22  evidence of trauma not some sort of disease causing some 22 had reviewed the medical records and I left it at that,
23 sort of carotid attery or some sort of harding of the 23 Your Honor, what | would also say is there is
24  arteries. 24 now prabably the most conclusive piece of evidence that
25 I never spoke to her or Ms. Olsen directly about 25 there is and that is where Dr. Greco then again examined
19 21
1 moyamoya disease. Ihappily state that on the record [ 1 the brain and her findings are also relevant in
2 ncver spoke to them about it. T never kmew what it was. 2 determining whether she actually had moyamoya disease.
3 And what I would note, Your Honor, in moving on 3 And it was her conclusion there is no pathology
4 from that point and in addressing some of the other 4 consistent with moyamoya disease. That's more evidence
5 issues [ would state, Your Honor, we have to address 5 that she did not have moyamoya disease. No one can state
6 everything in context. And the pritary point that the 8 she had it or she did not have it.
7 defense relies upon is a finding by the interpreting 7 And what is also somewhat concerning to the
8 radiologist Dr. Agrawal. And thig is what he actnally 8 State, Your Honor, is what we have to assume then is that
9 found. Thisis point three of his report. 9 by some pure dumb tuck after she gets whacked in the head
10 It says: 10 with a vacuum cleaner that she actually dies of moyamoya
11 "Findings are suggestive of a slow 11 disease rather than of the biunt force trauma to the
12 progressive vasculopathy that can be seen with 12 head. We have to assume that that's the case in order
13 moyanioya disease." 13 for this argument to have any relevance at af].
14 So it's suggestive. Not that she actually had 14 We get on a slippery slope then because in every
15 it. Not that she didn't haven't. It's suggestive. But 15 single case, Your Honor - well, I can't say every single
16 we can then see it says: 16  case, but in the majority of cases where someone dies
17 - "Although the hypertrophy vessels are 17  there are other medical issues that they had. They have
18 not well developed.” 18 diabetes, they may have heart disease. They could have
19 So he is not even looking at a clear radiology 19 all sorts of different things that could confribute to
20 graph, 20 their death.
21 And he says: 21 What we have here is no one has even indicated
22 "Other etiologies such as sickle 22 she actually has this disease, and so you have got to
23 cell disease or other chronic vasculopathies 23 speculate or assuine that she had it to find this evidence
24 would have to also be considered.” 24 even remotely exculpatory., And even if she had it, then
25 The defense's entire argument, if it's 25 they still must prove that that was the actual cause of

20
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death or that it could have contributed to her death,

THE COURT: Well, wouldn't you agree, Counsel,
that, yes, there certainly could be any number of things
that could cause a person to die. But we're talking
about a circumstance here where something is being
suggested. And T haven't been around radiologists enough
and most simply haven't had my own circumstarces enough
to kmow is that the language that's typically used; "is

@~ h h = W N =

died. And you would get on this extreme slippery slope
of any possible medical condition that could possibly
cause death has to be presented to the grand jurors.

And in this case the distinction, in my opinion,
is we don't even know that she had moyamoya disease.
It's all based 100 percent purely upon speculation,

Admittedly, there are doctors that have found
something suggestive of that. ButI would lastly note,

9 suggestive of." Does that mean that they think they have 9 Your Honor, in my personal experience in attending
10 it 10 doctors and having several knee surgeries, suggestive is
11 But of course they are not going to make that 11 a far different approach than this is what you have and
12  final call. So 1 think that is fairly persuasive that 12  this is how we fix it.
13 they see something that indicates that's what it is. 13 Suggestive to me says evidence is clearly
14 But what is compelling here is what moyamoya 14 suggestive because he says there's other possible answers
16 could cause to happen is what happened here. Although 15 for why he's seeing what he's seeing in the radiology
16 some of the examples may have been a little exaggerated, 16  graph. This is a suggestive -- this is him saying based
17 Ithink there are certainly more diseases where you are 17 upon my experience, it is one of these potential things
18 not necessarily going to automatically say that discase 18 that I'm seeing. Possibly. And that's the best evidence
19  is going to cause that circumstance. But this disease 19 they have that she actually had moyamoya disease.
20 would be manifest in a brain hemorrhage, arguably, which | 20 MS. FELICIANO: Judge, I am sorry to interrupt
21 is what we have here. 21 the State but I would remind the State that he is
22 So is there some distinction in your mind there 22 obligated to remain to what was testified to at the
23  that the very consequences of this disease would be what 23 preliminary hearing instead of volunteering his own
24 happened here, if it existed, and that's different than 24 posttion regarding medical evidence.
25 other situations where somebody could have something that | 25 THE COURT: And I sort of may have invited that
23 25
1 could cause them to pass away. 1 unintentionally in commenting on my own experiences and
2 MR. STEPHENS: Yes, Your Honor. Twouldnote } 2 not being clear on -- and T would expect a radiologist to
3 two different things, and one would be the doctors' 3 say something like suggestive. Or I would expect the
4 testimony. 've already briefly addressed this, so 1 4 primary care physician of whatever illness it is to be
5 won't gointo it in any greater detail. But the doctors 5 the ones who would diagnose.
6 Dboth indicated, the coroner and the medical expert say 6 MR. STEPHENS: And there is no primary carc
7 that this is the cause of death; blunt force trauma. Not 7 physician who did that, Your Honor,
8 only just of the hemorthage itself, which could be 8 THE COURT: ButIagree that we are bound to
9 related to moyamoya disease, but it's the sepsis swelling 9 what was presented and what we knew,
10 of the brain to the point where it actually goes down the 10 Anything else from the State?
11 spinal column, That's one point, 11 MR, STEPHENS: Your Honor, I think I have
12 What I also note, Your Honor, is immediately 12 addressed everything, unless there is anything
13 after the defendant whacks her in the head with a vacuum, 13 specifically you would like me to address.
14 she begins to start having this untucid conversation with 14 THE COURT: Idon't have any other questions at
15 people. She can't communicate clearly. I think that is 15  this time. Let me return for rebuttal.
16  great evidence; that they actually cause the brain injury 16 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Thank you. If we're going to
17 cause is the defendant's actions. This isn't a moyamoya 17 go to evidence outside of the tecord, this isn't a
18  disease just happening, 18  situation where somebody just got - that it was just
19 Because, agam, then you gotta go to the point 19 dumb luck. Ms. McFarlane had preexisting medical
20 where, literally, if I'm sitting here arguing and my 20 problems. She had been to UMC in April of 2011. They
21 blood pressurc might be rising, that might knock me dead. |21 could not make a final diagnosis. They knew there was
22 But if someone comes up here as 'm arguing and my blood 122 something wrong with her and they told her, If you don't
23 pressure would be rising and someone shoots me in the 23 follow up on this and get further treatment you could
24 head, that means we presented to the grand jury then that 24 die. :
25 T have high blood pressure at that exact moment that T 25 Tmean this isn't a situation where this woman

24
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1 was in perfect health and only Anthony Mayo could have 1 not present it,
2 caused her fo die. She had preexisting medical 2 And I would direct the Court's attention to the
3 conditions that existed even before the altercation on 3 Qstman case. That was a case where conviction was
4 August §th of 2012. 4 reversed because the defendant's statement to the police,
5 THE COURT: Well, we have a doctor who 5 which was exculpatory, was not presented to the grand
6 specitically -- and I get your part of the argument is 6 jury.
7 that this sort of, I'll call it bolstering, of the 7 Now, certainly the State in that case said,
8 evidence by a doctor saying I thoroughly reviewed 8 Well, Judge, we listened to the statement; didn't sound
9 everything and I didn't see anything else, could be 9 credible to me, didn't sound credible to us, so we didu't
10 problematic if there was something obviously that was 10 presentit. That argument didn't hold in Ostman. That
11 another case. 11 argument didn't hold in Skeriff versus Frank. In Sheriff
12 But this doctor has testified in a way that 12 versus Frank the same problem where the State decided
13 makes it sound as if they did look at afl of that. They 13 they weren't going to present evidence that the victims
14 saw the suggestion of moyamoya. They saw the other 14 had made false accusations against someone else.
15 thing, but felt that in the totality of the 15 Well, why not just come into court and say,
16 circumstances, my words not necessarily theirs, but in 16 Woell, we heard those accusations. They didn't sound
17  those circumstances that the only cause was the frauma. 17 credible to us. We didn't believe them, so we didn't
18 So don't we have a doctor sort of eliminating there being 18  tell the grand jury about them. That argument did not
19 any other cause. 19 {fly in Frank either.
20 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Well, first of all, Dr. Greco | 20 What the State is doing here is they are taking
21  didn't eliminate anything, She eliminated moyamoya, but |21 the grand jury's function onto themselves, and he is
22 what she says i her report is that it looks like 22  deciding for himself of what is worthy of presenting to
23 atherosclerosis. That's another medical condition that 23 the grand jury and what's not. The statute directs him
24 could have caused death in the exact same manner that 24 otherwise. The statute tells him if you've got evidence
25 this woman died. 25 that would tend to explain away the charge, and that's
27 29
1 Dr, Greco doesn't say that it had to have been 1 important; tendency to explain away the charge. That is
2 Anthony Mayo. She says, Well, it's not moyamoya, but it 2 how exculpatory evidence is defined in Nevada law. A
3 Jooks like atherosclerosis to me. That is another 3 tendency to explain away the charge.
4 medical condition that could have caused these exact same | 4 Because it couldn't possibly be the case where
5 injuries that she died from.. 5 the only evidence that's exculpatory is evidence that I
6 But my point is, Your Honor, that it is up to 6 can prove by some amorphous standard that is suddenly put
7 the grand jury to make the decision that Mr. Stephens 7 on the defense. I have to prove that that caused her
8 wants Dr. Greco to be able to make. Itisup to the 8 death in order for it to be exculpatory. That's not how
9 grand jury to make that decision. He doesn't get to 9 it works. Ifit was we wouldn't need the statute,
10 decide and have the doctor come in and say, Well, she's 10 Because if there was evidence out there that conclusively
41 already screened all of these other possible theories and 11 established this man's innocence, Mr. Stephens couldn't
12 she's decided that it was Anthony Mayo, and so the grand {12 take the case to the grand jury in the first place. He's
13 jury doesn't get to hear all this other evidence. 13 not allowed to prosecute a case where there's no proof
14 The grand jury decides whether or not there is 14 beyond a reasonable doubt. '
15 any weight to be given to these other possible causes of 15 Exculpatory evidence can't mean evidence that
16 death. Dr. Greco, if she had reviewed these records and 16  definitively proves innocence. It can't mean that. It
17 if she had seen this statement from the radiologist that 17 means evidence that has a tendency to explain away the
18 decided it wasn't worth mentioning, that was improper. 18 charge.
19 It was up to her to tell the grand jury there's 19 And this suggestion made by the radiologist
20 an indication or a suggestion of this other disease and 20 suggesting a medical condition that is a reasonable
21 cxplain to the grand jury what it is and give her opinion 21 alternatc theory of her death is absolutely evidence and
22  why she doesn't think it's the case. But to completely 22 has atendency to explain away the charge. He doesn't
23 withhold it from the grand jury’s purview is a violation 23 get to withhold it because his doctor didn't think it was
24 ofthe statute. They are not allowed to decide that 24  worth presenting,
25 25 THE COURT: This is what the Court is going to

exculpatory cvidence isn't exculpatory on their own and
: 28
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MS. FELICIANO: Thank you. ]

1 do. Thave a few additional cases, a fow things that 1
2 have been cited here today that [ want to look at. Butl 2 MR. STEPHENS: 1 will try to make it, otherwise
3 am not going to just take this under advisement and then 3 I will leave it with the track deputy. I'll be assigned
4 have it go into the potential black hole and never coming 4 to domestic violence court that day.
5 back. This Court has taken far too long again to 5 THE COURT: Would you rather have it be on a
6 prioritize the other matter. And [ had an inclination 6 Wednesday?
7 coming in here today where I thought this might go but I 7 MR. STEPHENS: I'm okay with Monday. Someone
8 wanted to hear argument, [ appreciate that I've heard 8 else can handle it. It's just the decision by the Court.
9 ' argument today and 1t has helped fine-tune the analysis, 9 THE COURT: Right. It's just the decision by
10 and [ have a few cases that [ want to ook at. 10 the Court. So it will be on Monday at 10:30, We'll
11 What I am going to do, I'm sorry to 11 create a special session; is that ckay?
12 ingonvenience counsel, is to invite everybody back on 12 MS. FELICIANQO: Yes, Your Honor, that's
43  Wednesday for my final determination on all matters that 13 perfectly fine. Iappreciate the Court's accommodation.
14  are pending before the Court with regard to Mr. Mayo. 14 The only one other issue is that T had filed a motion for
15 It is my intention to make a fizll determination 15 OR
16 at that time, It is not my inclination to take any 16 THE COURT: Yes.
17 additional argument at that time. I think we have 17 MS. FELICIANO; May we trail that until Monday.
18 covered everything that we need to between the briefings, 18  As I noted in the OR motion, it goes in conjunction with
19  which were very thorough, again, always appreciate it, 19 Your Honor's decision regarding this issue.
20 and the arguments here today. But I will give a 20 THE COURT: My mnchnation was to wait until
21 definitive decision on that. 21  this matter was resolved before we address that. So we
22 I don't know that Mr. Mayo needs to be present 22 will also move the motion for OR release over to Monday
23 unless he wishes to be. don't want there to be an 23 aswell.
24 issue of him having to be stuck down here and not getting 24 MS, FELICTANOQ: Thank you so much.
25 back or having to be brought back again or whatnot. Sol 25 MR. STEPHENS: Thank you, Your Honor,
A 33
1 guess | will ieave that up to his determination. But 1 THE CLERK: March 30that 10:30 2.m,
2 right now he would be scheduled to be. 2 MR, SILVERSTEIN: Thank you, Your Honor.
3 MS. FELICIANO: 1would ask that he be present 3 (Proceedings were concluded.)
4 in court and I believe that he would like to be here for 4 '
5 it 5
6 THE COURT: I think they would take him back and | 8
7 then bring him back. 7
8 MS. FELICIANO: Maybe set a special setting for 8
9 this, Your Honor. Thatmight be appropriate. I don't 9
10 know if you want to do this during your calendar or if we 10
11 can set a time. 11
12 My only issue is that I have an argument in 12
13 court of appeals that affernoon. 13
14 THE COURT: Oh, and I just realized something 14
15 else that would be very difficult for me to have thaton 15
16 Wednesday's calendar this week. 16
17 MR. SILVERSTEIN: Maybe Friday, if that's 17
18 helpful 18
19 THE COURT: I would have to make a special 19
20 setting to do it on Friday because we don't have calendar 20
21 otherwise on Friday. Anything is possible. Oh, we have 21
22 another hearing. Better option, honestly, would be 22
23 Monday. Icould offset it at a certain time. Again, I 23
24 am not anticipating additional argument. I would lean 24
25 towards Monday and putting it at 10:30. 25
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA; MONDAY, MARCH 30, 2015

PROCEEDTINGS

LA A 1

THE COURT: Page 13, State of Nevada vs. Anthony
Mavo,

MR. STEPHENS: Rob Stephens for the State.

MS. FELICIANO: Amy Felicianc and Dan
Silverstein for Mr. Mayo, who's present in custody.

THE COURT: I see that Mr. Mayo is present i
custody.

Wnat was on the calendar, cbviously, previously was
the petition for writ of habeas corpus, inclusive of the
addendum to that petition. The Court already took
argument with regard tec the procedural aspect of whether
or not that should be considered untimely or not. We
dealt with that, indicating, no, we do not balive it was
untimely. We would take that addendum as being a
supplement to the original petition. We've heard argument
fully on all of those matters.

What ié also on calendar today is the Defendant's
motion for OR release, which was filed on March 11th. And
we see that and no oppesition.

Befofe I proceed with my determinatipn fhat I

continued the matter over today so I could review all of
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the case law, review all the pleadings again and really
try to digest it all and come up with what I think is the
appropriate decision, does either counsel have anything
they would like to add.

Ms. Feliciano or Mr Silverstein.

MS FELICIANO: We'd submit it on our written
documents and the arguments already presented before this
Court.

THE CQURT: Thank you.

MR. STEPHENS: The State, similarly, your
Honor.

THE COURT: All right.

I'm going to address this sort of then in reverse
order. Obwviously, I'm going to be -- address it and
argued last time, because we still have the outstanding
matter of the original petition, and then we have the
addendum,

I will tell you at this time it is the Court's
determination, after a great deal of thought and review,
to deny the petition in its entirety.

I'm going to go through and state my bases for why I
am denying the petition, and then we'll address the motion
for the bR release.

The original petition, obviously, spoke to a number

of issues. I want to make sure I get to my notes, so I
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don't talk off the cuff and then miss or forget to address

something.

Before the addendum was filed, there was a number of
factors, a number of arguments that were made as to why
the Court should grant the petition for habeas corpus
pretrial. The arguments being the State did not provide
specific information requested by the Defendant regarding
the fact that the victim's sister had been taken off of
life support over the holidays and her organs were
donated.

also the language with regard to vacuum there would
be -- not sufficlient for the defense on the charges
against him,

Third argument being, according to the case law,
there was a weakness in the chain of custody with regard
to Brady {sic) of the alleged victim in this case. There
was some argument -- fourth argument with regard to prior

bad acts evidence which should have been admissible -- or

which would have been admissible to show the Defendant's

state of mind, but whether that should have been admitted
and whether that was 1lnappropriate in the circumstances.
and finally, whether the State had provided, at
least, slight or marginal evidence for probable cause
determination as to the battery constituting domestic

violence, strangulation. Coercion, preventing or
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